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2. Corporate Structure 
 

2.1 State the full corporate name of the Issuer or, if the Issuer is an unincorporated entity, the full 
name under which the entity exists and carries on business and the address(es) of the Issuer's 
head and registered office. 

 
• Corporate Name: HMZ Metals Inc. 
• Address: 500 – 2 Toronto Street, Toronto, ON M5C 2B6 

 
 
2.2 State the statute under which the Issuer is incorporated or continued or organized or, if the 

Issuer is an unincorporated entity, the laws of the jurisdiction or foreign jurisdiction under which 
the Issuer is established and exists.  If material, state whether the articles or other constating or 
establishing documents of the Issuer have been amended and describe the substance of the 
material amendments. 

 
• HMZ was incorporated under the CBCA on July 22, 2002 

 
 
2.3 Describe, by way of a diagram or otherwise, the intercorporate relationships among the Issuer 

and the Issuer's subsidiaries.  For each subsidiary state  
 

(a) the percentage of votes attaching to all voting securities of the subsidiary represented by 
voting securities beneficially owned, or over which control or direction is exercised, by the 
Issuer;  

 
(b) the place of incorporation or continuance; and 

 
(c) the percentage of each class of restricted shares beneficially owned, or over which 

control or direction is exercised, by the Issuer. 
 

 

 
HMZ METALS INC. 

Biogan (BVI) International Inc. 
(100%) 

Guangxi Guanghe Metals Co. Ltd. 
(92%) 

 
2.4 If the issuer is requalifying following a fundamental change or is proposing an acquisition, 

amalgamation, merger, reorganization or arrangement, describe by way of diagram or 
otherwise these intercorporate relationships both before and after the completion of the 
proposed transaction.. 

 
• This section is not applicable to the Issuer. 
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2.5 Non-corporate Issuers and Issuers incorporated outside of Canada must describe how their 
governing legislation or constating documents differ materially from Canadian corporate 
legislation with respect to the corporate governance principles set out in Policy 4. 

 
• This section is not applicable to the Issuer. 

 
 
3. General Development of the Business 
 
3.1 Describe the general development of the Issuer's business over its three most recently 

completed financial years and any subsequent period.  Include only major events or conditions 
that have influenced the general development of the Issuer's business.  If the business consists 
of the production or distribution of more than one product or the rendering of more than one 
kind of service, describe the principal products or services.  Also discuss changes in the 
business of the Issuer that are expected to occur during the current financial year of the Issuer. 

 
Loss of Control of Joint Venture Assets 
 
In November 2005 the Company determined that it no longer had control over Guangxi Guanghe Metals 
Co. Ltd. (“GGM” or the “joint venture”) as Hechi Industrial Co. Ltd. (“Hechi” or “the Company’s joint 
venture partner”) had failed to; transfer funds that had been earned by the joint venture in accordance 
with the Cooperative Joint Venture Contract (“the joint venture agreement”), provide monthly operating 
reports for joint venture assets, provide evidence of compliance with local laws and regulations pertaining 
to the lawful operation of the assets and enact management, operational and financial protocols 
mandated by Company and its representatives.  
 
As such the Company ceased consolidating results and recorded its investment at cost effective January 
1, 2005. Comparative results as at December 31, 2004 and for the year ended December 31, 2004 have 
not been restated. For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005 due to the uncertainty of recovering such 
amounts, the investment in GGM owned through Biogan BVI International Inc. (“Biogan BVI”) (amounting 
to $12,856,244) was written down to $1.00 pending a resolution of the dispute.  
 
The Company has not yet taken steps to dissolve the joint venture and is involved in arbitration 
proceedings with its joint venture partner. The Company believes that it is unlikely that the Chinese 
partner will seek, or is able to seek, any further funds from the Company. No claims have been made to 
date. 
 
 
General Development of the Business  
 
As described above the Company determined that it no longer had control over the joint venture and as 
such took the decision to write down the value of its joint venture assets to $1.00 pending the resolution 
of its dispute with its Chinese joint venture partner. Prior to this decision the Company acquired the 
Chinese assets of Biogan International Inc. and qualified for a listing on the Toronto Stock Exchange 
(“TSX”). Under an initial public offering of Units of the Company the Company raised $15.6 million and 
began trading on the TSX under the stock symbol: “HMZ” on April 6, 2005. 
 
Pursuant to the failure to transfer funds that had been earned by the joint venture in accordance with the 
Cooperative Joint Venture Contract (“the joint venture agreement”), discussions with Hechi culminated in 
the signing of a Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) In January 2006. 
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During the period September 2005 through January 2006 Hechi worked cooperatively and in an 
apparently forthright manner with the Company towards a resolution of the failure to transfer funds that 
had been earned by the joint venture in accordance with the joint venture contract. In light of the 
foregoing the Company released its interim financial statements for the period ended September 30, 
2005.    
 
The Company and its consultants had been of the opinion that they had been engaged in good faith 
discussions with its Chinese Joint Venture partner. As apparently good faith discussions were abandoned 
by the joint venture partner in late February 2006 the Company redirected its efforts towards forcing a 
solution under the Cooperative Joint Venture Contract.  
 
On May 16, 2006 Mr. Gilles Laverdiere resigned from his position of Chief Executive Officer and Director 
of the Company in favor of Mr. Kerry Damon Smith, formerly Chief Operating Officer and Director. 
Notwithstanding the forgoing and despite every effort by Mr. Smith and the Company, agreement with 
Hechi on outstanding issues remained unresolved.  
 
During the course of these discussions the joint venture partner refused to allow the joint venture’s third 
party independent accountant access to joint venture books and records which refusal made it impossible 
for the Company to prepare audited annual financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2005 
which in turn lead to management applying for a Management Cease Trade Order (“MCTO”) which order 
remains in effect as of the date hereof.   
 
During 2006 the Company raised gross proceeds of $1,085,000 under two non-brokered private 
placements. Proceeds of the financings were used to fund general working capital requirements and 
various initiatives in China.    
 
In 2007 the Company retained a Chinese consulting group resident in the province of the Companys’ 
Chinese joint venture operations in order to assert the Company’s rights over joint venture assets and 
associated cash flow. As a parallel initiative the Company began the process of searching out new 
business opportunities and new business partners in China.  
 
As of the date hereof, the Company’s case is before the Chinese Arbitration Tribunal and the Company 
has commenced an action against Hechi in the People’s High Court, Guangxi, China. Business 
development initiatives are on-going and the Company is engaged in due diligence reviews of a number 
of projects in China.  
 
During 2007 the Company raised gross proceeds of $1,095,000 under non-brokered private placements 
and received loans of $27,000 from directors which have been repaid. Proceeds of the financings were 
used to fund general working capital requirements and various initiatives in China. 
 
 
Significant Acquisitions 
 
The Company acquired the assets of Biogan International Inc. pursuant to an initial public offering of 
Units of the Company and listing on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) Under the initial public offering 
HMZ raised $15.6 million and began trading on the TSX under the stock symbol: “HMZ” on April 6, 2005. 
 
The key asset acquired pursuant to the initial public offering was Biogan (BVI) International Inc. (“Biogan”) 
and its 92% equity interest and 95% profits interest in the Guangxi Guanghe Metals Co. Ltd. cooperative 
joint venture (“GGM” or the “joint venture”). 
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The assets of the joint venture include a 9% interest in Guange Guanche Mining Co. Ltd. whose sole 
asset is a base metals mine, together with the operating assets of a copper smelter and base metals mill, 
all of which are located in Guanxi Province, China.  
 
In November 2005 the Company determined that it no longer had control over Guangxi Guanghe Metals 
Co. Ltd. (“GGM” or the “joint venture”) as the Company’s joint venture partner had failed to; transfer funds 
that had been earned by the joint venture in accordance with the Cooperative Joint Venture Contract (“the 
joint venture agreement”), provide monthly operating reports for joint venture assets, provide evidence of 
compliance with local laws and regulations pertaining to the lawful operation of the assets and enact 
management, operational and financial protocols mandated by Company and its representatives.  
 
As such the Company ceased consolidating results and recorded its investment at cost effective January 
1, 2005. Comparative results as at December 31, 2004 and for the year ended December 31, 2003 have 
not been restated. For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005 due to the uncertainty of recovering such 
amounts, the investment in GGM owned through Biogan BVI International Inc. (“Biogan BVI”) (amounting 
to $12,856,244) was written down to $1.00 pending a resolution of the dispute.  
 
The Company has not yet taken steps to dissolve the joint venture and is involved in arbitration 
proceedings with its joint venture partner. The Company believes that it is unlikely that the Chinese 
partner will seek, or is able to seek, any further funds from the Company. No claims have been made to 
date.  
 
Description of the Business 
 
As described above the Company acquired all of the outstanding shares of Biogan BVI, which holds a 92 
percent equity interest in GGM, and as such the Company intended to continue the business of Biogan 
BVI and to assist in the development and expansion of the assets of GGM in order to establish GGM as 
the leading integrated mining and smelting company in Guangxi. Province, PRC. Production was focused 
on blister copper. 
 
As of the date hereof and in light of a long running dispute with the Company’s joint venture partner, the 
Company is involved in legal proceedings and an arbitration action in the PRC. The Company’s business 
strategy has necessarily evolved to focus on a resolution of its current dispute in which the Company is 
seeking a return of invested capital, it’s pro rata share of profits to date and damages in an amount to be 
determined.   
 
As these matters are currently the subject of on-going legal proceedings in the PRC, the Company is 
limited in the detail it can provide at this time. However, it is anticipated that court proceedings and 
arbitration proceedings will be completed within the first half of 2008 and there is the potential that the 
arbitration process may be superseded by the court proceedings.   
 
The longer-term strategy of the Company is to proceed with additional new metals and metal processing 
projects. Over the past two years the Company has built a network which includes representatives in 
government, military, legal and business sectors. The Company believes it will soon be well positioned to 
embark on a number of new projects in conjunction with new partners and anticipates that the 
introduction of modern mining technologies and environmentally responsible development methodologies 
will provide it with a substantial competitive advantage. 
 
 
 
3.2 Disclose: 
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(1) (a) any significant acquisition completed by the Issuer or any  significant probable 
acquisition proposed by the Issuer, for which financial statements would be 
required under Part 6 or 7 of OSC Rule 41-501 if this Listing Statement were a 
prospectus; and 

 
(b) any significant disposition completed by the Issuer during the most recently 

completed financial year or the current financial year for which pro forma financial 
statements would be required under Part 8 of OSC Rule 41-501 if this Listing 
Statement were a prospectus.  

 
(2)  Under paragraph (1) include particulars of 

 
(a) the nature of the assets acquired or disposed of or to be acquired or disposed of; 

 
(b) the actual or proposed date of each significant acquisition or significant disposition; 

 
(c) the consideration, both monetary and non-monetary paid, or to be paid, to or by the 

Issuer; 
 

(d) any material obligations that must be complied with to keep any significant 
acquisition or significant disposition agreement in good standing; 

 
(e) the effect of the significant acquisition or significant disposition on the operating 

results and financial position of the Issuer; 
 

(f) any valuation opinion obtained within the last 12 months required under Canadian 
securities legislation or Canadian securities directives of a Canadian securities 
regulatory authority or a requirement of a Canadian stock exchange or other 
Canadian market to support the value of the consideration received or paid by the 
Issuer or any of its subsidiaries for the assets, including the name of the author, the 
date of the opinion, the assets to which the opinion relates and the value attributed 
to the assets; and 

 
(g) whether the transaction is with a Related Party of the Issuer and if so, disclose the 

identity of the other parties and the relationship of the other parties to the Issuer. 
 
3.3 Discuss any trend, commitment, event or uncertainty that is both presently known to 

management and reasonably expected to have a material effect on the Issuer's business, 
financial condition or results of operations, providing forward-looking information based on the 
Issuer's expectations as of the date of the Listing Statement. 

 
Loss of Control of Joint Venture Assets 
 
In November 2005 the Company determined that it no longer had control over Guangxi Guanghe Metals 
Co. Ltd. (“GGM” or the “joint venture”) as Hechi Industrial Co. Ltd. (“Hechi” or “the Company’s joint 
venture partner”) had failed to; transfer funds that had been earned by the joint venture in accordance 
with the Cooperative Joint Venture Contract (“the joint venture agreement”), provide monthly operating 
reports for joint venture assets, provide evidence of compliance with local laws and regulations pertaining 
to the lawful operation of the assets and enact management, operational and financial protocols 
mandated by Company and its representatives.  
 



 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

September 17, 2004 
Page 8 

As such the Company ceased consolidating results and recorded its investment at cost effective January 
1, 2005. Comparative results as at December 31, 2004 and for the year ended December 31, 2004 have 
not been restated. For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005 due to the uncertainty of recovering such 
amounts, the investment in GGM owned through Biogan BVI International Inc. (“Biogan BVI”) (amounting 
to $12,856,244) was written down to $1.00 pending a resolution of the dispute.  
 
The Company has not yet taken steps to dissolve the joint venture and is involved in arbitration 
proceedings with its joint venture partner. The Company believes that it is unlikely that the Chinese 
partner will seek, or is able to seek, any further funds from the Company. No claims have been made to 
date. 
  
Change in reporting currency 
 
Effective January 1, 2005, the company changed its reporting currency to the Canadian  
dollar. The change is to better reflect the company’s business activities. As a majority of the company’s 
transactions are in Canadian dollars the change is to better reflect the Company’s business and to 
improve investors” abilities to compare results with other publicly traded companies in the mining industry.  
 
 The related financial statements and corresponding notes prior to December 31, 2005 have been 
restated to the Canadian dollar for comparison to the 2005 financial results. In making this change, the 
Company has followed recommendations of the Emerging Issues Committee of the Canadian Institute of 
Chartered Accountants, set out in EIC-130, Translation Method when “The Reporting Currency Differs 
From The Measurement Currency or There is a Change in The Reporting Currency”. 
 
 
4 Narrative Description of the Business 
 
4.1 General  
 

(1) Describe the business of the Issuer with reference to the reportable operating segments 
as defined in the Handbook and the Issuer's business in general.  Include the following 
for each reportable operating segment of the Issuer: 

 
(a) State the business objectives that the Issuer expects to accomplish in the 

forthcoming 12-month period. 
 
(b) Describe each significant event or milestone that must occur for the business 

objectives in (a) to be accomplished and state the specific time period in which 
each event is expected to occur and the costs related to each event. 

 
(c) Disclose the total funds available to the Issuer and the following breakdown of 

those funds: 
 

(i) the estimated consolidated working capital (deficiency) as of the most recent 
month end prior to filing the Listing Statement; and 

 
(ii) the total other funds, and the sources of such funds, available to be used to 

achieve the objectives and milestones set out in paragraphs (a) and (b). 
 

(d) Describe in reasonable detail and, if appropriate, using tabular form, each of the 
principal purposes, with approximate amounts, for which the funds available 
described under the preceding paragraph will be used by the Issuer. 
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(e) For principal products or services, 

 
(i) the methods of their distribution and their principal markets; 

 
(ii) as dollar amounts or as percentages, for each of the two most recently 

completed financial years, the revenues for each category of principal 
products or services that accounted for 15 per cent or more of total 
consolidated revenues for the applicable financial year derived from 

 
(A) sales to customers, other than investees, outside the consolidated 

entity,  
 

(B) sales or transfers to investees; and 
 

(C) sales or transfers to controlling shareholders; and 
 

(iii) if not fully developed, the stage of development of the principal products or 
services and, if the products are not at the commercial production stage, 

 
(A) the timing and stage of research and development programs, 

 
(B) the major components of the proposed programs, including an 

estimate of anticipated costs, 
 

(C) whether the Issuer is conducting its own research and development, is 
subcontracting out the research and development or is using a 
combination of those methods, and 

 
(D) the additional steps required to reach commercial production and an 

estimate of costs and timing. 
 

(f) Concerning production and sales 
 

(i) the actual or proposed method of production of products and if the Issuer 
provides services, the actual or proposed method of providing services; 

 
(ii) the payment terms, expiration dates and terms of any renewal options of any 

material leases or mortgages, whether they are in good standing and, if 
applicable, that the landlord or mortgagee is a Related Person of the Issuer; 

 
(iii) specialized skill and knowledge requirements and the extent that the skill and 

knowledge are available to the Issuer; 
 

(iv) the sources, pricing and availability of raw materials, component parts or 
finished products; 

 
(v) the importance, duration and effect on the segment of identifiable intangible 

properties such as brand names, circulation lists, copyrights, franchises, 
licences, patents, software, subscription lists and trademarks; 

 
(vi) the extent to which the business of the segment is cyclical or seasonal; 
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(vii) a description of any aspect of the Issuer's business that may be affected in 

the 12 months following the date of the Listing Statement by renegotiation or 
termination of contracts or sub-contracts and the likely effect; 

 
(viii) the financial and operational effects of environmental protection requirements 

on the capital expenditures, earnings and competitive position of the Issuer in 
the current financial year and the expected effect, on future years; 

 
(ix) the number of employees, as at the most recent financial year end or as an 

average over that year, whichever is more relevant; and 
 

(x) any risks associated with foreign operations of the Issuer and any 
dependence of the segments upon the foreign operations. 

 
(g) The competitive conditions in the principal markets and geographic areas in which 

the Issuer operates, including, if reasonably possible, an assessment of the 
Issuer's competitive position. 

 
(h) With respect to lending operations of an Issuer's business, the investment policies 

and lending and investment restrictions. 
 

(2) Disclose the nature and results of any bankruptcy, or any receivership or similar 
proceedings against the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries or any voluntary bankruptcy, 
receivership or similar proceedings by the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries, within the 
three most recently completed financial years or the current financial year. 

 
(3) Disclose the nature and results of any material reorganization of the Issuer or any of its 

subsidiaries within the three most recently completed financial years or the current 
financial year. 

 
4.1(a) 
 
HMZ Metals business is involved in mining and smelting in China.  It is involved in a Joint Venture 
(Guangxi Guanghe Metals “GGM”) with Hechi Industrial (a Chinese Company).  HMZ has a 92% equity 
interest and a 95% profit interest in this joint venture.  The assets of GGM include a 9% interest in 
Gaofeng Mining which is a base metals mine; a 100% interest in a Copper smelter and a 100% interest in 
a small milling operation called Wuxu. 
 
The Company is currently involved in a legal dispute with its partner as to the ownership of assets, cash 
flow and profits derived therefrom. Please refer to the Management Discussion and Analyses attached in 
Appendix “A” for a detailed summary. Management is optimistic of achieving a favourable ruling this year.  
 
The Company expects to continue the management of its production facilities in China after the 
completion of the legal proceedings. The Company will also continue to capitalize on its expertise and 
connections within China and Southeast Asia in order to grow the company in mining exploration and 
mining production facilities. We have targeted several key operating personnel for the growth of the 
Company in this area. 
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4.1(b) 
 
The significant milestone is the court case in Guangxi and the arbitration case in Beijing.  HMZ expects a 
favourable ruling this year on both of these legal actions. A resumption of management control over these 
assets should then resume.  
 
In addition, the company will commence the next stage of the due diligence on projects which are at or 
near the Letter of Intent stage. These projects include an operating copper-molybdenum mine and a 
series of base metal tailings deposits. The next phase is estimated to cost $100,000 and should occur 
over a six month period.  If a positive decision is made then these projects would move to the next phase 
of due diligence. 
 
4.1 (c)   

 
HMZ has a current cash position of $100,000. Working capital requirements will be met through equity 
and / or debt financings.  
 
 
4.1 (d)  

 
This section is not applicable to the Issuer as legal proceedings are ongoing and currently, the Company 
does not have access to Joint Venture cash and cash flow. 
 
4.1 (e) 
 

• This section is not applicable to the Issuer 
 
4.2  
 
For issuers with asset backed securities outstanding provide the disclosure required by items 6.2 and 
10.3 of OSC Form 41-501F1 as if the securities were or were being distributed under a prospectus. 
 

• This section is not applicable to the Issuer. 
 
 
4.3 For Issuers with a mineral project, disclose the following information for each property material 

to the Issuer: 
 

(1) Property Description and Location  
 

(a) The area (in hectares or other appropriate units) and location of the property. 
 

(b) The nature and extent of the Issuer's title to or interest in the property, including 
surface rights, obligations that must be met to retain the property and the expiration 
date of claims, licences and other property tenure rights. 

 
(c) The terms of any royalties, overrides, back-in rights, payments or other agreements 

and encumbrances to which the property is subject. 
 

(d) All environmental liabilities to which the property is subject. 
 



 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

September 17, 2004 
Page 12 

(e) The location of all known mineralized zones, mineral resources, mineral reserves 
and mine workings, existing tailings ponds, waste deposits and important natural 
features and improvements. 

 
(f) To the extent known, the permits that must be acquired to conduct the work 

proposed for the property and whether permits have been obtained. 
 

(2) Accessibility, Climate, Local Resources, Infrastructure and Physiography 
 

(a) The means of access to the property. 
 

(b) The proximity of the property to a population centre and the nature of transport. 
 
 

(c) To the extent relevant to the mining project, the climate and length of the operating 
season. 

 
(d) The sufficiency of surface rights for mining operations, the  availability and sources 

of power, water, mining personnel, potential tailings storage areas, potential waste 
disposal areas, heap leach pads areas and potential processing plant sites. 

 
(e) The topography, elevation and vegetation. 

 
(3) History 

 
(a) The prior ownership  of the property and ownership changes and the type, amount, 

quantity and results of the exploration work undertaken by previous owners,  and 
any previous production on the property, to the extent known. 

 
(b) If a property was acquired within the three most recently completed financial years 

of the Issuer or during its current financial year from, or is intended to be acquired 
by the Issuer from, an insider or promoter of the Issuer or an associate or affiliate 
of an insider or promoter, the name and address of the vendor, the relationship of 
the vendor to the Issuer, and the consideration paid or intended to be paid to the 
vendor. 

 
(c) To the extent known, the name of every person or company that has received or is 

expected to receive a greater than five per cent interest in the consideration 
received or to be received by the vendor referred to in subparagraph (b). 

 
(4) Geological Setting — The regional, local and property geology. 

 
(5) Exploration Information — The nature and extent of all exploration work conducted by, or 

on behalf of, the Issuer on the property, including 
 

(a) the results of all surveys and investigations and the procedures and parameters 
relating to surveys and investigations; 

 
(b) an interpretation of the exploration information; 

 
(c) whether the surveys and investigations have been carried out by the Issuer or a 

contractor and if by a contractor, identifying the contractor; and 
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(d) a discussion of the reliability or uncertainty of the data obtained in the program. 

 
(6) Mineralization — The mineralization encountered on the property, the surrounding rock 

types and relevant geological controls, detailing length, width, depth and continuity 
together with a description of the type, character and distribution of the mineralization. 

 
(7) Drilling — The type and extent of drilling including the procedures followed and an 

interpretation of all results. 
 

(8) Sampling and Analysis — The sampling and assaying including  
 

(a) a description of sampling methods and the location, number, type, nature, spacing 
and density of samples collected; 

 
(b) identification of any drilling, sampling or recovery factors that could materially 

impact the accuracy or reliability of the results; 
 

(c) a discussion of sample quality and whether the samples are representative of any 
factors that may have resulted in sample biases;  

 
(d) rock types, geological controls, widths of mineralized zones, cut-off grades and 

other parameters used to establish the sampling interval; and 
 

(e) quality control measures and data verification procedures. 
 

(9) Security of Samples — The measures taken to ensure the validity and integrity of 
samples taken. 

 
(10) Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves — The mineral resources and mineral 

reserves, if any, including 
 

(a) the quantity and grade or quality of each category of mineral resources and mineral 
reserves; 

 
(b) the key assumptions, parameters and methods used to estimate the mineral 

resources and mineral reserves; and 
 

(c) the extent to which the estimate of mineral resources and mineral reserves may be 
materially affected by metallurgical, environmental, permitting, legal, title, taxation, 
socio-economic, marketing, political and other relevant issues. 

 
(11) Mining Operations — For development properties and production properties, the mining 

method, metallurgical process, production forecast, markets, contracts for sale of 
products, environmental conditions, taxes, mine life and expected payback period of 
capital. 

 
(12) Exploration and Development — A description of the Issuer's current and contemplated 

exploration or development activities, to the extent they are material. 
 

• Please refer to the Prospectus Summary of National Instrument #43-101 report below.  
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DESCRIPTION OF MINERAL PROPERTIES 

Micon Technical Report – excerpt from Prospectus dated March 24, 2005  

Micon prepared the Micon Report on the Chinese mining, smelting and processing assets of Biogan.  The 
Micon Report is based on site visits by Micon in February-March 2002 and June 2002.  Certain of the 
following information relating to Biogan is derived from the Micon Report. Such information has been 
included herein with the prior consent and review of Micon.  Micon is located in Toronto at Suite 900, 390 
Bay Street, Toronto, Ontario  M5H 2Y2.  The Micon Report has been filed on SEDAR with this prospectus 
and is available for inspection in Toronto at the office of the Corporation at 55 York Street, Suite 800, 
Toronto, Ontario  M5J 1R7 during normal business hours while the securities offered under this 
prospectus are in the course of distribution and for a period of 30 days thereafter. The Hechi Assets 
consist of (i) a nine per cent interest in GMC, which owns and operates the Gaofeng mine and ore 
processing facilities; (ii) a 100 per cent interest in the Hechi copper smelter; and (iii) a 100 per cent 
interest in the Wuxu mine and ore processing facilities.  For the purposes of National Instrument 43-101, 
the Gaofeng mine will be a material asset of the Corporation upon completion of the Offering. 

The Gaofeng Mine 

The Gaofeng mine was not operating during the visits of Micon at the Gaofeng mine in 2002.  During the 
first visit of Micon, the Gaofeng mine staff indicated that the Gaofeng mine was not operating due to the 
recently completed Chinese "Spring Festival", the most important Chinese holiday, and many of the 
operating crew had not yet returned to work.  Only a nominal crew was working in the Gaofeng mine 
during the first visit of Micon and they were carrying out care and maintenance functions.  The last official 
day of the holiday was February 27, 2002, however, the Gaofeng mine had not yet achieved full 
production by the time the Micon team left China on March 13, 2002.  During the second visit of Micon, 
the Gaofeng mine was not operating because of safety inspections by central government specialists.  It 
was reported to Micon that these inspections resulted from frequent mining accidents which had occurred 
throughout China at that time.  Biogan reported to Micon that the Gaofeng mine resumed full production 
shortly after the initial visit of Micon in February/March 2002.  During its initial visit at the Gaofeng mine, 
the Micon team was able to travel underground at the Gaofeng mine and see some workplaces, although, 
due to the partial shutdown, very little work was actually taking place.  As a result, a full review of 
operating methods and equipment could not be conducted by Micon.  However, the Micon team was able 
to collect some operating information from the mine management staff, both during its visits in 
February/March 2002 and in June 2002 and on return to Canada. 

GMC owns and operates the Gaofeng polymetallic mine and ore processing facility, located near the city 
of Hechi, in Guangxi Zhuang Province, China. 

 

Property Description and Location 

The Gaofeng mine is located near the town of Dachang, approximately 85 kilometres northwest of the city 
of Hechi, in Guangxi Zhuang Province, China (see Figure 1, "Location Map").  The mineral deposit at the 
Gaofeng mine is currently being mined using underground mining methods.  Included within the mining 
complex is an ore processing facility that is dedicated to processing the ore production of the Gaofeng 
mine.  The mining permit for the Gaofeng mine was issued on May 26, 2000, for a period of 17 years, 
expiring in May, 2017.  The mining permit for the Gaofeng mine covers an area of 3.6517 square 
kilometres. 
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Accessibility, Climate, Local Resources, Infrastructure and Physiography 

The Dachang area has good road access by secondary highways.  It is about 80 kilometres from the city 
of Hechi which is on the Guizhou-Guangxi Railway.  There is also a new limited access highway from 
Guizhou Province to Nanning, the capital of Guangxi, which is under construction, and it extends about 
half-way between Dachang and Hechi.   

Dachang is within an area of steep karst hills formed by limestones of Devonian age.  Elevations in the 
immediate area of the Gaofeng mine range from 700 metres above sea level to 960 metres above sea 
level.  In the area there are occasional peaks greater than 1,500 metres above sea level, but elevations 
are usually in the 500 metres to 1,000 metres above sea level range.  The hills trend northwesterly 
parallel to the strike of the underlying rock units.  The hills are cut by deep valleys which creates a rugged 
topography.  There are no perennial surface rivers and temporary rivers and streams only form during 
periods of severe rain.  Water is obtained from wells in the limestone strata.  The area is subtropical and 
humid, with a monsoon climate.  It has long, hot summers, warm, short winters and definite dry and rainy 
seasons.  Temperatures range from 6 degrees to 16 degrees Celsius in January and from 25 degrees to 
29 degrees Celsius in July with an annual average temperature ranging from 16 degrees to 18 degrees 
Celsius.  The average rainfall is between 110 centimetres and 160 centimetres with most (75 per cent) 
falling between April and September.  Frost and freezing conditions only occur for very brief periods at 
higher elevations. 

Dachang is an old mining camp characterized by numerous head frames, mills and tailing ponds.  Most 
people living in the area are involved with one of the large state owned mines or one of the smaller 
operations.  The town of Dachang offers most stores and services required by the mining industry.  Heavy 
industrial services are available at Hechi.  Electric power is available at Dachang. 

History 

Prior to the discovery of the Gaofeng deposit in 1978 by the Guangxi Bureau of Geology ("GBG"), there 
were two small mines operating on the property.  These mines were developed on outcropping veins.  
The Gaofeng deposit does not outcrop.  In 1978, the GBG discovered the Gaofeng deposit. 

In February, 1985, China Nonferrous Mining Company ("CNMC") and GBG set up a joint venture 
("CNMC/GBG") to develop the No. 100 orebody.  In October, 1985, CNMC/GBG began construction of 
the main decline and in January, 1986 construction of the ventilation declines.  There were problems with 
ground water during the construction of the declines.  In March, 1986, GBG prepared a preliminary 
exploration report which outlined a "Class D Reserve" using the old, Soviet-based, Chinese system.  This 
was based on 92 diamond drill holes totaling 67,600 metres.  The "resource" was 7.4 million tonnes with 
average grades of 2.04 per cent tin, 9.7 per cent zinc, 4.48 per cent lead, 4.22 per cent antimony and 
143.9 grams/tonne silver.  This "resource" was replaced by subsequent estimates completed in 1994 by 
GBG on the Gaofeng mine. 

In 1991, the Changsha Mining Institute completed a preliminary feasibility study.  It included a plan for 
using the Bali mill to process the ore from the Gaofeng deposit and a plan to expand the Bali mill to 300 
tonnes per day. 

In 1994, GBG completed a formal mineral resource estimate for all classes of mineral resource for the 
Gaofeng mine.  It was reported as 9.4 million tonnes of 2.2 per cent tin, 10.6 per cent zinc, 5.7 per cent 
lead, 5.0 per cent antimony and 174.7grams/tonne silver for No. 100 orebody and 1.3 million tonnes of 
2.0 per cent tin, 10.1 per cent zinc, 5.8 per cent lead, 5.1 per cent antimony and 180.8 grams/tonne silver 
for other orebodies. 
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GMC completed a "reserve" estimate in 1994 for the Gaofeng mine.  This estimate deals only with 
mineralization below the 540 metre level.  The mine indicated that the ore above this level had been 
mined previously.  This estimate for all classes of "resources" for the No. 100 orebody was 7.4 million 
tonnes of 1.9 per cent tin, 10.7 per cent zinc, 5.6 per cent lead, 5.0 per cent antimony and 144 
grams/tonne silver. 

In 1995, GBG obtained official approval of GBG's "reserve" estimate.  This approval notes reservations 
about this estimate because GBG was having difficulty estimating how much material had been taken 
from the upper levels of the previous mining venture.  

In June, 1996, GMC was established as a limited liability company, the ownership of which was as 
follows: 

Huaxi Group 51 per cent 
Guangxi Province  20 per cent 
Nandan County 20 per cent 
Hechi Commune   9 per cent 

The nine per cent share in GMC held by the Hechi Commune was subsequently acquired by Hechi. 

In 1997, full production, of about 1,000 tonnes per day, began from the Gaofeng mine and additional ore 
was treated at the Changbo mill.  In 2001, production from the Gaofeng mine was 355,832 tonnes of ore.  
In 2001, after fatal mining accidents occurred in a nearby illegal mining operation, operations at the 
Gaofeng mine ceased after a general shutdown order by the central government.  

In 2002, the Bali mill reached a production rate of 1,100 tonnes/day. 

Geological Setting 

The Nandan-Hechi-Dachang tin-polymetallic mining district formed in a continental marginal rift formed, 
during the Devonian, at the southwest margin of the Jhiangnan Massif.  It is a northwest trending, down 
faulted basin controlled by syn-sedimentary structures.  Recent studies suggest the major ore 
deposit/camps of the district basin occur in third-order, deep-water troughs.  Later tectonic stages, 
Indosinian (Late Permian) and Yanshanian (Cretaceous-Jurassic), have folded, deformed and 
metamorphosed the rocks.  They have also been affected by intrusions of Yanshanian granites. 

The Dachang mining camp produces tin with lesser amounts of zinc, lead and copper.  The ore deposits 
are related to specific lithologies and fold-fault structures associated to the Nandan-Hechi anticline.  The 
northeast limb has cassiterite-pyrrhotite vein deposits.  The central zone contains the zinc-copper-tin 
skarns, cassiterite-sulphide deposits and tungsten-bearing stibnite veins.  The southeastern limb hosts 
the Longtoushan cassiterite-lead-antimony sulphosalt deposits and the Gaofeng deposit is a member of 
this group.   

Deposit Types 

Deposits of the Danang mining camp are veins, skarns and stratabound massive sulphide orebodies.  
The deposits can be subdivided on the basis of the metals produced into tin, zinc-copper, tungsten and 
antimony orebodies.  In the southwestern part of the Changpo-Bali and Longtoushan belt, all deposits are 
tin orebodies.  The Longtoushan type deposits, which include the Gaofeng deposit, occur in reef 
limestone and marl of the Middle Devonian Donggangling Formation.  Eleven different sized orebodies 
have been discovered at the top or in the middle of the reef.  The largest is the No. 100 orebody of the 
Gaofeng mine, located in the reef core.  At the Changpo deposit the orebodies have been divided into 
stratiform and vein-like types.  Stratiform orebodies occur at seven stratigraphic levels and all orebodies 
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consist of cassiterite-sulphide ores.  Vein mineralization is divided into: (i)  feeder veins near cassiterite-
rich breccia pipes; (ii)  ladder veins in a single layer of bedded ore; (iii)  fissure veins cutting through 
several stratigraphic units; and (iv)  large penetrative veins cutting many stratigraphic units.   

The different types of veins have been interpreted by some workers as the reworking of the stratiform 
orebodies. 

The Gaofeng mine, No. 100 orebody (see Figure 2 "Gaofeng Mine Property Geology" reproduced below), 
is a stratiform deposit below the Bali and Longtoushan vein deposits.  The No. 100 orebody lies between 
530 metres and minus 79 metres above sea level.  It is a flat-lying, lens-like orebody which does not 
outcrop.  It has been traced 1,200 metres down plunge and the strike length ranges between 60 metres 
and 230 metres.  The vertical thickness of the orebody averages 11.6 metres, ranging from 0.76 metres 
to 116.46 metres.  It dips northeast at angles of 35° to 65°. 
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Mineralization 

The ore contains about 85 per cent ore minerals and 15 per cent gangue minerals.  Ore minerals include 
cassiterite, pyrrhotite, jamesonite, ferroan sphalerite, pyrite, arsenopyrite and marcasite with minor 
amounts of chalcopyrite, tetrahedrite, stannite, and boulangerite.  Gangue minerals are quartz, calcite 
and fluorite, with some free carbon.  Metals recovered from the ore are tin, zinc, lead and antimony, with 
by-product silver, indium, gold, copper, cadmium and bismuth.  There are also trace amounts of selenium, 
tellurium, niobium and tantalum.  The Gaofeng mine produces concentrates of zinc, lead-antimony and 
tin. 

Exploration and Drilling 

It is difficult to establish the line dividing exploration and development in Chinese mining operations.  In 
the opinion of Micon, the 1986 preliminary exploration report by GBG marked the end of the strictly 
exploration phase of the operation.  That report discussed the results of 92 diamond drill holes, totaling 
67,000 metres of drilling and the discovery of seven orebodies, including the No. 100 orebody.  
Subsequent work, which was called exploration and development, has included sinking of one vertical 
and two inclined shafts, development of underground openings and sampling on the 540, 500, 450, 400, 
350, 200, 150, and 50 metre levels.  Prior to designing mining openings sublevels are established on 
about 10-metre intervals between the main levels to establish the location and grade of the orebody. 

The Corporation believes that the last exploration drilling that was carried out was the work done by GBG 
and described in its 1986 preliminary exploration report which reported the results of the 92 diamond drill 
holes totaling 67,000 metres.  Underground drilling was recommended in the 1991 feasibility study but 
none of the diagrams that Micon reviewed showed any underground drill holes.  The practice at the 
Gaofeng mine is to explore by means of underground drifting. 

Sampling Method, Preparation, Analyses and Security 

The Corporation understands that it has been the practice to split drill core and submit one half for 
analysis.  Micon did not view any of the split or unsplit core.  Underground samples are channel samples 
cut with a hammer and chisel over a length of one metre.  Channels were described to Micon by the mine 
staff as 20 centimetres wide and five centimetres deep, however, this procedure was not observed by 
Micon in practice. 

Micon understands that the samples are crushed to less than one centimetre in size and then coned and 
split to about 1.5 kilogram samples.  At the analytical laboratory on site at the Gaofeng mine, the samples 
are pulverized and then split into individual assay samples.  The mill laboratory assays samples for tin, 
antimony, lead and zinc using wet chemical methods.  Micon was informed that sampling operators could 
analyze two samples per hour for four elements.  The laboratory has an atomic absorption unit that is 
used to analyze for indium and silver.  Gold can be analyzed using the atomic absorption unit if 
requested. 

Data Verification 

Micon collected three chip samples from the 50 metre and 150 metre levels.  These were crushed and 
split in Hechi and two kilograms of sampled material was brought to Canada.  Specific gravities were 
determined for each sample and they were then analyzed by XRAL Laboratories in Toronto ("XRAL").  
The remainder of the sample was analyzed at the Gaofeng laboratory of GMC in Dachang.   
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In addition, Micon conducted an analysis of the "resource" and "reserve" estimates undertaken by GMC, 
working with the mineral resource blocks defined in the southern and northern parts of the Gaofeng 
deposit.  See below under "Mineral Resource Estimates".  

Adjacent Properties 

Micon was informed that the No. 100 orebody continues onto the adjacent property where it is known as 
the No. 105 orebody.  The No. 105 orebody is the down-plunge continuation of the No. 100 orebody.  The 
No. 105 orebody was discovered later than the No. 100 orebody and the geological team continued to 
delineate it while the No. 100 orebody was developed.  There are reported to be five drifts and 24 drill 
holes defining this "resource".  The No. 105 orebody is not on the existing mining licence of GMC, 
although in the memorandum establishing GMC, it is stated that the No. 105 orebody should be mined by 
GMC at some point in the future. 

Mineral Resource Estimates 

For the purposes of mineral resource estimation, GMC divided the No. 100 orebody into a southern, 
steeply plunging part and a northern gently plunging part.  For the southern part, assay results obtained 
from mine cross cuts and drill intersections were projected onto a vertical section.  The areas between the 
mine levels (50 metres separations) were divided into polygons and the volumes, tonnages and grades 
estimated for each polygon. 

Areas of roughly rectangular blocks bounded by the levels were converted into volumes using 
thicknesses of mineralization measured on the levels.  A density of 4.41 tonnes per cubic metre was used 
to convert volumes to tonnages.  According to the GMC engineers at the Gaofeng mine, this tonnage 
factor was obtained by averaging more than 100 measurements of drill core and confirmed with a number 
of large samples of approximately one cubic metre collected from underground workings.  The largest, 
most representative sample obtained by Micon from the No. 100 orebody has a specific gravity of 4.36 
which confirms the 4.41 tonnes per cubic metre value.   

GMC used another conventional method to estimate the mineral resource for the northern part of the 
Gaofeng deposit.  In this area, the outline of the mineralization, as defined by drill intersections, was 
projected onto a horizontal plane.  The plane was divided into a series of blocks with 1 to 3 drill 
intersections included in each block.  Micon believes that these blocks were constructed by connecting 
drill intersections with triangles and establishing blocks of roughly similar volumes, however, Micon was 
not able to confirm this belief. 

Micon reviewed the resources established by Gaofeng mine personnel in two steps, working first with the 
blocks from the southern part of the deposit and then with blocks from the northern part of the deposit. 

For the southern part of the deposit, Micon selected three blocks between the 500 metre and 450 metre 
levels.  Micon did not have information on how the Gaofeng mine engineers established the dimensions 
of their blocks.  However, the three blocks were bounded by the edge of the orebody to the east and by a 
granite porphyry dike to the west.  Both features were shown on the level plans.  Micon examined each 
channel sample shown on the level plans for the 450 metre and 500 metre levels to establish the 
boundaries of the orebodies and then measured the area of the massive sulphide on each level.  These 
areas were each projected 25 metres, halfway to the next level, to establish a volume.  Volumes were 
converted to densities using the same tonnage factor, 4.41 tonnes per cubic metre, that the Gaofeng 
mine stated in its figures.  To determine weighted average grades, Micon averaged every channel sample 
collected on each level and then weighted the values by the volume related to that level.  Tonnages for 
Gaofeng mine resource blocks were added to get a number corresponding to the value of Micon.  Grades 
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for the three ore blocks were weighed by the volume of the block and a combined weighted average 
value for the three blocks was obtained. 

Since 1994, GMC has mined several blocks from the southern part of the Gaofeng deposit and reported 
good correlation between milled grades and those predicted from the "resource" estimate.  Micon 
believes the "resource" estimated by GMC is reasonable, based on the available data.  Micon believes 
that this "resource" can be classified as a measured mineral resource using the current CIM classification.  
For the northern part of the Gaofeng deposit the GMC engineers summarized their estimate by projecting 
the polygons on to a horizontal plane.  Each block contains one to three drill intersections stated as 
vertical thicknesses.  Micon notes that these polygons seem to have been established using a triangular 
system. 

Micon reviewed the GMC mineral resource estimate for the northern sector by re-estimating the tonnage 
and grade for four blocks which make up about 35 per cent of the volume/tonnage of the northern part of 
the deposit.  These blocks were selected because they are bounded by the 200 metre level and 300 
metre level contours and by the edges of the orebody.  Micon examined each of the nine sections which 
pass through this part of the Gaofeng deposit.  On each section, Micon reviewed the assay results for 
each drill core sample in the composites used to define the Gaofeng deposit.  In a few cases, Micon 
removed low grade samples and shortened the intercept.  Usually samples were either high grade 
massive sulphide or barren limestone.  Micon was not provided with detailed geological logs for the drill 
holes but suspects that the lower grade samples represent zones which are partially limestone and 
partially massive sulphide, not zones of overall lower grade mineralization. 

Micon then calculated the volumes for selected blocks and converted these volumes to tonnages using 
the tonnage factor used by GMC.  Micon established average grades by averaging each drill hole within 
one of the internal sub-blocks by length and then averaging the value for the blocks by the 
volume/tonnage of the blocks.  The close correlation between the estimates of Micon and the estimates of 
GMC for volumes/tonnages and grades for the selected blocks provided Micon with confidence in the 
GMC estimate of tonnage and grade for the northern part of the orebody.  When Micon visited the 
Gaofeng orebody in March 2002, the team walked along a drift on the 200 metre level from the bottom of 
the vertical shaft to the northeastern corner of the deposit.  The team climbed down inclined winzes and 
ramps and visited the 150 metre, 100 metre and the 50 metre levels.  There is sublevel development 
between all these levels and the current mine production comes from this area.  The samples taken by 
Micon and analyzed by XRAL confirmed the high grade nature of the ore and visual inspection by Micon 
confirmed its continuity on the sublevels. 

Table 1 is a summary of the "resource" as estimated by GMC in 1994.  Micon has reviewed both the 
northern and southern parts of the Gaofeng orebody and its re-estimation of tonnage and grade for blocks 
within both parts of the Gaofeng orebody provides confidence in the GMC estimate and allows 
classification of both estimates using the current CIM classification.  Table 1, therefore, summarizes the 
measured and indicated resources at the Gaofeng mine at that time. 

Table 1 
No. 100 Orebody, Gaofeng Mine - Total Resource Estimate by GMC 

 
 Tonnes Sn (%) Zn (%) Pb (%) Sb (%) Ag (g/t)
Southern Part Measured 

Resource 

1,878,789 1.58 11.88 6.32 5.43 183 

Northern Part Indicated  

Resource 

5,554,724 1.96 10.70 5.61 4.96 144



 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

September 17, 2004 
Page 23 

Total 7,433,513 1.86 11.00 5.79 5.07 154 

The only item in Table 1 above that Micon was unable to confirm is the estimate of the silver grade in the 
northern part of the orebody.  In the tabulations and figures that Micon has examined there are no values 
for silver from the drill holes in this part of the orebody.  It seems likely that GMC has re-assayed its 
samples for silver at some point after 1994 and then updated the plan showing the original estimate.  
However, Micon does not know how this silver value was derived. 

Micon did not have access to a reconciliation of historical recovery and dilution factors, and only a limited 
inspection of the mining activities was possible due to the suspension of operations during the visit to the 
Gaofeng mine.  The government of PRC had ordered a suspension of operations of all mines in the area 
in an effort to curtail existing illegal mining activities.  However, Micon noted that the ground conditions 
appeared to be good in the mining areas visited and very selective mining methods are used to extract 
the ore.  Based on Micon's experience with mines of this type, an estimate of ten per cent dilution at five 
per cent of the average mine ore grade is deemed to be reasonable.  This would account for the mining of 
waste rock as part of the stoping process, the spalling of waste rock from the walls and roof of the stope 
onto piles of ore and inadvertent mixing of waste rock with the ore in the oreflow process.  In addition, 
backfill reporting with the ore to the mine haulage system mine can be expected to be in the order of ten 
per cent of the ore produced. 

The resource volumes shown in Table 1 as measured and indicated resources were estimated in 1994.  
Between 1994 and 2002, approximately 2.3 million tonnes of ore were produced from the Gaofeng  mine 
by GMC from between the 500 metre and 50 metre levels. 

Extent of Illegal Mining  

As noted above, subsequent to the first visit of Micon to the Gaofeng mine and during the due diligence 
process, information was disclosed which indicated that some "illegal" mining of the Gaofeng orebody had 
been carried out by entities other than GMC.  A second visit was undertaken by Micon in June, 2002, in 
order to investigate this information. 

During the second visit of Micon to the Gaofeng mine, discussions were held with GMC management as 
to the extent of "illegal" mining.  However, during these discussions, and as a result of review of 
translated documents, differing estimates of the total amount of "illegally" mined ore were suggested. 

A mine plan prepared by the Changsa Mining Institute for Base Metals in May, 1999 on behalf of GMC 
was discussed with Micon during its second site visit to the Gaofeng mine and certain tables were 
presented for review. These included a tabulation of resources which showed 4.5 million tonnes below 
the 200 metre level.  This figure may be compared with the estimate of three million tonnes below the 200 
metre level in the 1994 data reviewed previously.  The higher, 1999, estimate is understood to have been 
based on additional geological data gathered from underground openings.  It was reported, also, by 
GMC, that approximately one million tonnes of ore remained above the 200 metre level, as documented 
in the May, 1999 report.  During the discussion concerning this plan, GMC management stated that it was 
estimated that the "illegal" miners had removed one million tonnes of this material before these activities 
were halted following a fatal accident in a nearby "illegal" operation in July, 2001.  

Apart from the initial mineral resource estimates for the No. 100 orebody below the 540 metre level, as 
reported by GMC and by the GBG Geological Team No. 215, and as discussed in some detail above, no 
other data have been provided upon which to base a reasonably supportable opinion of the remaining 
reserves and resources at the Gaofeng mine. 
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In other meetings with GMC during this second visit of Micon to the Gaofeng mine, it was stated that, for 
the No. 100 orebody as a whole, at the time of Micon's second visit, some one million tonnes to two 
million tonnes had been mined "illegally" and that some two million tonnes to three million tonnes of 
mineral resources remained. 

Another formal report, prepared by GMC and dated April, 2001, was discussed and also presented in 
part, and which, reportedly, had been submitted to the local government in support of GMC acquiring the 
rights to the No. 105 orebody.  This report indicated a total remaining "reserve" of 1.4 million tonnes 
below the 200 metre level and 0.55 million tonnes in pillars above the 200 metre level.  Tabulations 
included in this report showed a total tonnage mined by "illegals" of some 4.3 million tonnes, out of a total 
"reserve" available for mining of 8.15 million tonnes.  This figure is believed to be comparable with the 
7.43 million tonnes of mineral resources presented in Table 1 above.  The difference between the figures 
is explained by the estimates of mined material and the inclusion of additional material below the minus 
50 metre level.  This additional material results from an interpretation by GMC of the continuity of the No. 
100 orebody into the No. 105 orebody, rather than a separate, "pinched out" No. 100 orebody.  Micon has 
not been able to verify the estimated additional mineral resource below the minus 50 metre level. 

On the basis of its discussions with GMC personnel on these issues, Micon believes that the May, 1999 
report prepared by Changsa, together with the estimate of GMC of "illegal" mining and its own production, 
indicate a volume of two million tonnes to three million tonnes available below the 200 metre level, rather 
than the 1.4 million tonnes presented in the April, 2001 report.  This judgement is based on the following 
observations: 

• The lack of infrastructure and time for poorly equipped "illegals" to mine the reported 
tonnage indicated in the April, 2001 report.  A total of some 4.3 million tonnes would have 
to have been mined "illegally" while GMC, with larger scale hoisting infrastructure and 
mobile equipment, mined some 2.3 million tonnes. 

• The high percentage of material reported to have been mined "illegally" below the zero 
metre level (a figure of 69 per cent is indicated in the April, 2001 report), in an area where 
GMC has not yet mined, appears unlikely given the dimensions of the orebody and the 
assumed lack of backfill in the "illegal" operation.  

• The observations of Micon during its inspection of the partially-mined 50 metre level, 
where GMC is currently operating.  This is understood to be the deepest production level 
of GMC and resources were observed to be available for future mining. 

Estimates of the total remaining mineral resources are presented in Table 2 below.  Given the apparently 
conflicting figures discussed above, Micon is unable to provide a definitive estimate of proven and 
probable reserves for the Gaofeng mine.  Overall ore recovery is estimated at approximately 80 per cent, 
together with recovery of some 50 per cent of the pillars above the 200 metre level.  This factor considers 
the need for ore pillars in the stoping areas, as well as other factors, and assumes that ore pillars are 
designed with the minimum dimensions necessary to maintain the safety of the Gaofeng mine.  

An economic evaluation of mining the resources at the Gaofeng mine is provided in the Micon Report, 
based on the tonnage for each of the cases shown in Table 2 below.  The high grade of the mineral 
resources and the apparently well-defined ore boundaries suggest that very little of the volume will be 
excluded due to limitations of cutoff grade.  

The Case 1 scenario in Table 2 below, being the most pessimistic scenario, is based on the April, 2001 
estimate of 1.4 million tonnes below the 200 metre level plus 0.55 million tonnes in pillars above the 200 
metre level.  With dilution and recovery estimates as noted above, this would render a mineable tonnage 



 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

September 17, 2004 
Page 25 

of 1.67 million tonnes.  On the assumption that some 300,000 tonnes have been mined since that time, 
some 1.4 million tonnes would be available and would support mining at a rate of 350,000 tonnes per 
year for four years.  

The May, 1999 mine plan and discussions with GMC management indicate a currently available mineral 
resource of between two million tonnes and three million tonnes.  These two estimates, shown as Case 2 
scenario and Case 3 scenario, would provide mine lives of almost six years and over eight years, 
respectively. 

 
Table 2 

Total Remaining Mineral Resource Estimates 
 

Remaining Resource  Tonnes Sn (%) Zn (%) Pb (%) Sb (%)
Case 1        
       
Tonnage  1,650,000 1.86 11.00 5.79 5.07 
Dilution, %       
Rock 10  165,000 0.09 0.55 0.29 0.25 
Backfill 10 165,000 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Diluted Resource  1,980,000 1.56 9.21 4.85 4.25 
Recovered, at % 70 1,400,000 1.56 9.21 4.85 4.25 
       
Case 2        
       
Tonnage  2,000,000 1.86 11.00 5.79 5.07 
Dilution, %       
Rock 10  200,000 0.09 0.55 0.29 0.25 
Backfill 10 200,000 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Diluted Resource  2,400,000 1.56 9.21 4.85 4.25 
Recovered, at % 80 1,920,000 1.56 9.21 4.85 4.25 
       
Case 3        
       
Tonnage  3,000,000 1.86 11.00 5.79 5.07 
Dilution, %       
Rock 10  300,000 0.09 0.55 0.29 0.25 
Backfill 10 300,000 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Diluted Resource  3,600,000 1.56 9.21 4.85 4.25 
Recovered, at % 80 2,880,000 1.56 9.21 4.85 4.25 

Interpretation and Conclusions 

Micon concurs with the estimated "resources" of GMC at the Gaofeng mine, with the one qualification that 
it was not possible to confirm the silver grade.  However, this is a small component of the total revenue 
received by GMC from the Gaofeng mine.  

The measured and indicated mineral resources at the Gaofeng mine, classified by Micon according to 
CIM definitions, total 7.4 million tonnes, grading 1.86 per cent tin, 11 per cent zinc, 5.79 per cent lead and 
5.07 per cent antimony as shown in Table 1 above.  Quantities of silver, gold and other metals are also 
included, but have not been considered in the revenue projections for the Gaofeng mine. 
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As noted above, Micon is unable to report proven and probable reserves at the Gaofeng mine.  Based on 
the judgment of Micon, the remaining resources total between 1.4 million tonnes and 2.88 million tonnes 
grading 1.56 per cent tin, 9.21 per cent zinc, 4.85 per cent lead and 4.25 per cent antimony, as well as 
quantities of silver and gold. 

Based on the assumptions set out in the Micon Report, this resource will support mining at a rate of 
350,000 tonnes per year for between four and eight years.  The existing mining and ore processing 
infrastructures are adequate to maintain the current rate of production over a projected mine life in excess 
of eight years. 

Gaofeng Mining and Milling Operations  

Mining 

The Gaofeng mine is a medium sized underground mine that produces an average of approximately 
1,000 tonnes per day of polymetallic ore.  Production from the Gaofeng mine in 2001 was 355,832 tonnes 
of ore and in 2000 was 337,003 tonnes.  Production from the Gaofeng mine started in 1991, however, 
good operating and cost information is only available from 1997. 

Mine Description 

The underground Gaofeng mine is accessed by two shafts from surface, plus several underground 
inclined shafts.  A 5-metre diameter vertical shaft with a koepe winder is used for men and materials 
transported in the Gaofeng mine.  An alternate access route for men and materials is by way of an 
internal ramp that connects the bottom of the Gaofeng mine to surface.  However, access to the surface 
portal of this ramp is outside the property limits of the Gaofeng mine.  For this reason, it is not regularly 
used.  Ore and waste hoisted to surface travels in a series three inclined shafts.  Primary crushing is 
carried out underground.  An additional inclined shaft from surface serves the mine as a ventilation shaft. 

The orebody is located between 170 metres and 815 metres below surface and is accessed by eight 
main levels.  In the upper part of the Gaofeng mine, the orebody is nearly vertical.  On the lower levels, 
where mining is currently being carried out, the orebody is much flatter.  No mining operations were in 
progress during the visits of Micon, but Micon understood that room and pillar mining methods are used in 
this area.  Handheld drills are used for drilling and ore is mucked with mechanized loaders, which feed to 
haulage cars on the main levels.  Backfill composed of a cement/tailings/crushed rock mix is distributed to 
the excavated stopes.  A stope that was partly prepared for backfilling was visited by Micon.  In the view 
of Micon the ground conditions in all of the mining areas visited at the Gaofeng mine were good. 

Ore is transported on surface to the Bali and Changbo mills by ten tonne trucks.  The mills are 
approximately three kilometres away from the mine loadout facility.  The Bali mill is owned and operated 
by GMC.  The Changbo mill is a contract operation.  

Mine Operating Costs 

Table 3 below provides a breakdown of the total mine operating costs for the Gaofeng mine for the years 
2000 and 2001. 

Table 3 
Summary of Gaofeng Mine Operating Costs

 
 2001(RMB/t) 2000 (RMB/t)
Direct Mining.........................  171.08 114.30 
Manufacturing.......................  96.55 80.24 
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Total......................................  267.63 194.54 

At an exchange rate of RMB8.3 to US$1.00, the total mine operating cost of RMB267.63/tonne is 
equivalent to US$32.24/tonne. 

Approximately 400 persons work in the underground Gaofeng mine.  These personnel generally live in 
the town of Dachang, in company-supplied housing.  A nominal charge is levied for this accommodation. 

The Bali mill and the Changbo mill, which have a combined capacity of approximately 350,000 tonnes per 
year ore, produce a lead-antimony flotation concentrate, a zinc flotation concentrate and a tin gravity 
concentrate.  The Gaofeng ore contains approximately ten per cent zinc, 1.6 per cent tin, six per cent 
lead, five per cent antimony, 200 grams/tonne silver, 1.5 grams/tonne gold and 200 grams/tonne indium.  
The main economic minerals are sphalerite (Zn), Cassiterite (Sn), jamesonite (Pb/Sb) and galena (Pb).  In 
2001 the Bali mill milled 211,944 tonnes of ore and the Changbo mill milled 138,908 tonnes of ore. 

The original Bali mill was constructed in the 1950's.  The original design capacity was 150 tonnes per day.  
The processing facility was updated and expanded a number of times throughout the last 50 years.  The 
Bali mill was expanded to a capacity of 300 tonnes per day during the early 1990's and again to 
approximately 650 tonnes per day in 1997. 

The current expansion program at the Bali mill to obtain a design production capacity of 1,100 tonnes per 
day will eliminate the need for use of the Changbo mill.  The expansion program, consisted of additional 
grinding mills, flotation cells, shaking tables and classifying screens.  The following process descriptions 
and observations refer only to the Bali mill milling operation.   

Table 4 below summarizes the combined annual metallurgical results for the Bali mill and the Changbo 
mill from 1998 to until March 31, 2004. 

 
Table 4 

Gaofeng Mine - Combined Annual Metallurgical Results 
 

 Units 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003
1st Q, 
2004

Ore milled T 336,09
3

377,39
5

396,596 355,832 88,282 91,33
7 

28,382

Feed grade % Zn 9.70 10.25 10.44 10.52 11.35 11.13 11.87
Feed grade % Pb 5.23 5.21 5.89 5.97 6.76 6.34 6.59
Feed grade % Sb 4.60 4.76 5.34 5.45 6.31 5.62 5.94
Feed grade % Sn 1.97 2.02 1.64 1.41 1.39 1.19 1.28
Average Zn 
recovery 

% 75.91 77.91 79.06 78.50 76.04 86.14 77.42

Average Pb 
recovery 

% 82.80 88.42 93.50 93.46 96.13 92.23 87.40

Average Sb 
recovery 

% 81.56 85.98 89.84 89.18 89.74 90.22 84.87

Average Sn 
recovery 

% 75.76 79.64 76.51 75.94 67.04 70.04 74.17

Zn in concentrate 
produced 

T 24,739 30,138 32,738 28,963 7,622 8,760 2,608

Pb/Sb in 
concentrate 

T 27,168 32,834 40,872 36,602 10,736 9,973 3,065
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produced 
Sn in concentrate 

produced 
T 5,025 6,060 4,972 3,749 819.9 762 269

Plant and Process Description 

The Bali mill is built on a hillside within the town of Dachang.  Power and water supply is plentiful in the 
area.  Ore from the Gaofeng mine is trucked to the Bali mill and discharged into a 300 tonne capacity 
storage bin.  An apron feeder delivers the run of mine ore to a 450 millimetre, 55 kilowatt primary jaw 
crusher.  The minus 100 millimetre product from the primary crusher is further reduced to minus 20 
millimetre by a 1 metre diameter, 110-kW secondary cone crusher.  The secondary crusher operates in 
closed circuit with a double deck screen.  The crusher product is stored in a 500 tonne capacity storage 
bin.  The grinding circuit comprises two parallel 1.5 metre diameter by 2.44 metre long rod mills and two 
1.5 metre diameter by 1.5 metre diameter ball mills.  The final product classification is provided by a bank 
of eight trommel screens, which use fine screen cloth to produce a minus 0.34 millimetre product.  The 
quality of the ore fed to the plant significantly affects the comminution circuits.  High grade massive 
sulphide ore is generally soft, whilst gangue is relatively hard.  The ore quality and hardness varies 
considerably during a typical month.  The grinding circuit product is fed to a magnetic separator to remove 
pyrrhotite prior to feeding the lead/antimony flotation circuit.  The lead/antimony concentrate is pumped to 
a 12 metre diameter thickener and a 20 square metres vacuum drum filter for dewatering.  The tailings 
stream is fed to the zinc flotation circuit.  The configuration of the zinc flotation circuit is identical to the 
lead/antimony recovery process.  The flotation concentrate is routed to the pyrite removal flotation circuit 
and the tailings product gravitates to the tin gravity recovery circuit.  The pyrite removal circuit comprises 
two stages of pyrite flotation.  The pyrite concentrate is routed to tailings and the flotation tailings stream, 
which is the zinc concentrate, is pumped to the zinc dewatering circuit, which is identical to the 
lead/antimony system.  Tin recovery is achieved by using two metre wide by 4.1 metre long gravity 
concentration shaking tables.  The concentrate from the rougher tables is routed to the tin concentrate 
dewatering system and the tailings fraction is pumped to eight scavenging tables.  The scavenger table 
gravity concentrate joins the rougher concentrate and the tailings stream is classified, the slimes are 
routed to tailings while the coarse material feeds a small regrind and sulphide flotation circuit.  The 
sulphide flotation concentrate is pumped to tailings and the sulphide tailings fraction is fed to the six 
middling gravity tables.  The middling circuit gravity concentrate is routed to tin product dewatering, the 
tailings fraction is directed to final tailings and the middlings product is recycled to the regrind and 
sulphide flotation circuit. 

There are no automatic control systems installed in the Bali mill concentrator.  All process equipment is 
controlled manually.  All equipment drives are manually started and stopped using local control buttons.  
All safety and logic interlocks are hardwired.  For metallurgical accounting, a weightometer is installed on 
the primary crusher product conveyor belt and automatic samplers are installed on the feed and tailings 
streams of the main flotation circuits. 

All of the mine and concentrator production samples are prepared and analyzed at the Bali mill site.  
Drying, splitting and pulverizing of the samples are completed in the sample preparation building.  There 
are not separate facilities for the preparation of low and high grade samples, which allows the possibility 
for contamination.  Basic wet chemical methods are used for the routine analysis of the samples.  An 
atomic absorption instrument is available for some trace elements.  However, at the time of the visit of the 
Bali mill site, the atomic absorption unit was not operating. 

Concentrate Quality and Marketing 

The average concentrate grades for years 1998 to March 31, 2004 for the Bali mill are summarized in 
Table 5 below. 
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Table 5 
Concentrate Analysis – Bali Mill 

 
 Units 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 1st Q, 

2004
Average Zn 

concentrate 
grade 

% Zn 48.24 48.79 48.76 48.48 46.53 46.99 46.17

Average Pb/Sb 
concentrate 
grade 

% Pb 32.63 31.46 31.59 31.03 31.22 30.37 29.33

Average Pb/Sb 
concentrate 
grade 

% Sb 27.16 27.24 27.52 27.03 27.21 26.33 25.66

Average Sn 
concentrate 
grade 

% Sn 53.27 53.34 53.60 54.20 54.27 52.71 52.15

A summary of the concentrate product sales revenues for 2001 is included in Table 6 below. 

Table 6 
Summary of Annual Concentrate Sales for 2001 

 Sales Revenues
Concentrate Tonnes (1) RMB/t RMB
Tin 3,726 28,748 107,106,409 
Zinc 28,963 3,263 94,505,296 
Lead-Antimony 36,603 2,041 74,706,857
Total 69,292 3,988 276,318,563 

 (1) Metal in concentrate. 

Process Operating Costs 

Table 7 below provides a breakdown of the total process operating costs for the Bali mill during years 
2000 and 2001. 



 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

September 17, 2004 
Page 30 

Table 7 
Summary of Bali Mill Process Operating Costs  

 
2001 2000 

Item RMB(1,000s
)

RMB/t % of total RMB(1,000s
)

RMB/t % of total

Operating 
consumables 

7,618 35.95 16.1 7,652 37.44 14.7

Spare parts 1,796 8.48 3.8 1,747 8.55 3.4
Other consumables 2,335 11.02 4.9 2,103 10.29 4.0
Material adjustment -2,603 -12.28 -5.5 -2,297 -11.24 -4.4
Power (1) 9,478 44.72 20.0 8,784 42.98 16.9
Water  (2) 233 1.10 0.5 225 1.25 0.5
Labour 7,514 35.45 15.9 7,801 38.17 15.0
Labour burden 1,052 4.96 2.2 1,091 5.34 2.1
Manufacturing cost 7,703 36.34 16.3 9,976 48.81 19.1
Tailings cost 12,176 57.45 25.7 7,362 36.02 14.1
Total 47,302 223.18 100.0 44,444 217.61 100.0

1  The power consumption and average unit cost for 2001 were 100 kWh/t and 0.45 RMB/kWh 
respectively, and for 2000, 101 kWh/t and 0.43 RMB/kWh. 

2  The fresh water consumption and average unit supply cost for 2001 were 0.71 t/t and 1.54 RMB/t 
respectively, and for 2000, 0.92 t/t and 1.35 RMB/t. 

Approximately 283 full time and 55 temporary people work in the processing facility.  The labour includes 
134 shift operators, which excludes the operating areas of concentrate dewatering and crushing.  

The average unit operating cost for the Bali mill in 2001 was RMB223/tonne of ore milled.  This equates 
to approximately US$27/tonne, assuming an RMB to US$ exchange rate of 8.3 to 1.   

The total direct operating unit cost for 2001, which includes mining, was RMB491/tonne.  The processing 
portion of these direct costs was about 45 per cent. 

Metallurgical Summary 

In the opinion of Micon for the foreseeable future, the Bali mill will be able to sustain present operating 
efficiencies similar to those achieved in 2001.  Micon considers that once the expansion activities are 
completed in 2002, the Bali mill will achieve the required processing capacity of 350,000 tonnes per year.  
The process equipment is in reasonable condition and Micon believes that the general maintenance 
procedures and practices are adequate so that no major replacement capital cost expenditures would be 
expected for some time. 

Environmental Considerations 

Micon was advised by Hechi personnel that GMC is in possession of a valid environmental licence for the 
Gaofeng mine.  This licence gives permission to GMC to operate within the local environmental authority 
guidelines. 

There are not any significant mine waste rock stockpiles on surface at the Gaofeng mine.  Micon 
considers that the most important environmental issue is tailings disposal and storage.  Other areas of 
concern identified by Micon include storage and handling of reagents, storage, handling and 
transportation of concentrates and the management of concentrator site run-off and drainage. 
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During the site visits by Micon, access to the existing tailings disposal area was not available, however, 
Micon did visit an old tailings dam situated in a valley nearby to the Bali mill concentrator.  This dam has 
been redundant for approximately two years and the dam wall had been breached to prevent any build up 
of water on top of the settled tailings.  Open channels had been excavated in order to divert any surface 
run-off around the dam.  As expected, due to the presence of pyrite, pyrrhotite and other sulphides in the 
tailings, there was evidence of acid production from small pools of water within the dam, although nothing 
was observed downstream of the tailings dam toe.  The surrounding area rock is limestone, which would 
provide a natural neutralizing effect on any acidified solutions emanating from the tailings catchment area.  

GMC assured Micon that there is a water treatment facility installed at the current tailings deposition area, 
to treat any excess run-off prior to discharging into the local environment.  GMC also reported that the 
local environmental authorities routinely gathered samples around the existing and old tailings areas. 

The environmental standards, controls and practices at the facilities are not as stringent as would be 
expected at similar enterprises in Canada.  However, GMC and the local authorities are well aware of the 
importance of having effective and sustainable environmental programs in place. 

Economic Analysis and Cash Flow Projection 

Micon evaluated the overall economic potential of the Gaofeng operation using conventional discounted 
cash flow techniques.  This procedure has been used for the purpose of estimating the financial returns 
expected to accrue to GGM as an owner of nine per cent of the GMC mining and milling operations and 
to Biogan BVI as the owner of an effective 8.28% interest in the Gaofeng operation.  

Discounted cash flow analysis requires that reasoned estimates be prepared of all of the individual 
elements of cash revenue and cash expenditure which will be associated with the initial development and 
construction of the project, as well as with its ongoing operation up to the end of the projected life.  The 
current on-site operating costs were used as a basis for estimating future on-site cash operating costs.  A 
program of capital expenditures has been completed for the expansion of the Bali mill to enable it to 
process the full output from the Gaofeng mine.  No provisions have been made in the estimates of cash 
flow for any further major capital projects at this time.  On-going capital replacement costs are included in 
the estimates of operating cost. 

In the estimates of future annual cash flow, it has been assumed that the future metal recoveries to 
concentrate will be the same as the levels achieved in 2001.  These were tin recovery of 76 per cent, zinc 
recovery of 78.5 per cent, lead recovery of 93.5 per cent and antimony recovery of 89.2 per cent. 

The cash flow projections make provision for all taxes levied on the Gaofeng operation.  The cash flow 
projections take into account the cash income taxes estimated to be payable by GMC at a rate of 33 per 
cent of cash profit.  No provision is made in the cash flows for the estimation of future depreciation of prior 
capital expenditures.  Accordingly, a constant rate of income tax is assumed for each year. 

Compared to the average LME cash prices for the metals contained in the concentrates produced, the 
revenues received by GMC were 77 per cent for tin, 44 per cent for zinc and 30 per cent for lead-
antimony.  Accordingly, in the estimates of cash flow these ratios have been applied to projected future 
prices in order to estimate prices received by GMC and which, in turn, are used to estimate revenues 
from contained metal in concentrates produced. 

For a base case estimate of future annual cash flows, Micon assumed that LME metal prices for 2001 
would prevail in 2002, rising, by 2006 to US$3.00 per pound for tin, US$0.53 per pound for zinc, US$0.32 
per pound for lead and US$0.80 per pound for antimony, and remaining constant thereafter.  The 
projected increases in lead and zinc prices are in line with projections of recognized industry sources and 
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major base metal producers.  Tin and antimony prices have been increased in ratio similar to that for the 
lead and zinc prices. 

The overall cash flow projections for the Gaofeng operation, based on the input estimates and 
assumptions discussed above, are presented in tables 8a, 8b, and 8c below.  It can be seen that: 

• Over its projected minimum operating life of about four years, the operation is expected 
to generate a total undiscounted net cash flow of US$20,400,000. 

• The net present value of the projected future cash flows for the operation, at a discount 
rate of ten per cent per year, is estimated at approximately US$15,000,000, of which 
Biogan BVI's share is approximately US$1,300,000.  At a discount rate of 15 per cent per 
year, the net present value is reduced to US$13,000,000, of which Biogan BVI's share is 
approximately US$1,100,000. 

• Over a projected operating life of some eight years, the operation would generate a total 
undiscounted net cash flow of US$65,000,000, while for the six year scenario the 
operation would generate a total undiscounted net cash flow of US$36,000,000. 

• For the eight year life possibility the net present value of the projected future cash flows 
for the operation, at a discount rate of ten per cent per year, is estimated at some 
US$39,000,000, of which Biogan BVI's share is approximately US$3,200,000.  At a 
discount rate of 15 per cent per year, the net present value is reduced to US$31,000,000, 
of which Biogan BVI's share is approximately US$2,600,000. 

• For the six year life scenario the net present value of the projected future cash flows for 
the operation, at a discount rate of ten per cent per year, is estimated at some 
US$25,000,000, of which Biogan BVI's share is approximately US$2,100,000.  At a 
discount rate of 15 per cent per year, the net present value is reduced to US$21,000,000, 
of which Biogan BVI's share is approximately US$1,700,000. 

 
4.4 Issuers with Oil and Gas Operations — For Issuers with oil and gas operations, disclose the 

following (in tabular form, if appropriate): 
 

(a) Drilling Activity — The number of wells the Issuer has drilled or has participated in drilling, 
the number of these wells that were completed as oil wells and gas wells that are capable 
of production, each stated separately, and the number of dry holes, expressed in each 
case as gross and net wells, during each of the two most recently completed financial 
years of the Issuer. 

 
(b) Location of Production — The geographical areas of the Issuer's production, the groups 

of oil and gas properties, the individual oil and gas properties and the plants, facilities and 
installations that, in each case, are owned or leased by the Issuer and are material to the 
Issuer's operations or exploratory activities. 

 
(c) Location of Wells — The location, stated separately for oil wells and gas wells, by 

jurisdiction, if in Canada, by state, if in the United States, and by country otherwise, of 
producing wells and wells capable of producing, in which the Issuer has an interest and 
which are material, with the interest expressed in terms of gross and net wells. 
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(d) Interest in Material Properties — For interests in material properties to which no proved 
reserves have been attributed, the gross acreage in which the Issuer has an interest and 
the net interest of the Issuer, and the location of acreage by geographical area. 

 
(e) Reserve Estimates — To the extent material, estimated reserve volumes and discounted 

cash flow from such reserves, stated separately by country and by categories and types 
that conform to the classifications, definitions and disclosure requirements of National 
Policy Statement No. 2-B Guide for Engineers and Geologists Submitting Oil and Gas 
Reports to Canadian Provincial Securities Administrators or any successor instrument, on 
both a gross and net basis as at the most recent financial year end, including information 
on royalties. 

 
(f) Source of Reserve Estimates — The source of the reserve estimates and whether the 

reserve estimates have been prepared by the Issuer or by independent engineers or 
other qualified independent persons and any other information relating to reserve 
estimates required to be disclosed in a prospectus by any successor instrument to 
National Policy Statement No. 2-B. 

 
(g) Reconciliation of Reserves — A reconciliation of the reserve volumes by categories and 

types that conform to the classifications, definitions and disclosure requirements of 
National Policy Statement No. 2-B or any successor instrument, as at the financial year 
end immediately preceding the most recently completed financial year to the reserve 
volume information furnished under paragraph 5, with the effects of production, 
acquisitions, dispositions, discoveries and revision of estimates shown separately, if 
material. 

 
(h)  History — For each quarter of the most recently completed financial year of the Issuer, 

with comparative data for the same periods in the preceding financial year, 
 

(i) the average daily production volume,  before deduction of royalties, of 
 

(A) conventional crude oil, 
 

(B) natural gas liquids, and 
 

(C) natural gas;  
 

(ii) the following on a per barrel basis for conventional crude oil and natural gas liquids 
and on a per thousand cubic feet basis for natural gas 

 
(A) the average net product prices received, 

 
(B) royalties, 

 
(C) operating expenses, specifying the particular items included, and 

 
(D) netback received; 

 
(iii) the average net product price received for the following, if the Issuer's production of 

the following is material to the Issuer's overall production, 
 

(A) light and medium conventional crude oil, 
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(B) heavy conventional crude oil, and  

 
(C) synthetic crude oil; and 

 
(iv) the dollar amounts expended on 

 
(A) property acquisition, 

 
(B) exploration, including drilling, and 

 
(C) development, including facilities. 
 

(i) Future Commitments — A description of the Issuer's future material commitments to buy, 
sell, exchange or transport oil or gas, stating  for each commitment separately 

 
(i) the aggregate price; 

 
(ii) the price per unit; 
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(iii) the volume to be purchased, sold, exchanged or transported; and 

 
(iv) the term of the commitment. 

 
(j) Exploration and Development — A description of the Issuer's current and contemplated 

exploration or development activities, to the extent they are material. 
 

• This section is not applicable to the Issuer  
 
 
5. Selected Consolidated Financial Information  
 
5.1 Annual Information — Provide the following financial data for the Issuer in summary form for 

each of the last three completed financial years and any period subsequent to the most recent 
financial year end for which financial statements have been prepared, accompanied by a 
discussion of the factors affecting the comparability of the data, including discontinued 
operations, changes in accounting policies, significant acquisitions or significant dispositions 
and major changes in the direction of the Issuer's business: 

 
(a) Net sales or total revenues. 

 
(b) Income from continuing operations, in total and on a per share basis and fully diluted per 

share basis, calculated in accordance with the Handbook. 
 

(c) Net income or loss, in total and on a per share and fully diluted per share basis, 
calculated in accordance with the Handbook. 

 
(d). Total assets. 

 
(e) Total long-term financial liabilities as defined in the Handbook. 

 
(f) Cash dividends declared per share for each class of share. 
 
(g) Such other information as the Issuer believes would enhance an understanding of and 

would highlight other trends in financial condition and results of operations. 
 
Selected Annual Information  
$ 2006 2005 2004* 
Total Revenues 0 0 20,545,705
Income / (Loss) (1,302,178) (19,477,562) (960,750)
Income / (Loss) per share* (0.02) ($038) (960,750)
Net Income / (Loss) per share (0.02) ($0.38) (960,650)
Net Income / (Loss)  Fully Diluted (0.02) ($0.38) (960,750)
Total Assets 328,245 123,270 14,793,254
Total (Long Term) financial liabilities  0 0 0
Cash dividends per share n/a n/a n/a

* Results for the fiscal ear 2004 were originally reported in United States dollars and pursuant to the Issuer’s 
decision to report its results in the Canadian dollar, have been re-stated in Canadian dollars. 

 
 
5.2 Quarterly Information — For each of the eight most recently completed quarters ending at the 

end of the most recently completed financial year, provide the information required in 
paragraphs (a), (b) and (b) of Section 5.1 

 
Summary of Quarterly Results 
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 2007 2006  2005
($’000s) Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4
Net sales 7 4 4 14 - - - 0
Operating income (loss) (325) (249) (467) (804) (277) (73) (147) (4,851)
Net income (loss) (325) (249) (467) (804) (277) (73) (147) (19,478)

 
 
5.3 Dividends 
 

(a) Describe any restriction that could prevent the Issuer from paying dividends. 
 

(b) Disclose the Issuer's dividend policy and if a decision has been made to change the 
dividend policy, disclose the intended change in dividend policy. 

 
• The Issuer does not pay dividends and has no policy to pay dividends.  

 
 
5.4 Foreign GAAP — An Issuer may present the selected consolidated financial information 

required in this section on the basis of foreign GAAP if 
 

(a) the Issuer's primary financial statements have been prepared using foreign GAAP; 
and 

 
(b) if the Issuer is required under applicable securities legislation to have reconciled its 

financial statements to Canadian GAAP at the time of filing its financial statements 
or the Issuer has otherwise done so, a cross reference to the notes to the financial 
statements containing the reconciliation of the financial statements to Canadian 
GAAP is included. 

• This section is not applicable to the Issuer 
 

 
6. Management's Discussion and Analysis 
 

 
Annual MD&A 
 
Date 
 
6.1 Specify the date of the MD&A. The date of the MD&A must be no earlier than the date of 

the auditor’s report on the financial statements for the Issuer’s most recently completed 
financial year. 

 
Overall Performance 
 
6.2 Provide an analysis of the Issuer’s financial condition, results of operations and cash 

flows. Discuss known trends, demands, commitments, events or uncertainties that are 
reasonably likely to have an effect on the Issuer’s business. Compare the Issuer’s 
performance in the most recently completed financial year to the prior year’s 
performance. The analysis should address at least the following: 

 
(a) operating segments that are reportable segments as those terms are used in the 

Handbook; 
 
(b) other parts of the business if 
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• they have a disproportionate effect on revenues, income or cash needs; 
or 

 
(ii) there are any legal or other restrictions on the flow of funds from one part 

of the Issuer’s business to another;  
 
(c) industry and economic factors affecting the Issuer’s performance; 
 
(d) why changes have occurred or expected changes have not occurred in the 

Issuer’s financial condition and results of operations; and 
 
(e) the effect of discontinued operations on current operations. 

 
 
Selected Annual Information 
 
6.3 Provide the following financial data derived from the Issuer’s financial statements for 

each of the three most recently completed financial years: 
 

(a) net sales or total revenues; 
 
(b) income or loss before discontinued operations and extraordinary items, in total 

and on a per-share and diluted per-share basis; 
 
(c) net income or loss, in total and on a per-share and diluted per-share basis; 
 
(d) total assets; 
 
(e) total long-term financial liabilities; and 
 
(f) cash dividends declared per-share for each class of share. 

 
6.4 Discuss the factors that have caused period to period variations including discontinued 

operations, changes in accounting policies, significant acquisitions or dispositions and 
changes in the direction of the Issuer’s business, and any other information the Issuer 
believes would enhance an understanding of, and would highlight trends in, financial 
condition and results of operations. 

 
 
Results of Operations 
 
6.5 Discuss management’s analysis of the Issuer’s operations for the most recently 

completed financial year, including 
 

(a) net sales or total revenues by operating business segment, including any 
changes in such amounts caused by selling prices, volume or quantity of goods 
or services being sold, or the introduction of new products or services; 

 
(b) any other significant factors that caused changes in net sales or total revenues; 
 
(c) cost of sales or gross profit; 
 
(d) for issuers that have significant projects that have not yet generated operating 

revenue, describe each project, including the Issuer’s plan for the project and the 
status of the project relative to that plan, and expenditures made and how these 
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relate to anticipated timing and costs to take the project to the next stage of the 
project plan; 

 
(e) for resource issuers with producing mines, identify milestones such as mine 

expansion plans, productivity improvements, or plans to develop a new deposit; 
 
(f) factors that caused a change in the relationship between costs and revenues, 

including changes in costs of labour or materials, price changes or inventory 
adjustments; 

 
(g) commitments, events, risks or uncertainties that you reasonably believe will 

materially affect the Issuer’s future performance including net sales, total revenue 
and income or loss before discontinued operations and extraordinary items; 

 
(h) effect of inflation and specific price changes on the Issuer’s net sales and total 

revenues and on income or loss before discontinued operations and 
extraordinary items; 

 
(i) a comparison in tabular form of disclosure you previously made about how the 

Issuer was going to use proceeds (other than working capital) from any financing, 
an explanation of variances and the impact of the variances, if any, on the 
Issuer’s ability to achieve its business objectives and milestones; and 

 
(j) unusual or infrequent events or transactions. 

 
 
Summary of Quarterly Results 
 
6.6 Provide the following information in summary form, derived from the Issuer’s financial 

statements, for each of the eight most recently completed quarters: 
 

(a) net sales or total revenues; 
 
(b) income or loss before discontinued operations and extraordinary items, in total 

and on a per-share and diluted per-share basis; and 
 
(c) net income or loss, in total and on a per-share and diluted per-share basis. 

 
Discuss the factors that have caused variations over the quarters necessary to 
understand general trends that have developed and the seasonality of the business. 

 
 
Liquidity 
 
6.7 Provide an analysis of the Issuer’s liquidity, including 

 
(a) its ability to generate sufficient amounts of cash and cash equivalents, in the 

short term and the long term, to maintain the Issuer’s capacity, to meet the 
Issuer’s planned growth or to fund development activities; 

 
(b) trends or expected fluctuations in the Issuer’s liquidity, taking into account 

demands, commitments, events or uncertainties; 
 
(c) its working capital requirements; 
 
(d) liquidity risks associated with financial instruments; 
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(e) if the Issuer has or expects to have a working capital deficiency, discuss its ability 
to meet obligations as they become due and how you expect it to remedy the 
deficiency; 

 
(f) balance sheet conditions or income or cash flow items that may affect the 

Issuer’s liquidity; 
 
(g) legal or practical restrictions on the ability of subsidiaries to transfer funds to the 

Issuer and the effect these restrictions have had or may have on the ability of the 
Issuer to meet its obligations; and 

 
(h) defaults or arrears or anticipated defaults or arrears on 
 

(i) dividend payments, lease payments, interest or principal payment on 
debt; 

 
(ii) debt covenants during the most recently completed financial year; and 
 
(iii) redemption or retraction or sinking fund payments, 
 
and how the Issuer intends to cure the default or arrears. 

 
 
Capital Resources  
 
6.8 Provide an analysis of the Issuer’s capital resources, including 

 
(a) commitments for capital expenditures as of the date of the Issuer’s financial 

statements including 
 
(i) the amount, nature and purpose of these commitments; 
 
(ii) the expected source of funds to meet these commitments; and 
 
(iii) expenditures not yet committed but required to maintain the Issuer’s 

capacity, to meet the Issuer’s planned growth or to fund development 
activities; 

 
(b) known trends or expected fluctuations in the Issuer’s capital resources, including 

expected changes in the mix and relative cost of these resources; and 
 
(c) sources of financing that the Issuer has arranged but not yet used. 
 

 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 
 
6.9 Discuss any off-balance sheet arrangements that have, or are reasonably likely to have, 

a current or future effect on the results of operations or financial condition of the Issuer 
including, without limitation, such considerations as liquidity and capital resources. This 
discussion shall include their business purpose and activities, their economic substance, 
risks associated with the arrangements, and the key terms and conditions associated 
with any commitments, including 

 
(a) a description of the other contracting party(ies); 
 
(b) the effects of terminating the arrangement; 
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(c) the amounts receivable or payable, revenues, expenses and cash flows resulting 
from the arrangement; 

 
(d) the nature and amounts of any other obligations or liabilities arising from the 

arrangement that could require the Issuer to provide funding under the 
arrangement and the triggering events or circumstances that could cause them to 
arise; and 

 
(e) any known event, commitment, trend or uncertainty that may affect the 

availability or benefits of the arrangement (including any termination) and the 
course of action that management has taken, or proposes to take, in response to 
any such circumstances. 

 
Fourth Quarter 
 
6.11 Discuss and analyze fourth quarter events or items that affected the Issuer’s financial 

condition, cash flows or results of operations, including extraordinary items, year-end and 
other adjustments, seasonal aspects of the Issuer’s business and dispositions of 
business segments. 

 
Proposed Transactions  
 
6.12 Discuss the expected effect on financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of 

any proposed asset or business acquisition or disposition if the Issuer’s board of 
directors, or senior management who believe that confirmation of the decision by the 
board is probable, have decided to proceed with the transaction. Include the status of any 
required shareholder or regulatory approvals. 

 
Changes in Accounting Policies including Initial Adoption 
 
6.13 Discuss and analyze any changes in the Issuer’s accounting policies, including 

(a) for any accounting policies that management has adopted or expects to adopt 
subsequent to the end of the most recently completed financial year, including 
changes management has made or expects to make voluntarily and those due to 
a change in an accounting standard or a new accounting standard that you do 
not have to adopt until a future date,  
 
(i) describe the new standard, the date the Issuer required to adopt it and, if 

determined, the date the Issuer plans to adopt it; 
 
(ii) disclose the methods of adoption permitted by the accounting standard 

and the method management expects to use; 
 
(iii) discuss the expected effect on the Issuer’s financial statements, or if 

applicable, state that management cannot reasonably estimate the 
effect; and 

 
(iv) discuss the potential effect on the Issuer’s business, for example 

technical violations or default of debt covenants or changes in business 
practices; and 

 
(b) for any accounting policies that management has initially adopted during the 

most recently completed financial year,  
 
(i) describe the events or transactions that gave rise to the initial adoption of 

an accounting policy; 
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(ii) describe the accounting principle that has been adopted and the method 
of applying that principle; 

 
(iii) discuss the effect resulting from the initial adoption of the accounting 

policy on the Issuer’s financial condition, changes in financial condition 
and results of operations; 

 
(iv) if the Issuer is permitted a choice among acceptable accounting 

principles, 
 
(A) state that management made a choice among acceptable 

alternatives; 
 
(B) identify the alternatives; 
 
(C) describe why management made the choice that you did; and 
 
(D) discuss the effect, where material, on the Issuer’s financial 

condition, changes in financial condition and results of 
operations under the alternatives not chosen; and 

 
(v) if no accounting literature exists that covers the accounting for the events 

or transactions giving rise to management’s initial adoption of the 
accounting policy, explain management’s decision regarding which 
accounting principle to use and the method of applying that principle. 

 
 
Financial Instruments and Other Instruments 
 
6.14 For financial instruments and other instruments, 
 

(a) discuss the nature and extent of the Issuer’s use of, including relationships 
among, the instruments and the business purposes that they serve; 

 
(b) describe and analyze the risks associated with the instruments; 
 
(c) describe how management manages the risks in paragraph (b), including a 

discussion of the objectives, general strategies and instruments used to manage 
the risks, including any hedging activities; 

 
(d) disclose the financial statement classification and amounts of income, expenses, 

gains and losses associated with the instrument; and 
 
(e) discuss the significant assumptions made in determining the fair value of 

financial instruments, the total amount and financial statement classification of 
the change in fair value of financial instruments recognized in income for the 
period, and the total amount and financial statement classification of deferred or 
unrecognized gains and losses on financial instruments. 

 
 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF OPERATING RESULTS 
 
The following management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) of the financial condition and results of 
operations of HMZ Metals Inc. (“HMZ” or the “Company”), is prepared as of March 7, 2008 and 
constitutes management’s review of the factors that affected the Company’s financial and operating 
performance for the year ended December 31, 2006.   
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This MD&A should be read in conjunction with the Company’s annual audited consolidated financial 
statements for the year ended December 31, 2006. This MD&A is expressed in Canadian dollars unless 
otherwise noted. 
 
 
Cautionary Note on Forward-Looking Statements and Risk Factors 
 
This MD&A contains certain forward-looking statements including estimates, forecasts, and statements as 
to management’s expectations and involve numerous assumptions, risks and uncertainties, and actual 
results may vary. 
 
The Company does not assume any obligation to revise or update these forward-looking statements after 
the date of this document or to revise them to reflect the occurrence of future unanticipated events, 
except as may be required under applicable securities laws. 
 
 
Overview of the Company  
 
HMZ is an Ontario based company listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange pursuant to an initial public 
offering April 6, 2005.   
 
HMZ has been involved in smelting and milling operations through its interest in a cooperative joint 
venture corporation, Guangxi Guanghe Metals Co. Ltd. (“GGM”) in the Peoples Republic of China. GGM 
was established in January 2000 to hold and operate a copper smelter, a base metals mill and a 9% 
interest in Gaofeng Mining Co. Ltd, (“GMC”), which owns and operates the Gaofeng mine and ore 
processing facilities; all of which are located in southern China’s Guangxi province.  
 
In August 2005, it came to the Company’s attention that in July 2005 there had been an unauthorized 
transfer of approximately $1.8 million (RMB 14.5 million) from GGM to its joint venture partner Hechi 
Industrial Co. Ltd. (“Hechi”).  
 
HMZ is currently in a long standing dispute with Hechi as to the ownership of assets, cash flow and profits 
derived therefrom. As a result of the above referenced dispute, HMZ has written the value of its indirectly 
held 92% equity interest and 95% profit interest in GGM down to nil pending a resolution of the current 
dispute. 
 
The Company’s discovery of the unauthorized transfer of funds occurred shortly before interim financial 
statements for the six months ended June 30, 2005 were to be released. The Company took the position 
that it would not file its interim financial statements for the six months ended June 30, 2005 before 
meeting with its joint venture partners and establishing the facts surrounding the unauthorized transfer of 
funds and exploring options for the restitution of same.  
 
In light of the fact that the Company would be late in releasing interim financial statements for the six 
months ended June 2005 and funds had been transferred out of the joint venture on an unauthorized 
basis by the same party on whom the Company had been relying for the provision of financial information 
regarding the operating results of the joint venture, the Company applied for and was granted a 
Management Cease Trade Order (“MCTO”) from the Ontario Securities Commission.  
 
The MCTO is a mechanism which is often requested by senior management of publicly traded 
Companies in the event of late release of financial statements. Under an MCTO management and 
insiders of a publicly traded Company are precluded from trading securities of the Company for that time 
period for which the MCTO is in effect.   
 
The Board of Directors established a Special Committee to investigate, in conjunction with senior 
management, independent legal counsel and other advisors, the circumstances surrounding this 
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unauthorized transfer of funds. In connection with the investigation the Special Committee retained the 
services of Deloitte LLP to conduct a forensic audit of GGM.    
 
After on-site meetings and numerous discussions between the parties, the Company believed Hechi to be 
sincere in its indicated willingness to return the funds and as such accounted for the unauthorized transfer 
of $1.8 million as an advance to its joint venture partner. Financial Statements for the six months ended 
June 30, 2005 were released October 19, 2005. The MCTO was revoked shortly thereafter. 
 
In an effort to facilitate the conclusion of an amicable resolution of outstanding issues between the parties 
the Company retained the services of specialist consultants experienced in solving disagreements 
between foreign entities and their Chinese Partners. Accordingly the Company entered into discussions 
with its joint venture partner regarding the return of funds improperly transferred out of the joint venture 
and other operational issues.  
 
During the period September through November 2005 Hechi worked cooperatively and in an apparently 
forthright manner with the Company towards a resolution of the unauthorized funds transfer and other 
operational issues. In light of the foregoing the Company released its interim financial statements for the 
period ended September 30, 2005.    
 
During the course of these discussions the joint venture partner refused the Company’s third party 
accounting firms’ representatives access to joint venture books and records which refusal made it 
impossible for the Company to prepare audited annual financial statements for the year ended December 
31, 2005.   
 
The Company and its consultants had been of the opinion that they had been engaged in good faith 
discussions with its Chinese Joint Venture partner. As apparently good faith discussions were abandoned 
by the joint venture partner in late February 2006 the Company redirected its efforts towards forcing a 
solution under the Cooperative Joint Venture Contract to which parties are signatories.   
 
As a result of the indeterminate time frame associated with resolving the dispute with the Company’s 
Chinese joint venture partners HMZ has taken the decision to write the value of its joint venture interest 
down to $ 1.00 pending a resolution of current legal initiatives.  
 
 
Overall Performance 
 
As previously noted the company changed its method of accounting for the investment in GGM from 
consolidating its share of the Joint Venture results to the equity method and subsequently wrote down the 
investment to $ 1.00. Any recovery of the investment will be taken into income in the period in which it is 
received. 
 
 
Selected Annual Information  
 
 
 2006 2005 2004 * 
Total Revenues 0 0 20,545,705 
Income / (Loss) (1,302,178) (19,477,562) (960,750) 
Income / (Loss) per share (0.02) (0.38) (960,750) 
Net Income / (Loss) per share (0.02) (0.38) (960,750) 
Net Income / (Loss)  Fully Diluted (0.02) (0.38) (960,750) 
Total Assets 328,245 123,270 14,793,254 
Total (Long Term) financial liabilities  0 0 0 
Cash dividends per share n/a n/a n/a 
* the results for the fiscal years 2004 derive from the Company’s audited financial statements for the year ended 
December 31, 2004 and have been re–stated in Canadian dollars.  The Company’s issued and outstanding capital 
consisted of one (1) common share.   
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Results of Operations  
 
A discussion of the Company’s results of operations is effectively precluded by the action of the 
Company’s’ joint venture partner namely; refusal to provide operating results and refusal to grant access 
to joint venture accounts and records for the reporting period.  As such operations have been limited to 
efforts to resolve the dispute with Hechi and legal initiates related thereto. 
 
 
Summary of Quarterly Results 
 
 2006    2005    
($’000s) Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3* Q2* Q1* 
Net sales 0 0 0 0 0 4,544 8,589 4,015 
Operating 
income (loss) 

 
(945,970) (277,374) (73,239) (5,595) 

 
(4,851) 311 1,878 723 

Net income (loss) 
 

(945,970) (277,374) (73,239) (5,595) 
 

(19,478) (433) (36) (2,022) 
* Results for the first three quarters of fiscal 2005 are shown as previously released and have not been restated as 
the Company has written the value of its investment in GGM down to $1.00 pending the outcome of current legal 
actions in China. In November 2005 the Company determined that it no longer had control over GGM as the 
Company’s joint venture partner had failed to; transfer funds that had been earned by the joint venture in accordance 
with the Cooperative Joint Venture Contract (“the joint venture agreement”), provide monthly operating reports for 
joint venture assets, provide evidence of compliance with local laws and regulations pertaining to the lawful operation 
of the assets and enact management, operational and financial protocols mandated by Company and its 
representatives.  
 
 
Liquidity  
 
The Company has no operating revenues and relies primarily on equity financings to fund administrative 
and other operating costs.   
 
Balance Sheet Data 

 2006 2005 2004 

Working Capital Deficit (1,338,743) (1,080,631) (4,138,366) 
Total Assets 328,245 123,270 14,793,254 
Total Debt 1,654,414 1,187,515 11,369,598 
Shareholders’ Equity (1,326,169) (1,064,245) 3,110,054 

 
Contractual Obligations   
  

Total 
 

1 year or less 
 

1 – 3 years 
 

4 - 5 years 
 
Long Term Debt* 

    

 
Capital Lease obligations 

    

 
Operating Leases* 

 
624,000 

 
124,800 

 
249,600 

 
249,600 

 
Purchase obligations 

    

 
Other Long Term obligations 

    

 
Total Contractual obligations 

 
624,000 

 
124,800 

 
249,600 

 
249,600 

* premises rent for corporate offices, half of which is expected to be offset through one or more sub-tenancies  
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Capital Resources  
 
The Company has no operating revenues and relies primarily on equity financings to fund administrative 
and other operating costs.   
 
 
Off Balance Sheet Arrangements 
 
The Company had no off balance sheet arrangements in 2006. 
 
 
Related Party Arrangements  
 
Pursuant to a voluntary bankruptcy of Biogan International Inc., a Delaware Corporation, the amounts due 
from and amounts due to have been written off.  
 
The Company paid consulting fees to the Chief Executive Officer of the Company and a company 
controlled by the Chief Executive Officer of the Company in the amount of $270,116 (2005 - $NIL) for the 
year ended December 31, 2006.  In addition, consulting fees were paid to the Chief Financial Officer and 
a company owned by the Corporate Secretary in the amounts of $144,000 (2005 - $207,000) and 
$75,133 (2005 - $22,500) respectively. Consulting fees were also paid to a former officer of $20,000 
(2005 - $5,200). Interest paid to related parties amounted to $NIL (2005 - $14,563) for the year ended 
December 31, 2006. 
 
 
Financial and Other Instruments  
 
Due to the short term nature of the Company’s cash, accounts receivable, trade payables and accrued 
liabilities they approximate their carrying values. 
 
 
Critical Accounting Estimates 
 
Management of the Corporation is required to make estimates in preparing financial statements in 
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. These estimates affect the reported amounts of 
liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and 
the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Changes to these estimates 
could result in material changes to these line items. The critical accounting estimates made by the 
Company relate to accounting for the items relating to property and investments (see discussion of the 
write off of the company’s investments. 
 
 
Translation of Foreign Currency  
 
The reporting currency of the Company is the Canadian dollar and the functional currency of GGM is the 
Chinese Remimbi (“RMB”).  In the event of a successful resolution of the current dispute with Hechi, the 
RMB will be the currency in which the Company conducts its primary economic activities. 
 
 
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 
 
This policy requires the Company to estimate undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated 
by the assets of the Company.  Due to the uncertainty of the Company’s interest in GGM and any future 
cash flows, the investment is being carried at a nominal value. 
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Legal Action 
 
As of the date hereof HMZ is involved in legal actions against both its Chinese cooperative joint venture 
partner (“Hechi”) and former Chief Executive Officer and Director of the Company; Mr. Gilles Laverdiere. 
 
The legal action against Hechi consists of a) an action under the arbitration provisions of the cooperative 
joint venture contract that governs the operations of the Company’s 92% owned joint venture company in 
China and b) an action by the Company against Hechi in The People’s High Court, Guangxi, P.R.C. for 
the return of capital, profits and damages.  
 
In addition to the above the Company has received a statement of claim from former Chief Executive 
Officer and Director Mr. Gilles Laverdiere in which Mr. Laverdiere claims amounts allegedly due from 
August 2005 through the date of his resignation May 16, 2006. The Company has in turn filed a statement 
of defence and counterclaim to which Mr. Laverdiere subsequently filed a response regarding the 
forgoing. As of the date hereof the Company is preparing its response.          
 
As these issues are currently before the Arbitration Tribunal and the Courts, the Company is necessarily 
constrained from discussing these issues in detail.     
 
Fourth Quarter 
 
Management’s forensic audit team from Deloitte was denied access to the Chinese operations and 
company books related thereto. The Company continued its due diligences review on a number of new 
projects as part of its plans to diversify operations in China by expanding its management expertise and 
operational capacity exclusive of the Company’s joint venture partner. Meanwhile, the Company 
continued to work toward a resolution of differences with its Chinese joint venture partner and was 
reviewing all means legally available in both China and Canada to resolve this situation in a timely 
manner. KPMG LLP resigned as the company’s auditors and was replaced by MSCM LLP as auditors.  
During the last quarter of 2006, the Company raised $485,000 under a Unit private placement. 
 
Outstanding Share Data 
 
The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares and an unlimited number of 
Special Shares, issuable in series with such attributes as designated by and at the discretion of, the 
board of directors of the Company. Each Common Share and Series I Special Share entitles the holder of 
record thereof to vote at all meetings of shareholders of the Company.  
 
 
The table below summarizes the capital stock of the Company as at December 31, 2006 
 



 Number 
Outstanding 

 
  
Common Shares  86,888,400 
 
 
Common Share Purchase Warrants                                                                       
Exercise prices range from $0.05 - $0.50 per share and expire April 5, 2007 through November 
2008.  

 
54,199,735 

Should the Company’s common shares trade at or above $0.80 per share on a volume 
weighted basis for a period of twenty trading days the Company can give notice to the holders 
and accelerate the expiry date provided that the accelerated expiry date is not less than 30 
days from the notice date. 
   
  
Series I Special Shares                                                                                                      
Convertible into common shares of the Company for no additional payment provided that the 
Company has received confirmation that certain debts incurred in connection with the 
acquisition of the GGM assets by the Company’s Joint Venture partner have been paid in full. 

30,200,000 

                                                                                                                            
 
Stock Option Plan – Options       

 
6,900,000 

Exercise price is $0.40 expiry date is March 27, 2010. 
 

 
 
The table below summarizes the capital stock of the Company as at March 7, 2008 

 Number 
Outstanding 

 
  
Common Shares  
 

109,997,074 

  
Common Share Purchase Warrants   23,014,427 
Exercise prices range from $0.05 - $0.15 per share and expiry dates range from June 30, 2008 
– December 2009  
   
 
Series I Special Shares                                                                                                      
Convertible into common shares of the Company for no additional payment provided that the 
Company has received confirmation that certain debts incurred in connection with the 
acquisition of the GGM assets by the Company’s Joint Venture partner have been paid in full.       

 
 

30,200,000 

  
Stock Option Plan – Options       
Exercise price is $0.40 expiry date is March 27, 2010. 
 

1,925,000 

 
 
Subsequent Events 
 
In early 2007, the Company retained a consulting group resident in the province of the Company’s’ 
Chinese joint venture operations in another attempt to exert its rights over the joint venture assets and 
associated cash flow. As a parallel initiative the Company began the process of searching out new 
business opportunities and new business partners in China. As of the date hereof and as indicated 
above, the Company’s case is before the Chinese Arbitration Tribunal and the Company has launched an 
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action against Hechi in the People’s High Court, Guangxi, China. Business development initiatives are 
on-going and the Company actively engaged in due diligence reviews of a number of projects in China.  
 
During 2007, the Corporation raised gross proceeds of $675,000 under two private placements for the 
issuance of 13,500,000 common shares and  7,754,500  share purchase warrants each exercisable at 
prices ranging from $0.05 to $0.15 for a period of 2 years.  In addition, the Corporation raised gross 
proceeds of $105,000 under a private placement for the issuance of 5,600,000 common shares, 
5,600,000 share purchase warrants each exercisable at a price of $0.025 for a period of 2 years, and a 
discounted note payable of $315,000.  The note payable has a term of 2 years, bears interest at 14% 
payable on maturity, is redeemable by the Corporation, and has a maturity value of $420,000.  The 
Corporation also received loans of $27,000 which have been repaid. 
Proceeds of the financings were used to fund general working capital requirements and various initiatives 
in China. 
 
During 2008, the Corporation issued 4,000,000 common shares at a deemed price of $0.015 per 
common share in lieu of cash to repay shareholder debt due to a lack of working capital.  

 
The Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) de-listed the common shares of HMZ Metals Inc. at the close of 
business on January 18, 2008 for failure to meet continued listing requirements of the TSX. Effective the 
same date, the Company received conditional approval to list its common shares on the CNQ Stock 
Exchange. Trading of the Company’s common shares is subject to the prior filing of outstanding interim 
financial statements and audited annual financial statements, any cease trade order or default of a 
securities commission requirement must be remedied and completion of all CNQ Listing Documentation 
and payment of the Listing Fee. CNQ also reserves the right to amend or waive any of the above 
conditions prior to final approval 

 
 

Interim MD&A 
 
6.15 Specify the date of the interim MD&A. 
 
6.16 Interim MD&A must update the Issuer’s annual MD&A for all disclosure required by 

sections 6.2 to 6.14 except sections 6.3 and 6.4. This disclosure must include 
 

(a) a discussion of management’s analysis of 
 

(i) current quarter and year-to-date results including a comparison of results 
of operations and cash flows to the corresponding periods in the 
previous year; 

 
(ii) changes in results of operations and elements of income or loss that are 

not related to ongoing business operations; 
 
(iii) any seasonal aspects of the Issuer’s business that affect its financial 

condition, results of operations or cash flows; and 
 
(b) a comparison of the Issuer’s interim financial condition to the Issuer’s financial 

condition as at the most recently completed financial year-end. 
 

 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF OPERATING RESULTS 

 
The following management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) of the financial condition and results of 
operations of HMZ Metals Inc. (“HMZ” or the “Company”), is prepared as of March 10, 2008 and 
constitutes management’s review of the factors that affected the Company’s financial and operating 
performance for the nine months ended September 30, 2007.   
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This MD&A should be read in conjunction with the Company’s annual audited financial statements for the 
year ended December 31, 2006. This MD&A is expressed in Canadian dollars unless otherwise noted. 
 
Cautionary Note on Forward-Looking Statements and Risk Factors 
 
This MD&A contains certain forward-looking statements including estimates, forecasts, and statements as 
to management’s expectations and involve numerous assumptions, risks and uncertainties and, actual 
results may vary. 
 
The Company does not assume the obligation to revise or update these forward-looking statements after 
the date of this document or to revise them to reflect the occurrence of future unanticipated events, 
except as may be required under applicable securities laws. 
 
Loss of Control of Joint Venture Interest 
 
In November 2005 the Company determined that it no longer had control over Guangxi Guanghe Metals 
Co. Ltd. (“GGM” or the “joint venture”) as Hechi Industrial Co. Ltd. (“Hechi” or “the Company’s joint 
venture partner”) had failed to; transfer funds that had been earned by the joint venture in accordance 
with the Cooperative Joint Venture Contract (“the joint venture agreement”), provide monthly operating 
reports for joint venture assets, provide evidence of compliance with local laws and regulations pertaining 
to the lawful operation of the assets and enact management, operational and financial protocols 
mandated by Company and its representatives.  
 
As such the Company ceased consolidating results and recorded its investment at cost effective January 
1, 2005. Comparative results as at December 31, 2004 and for the year ended December 31, 2004 have 
not been restated. For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005 due to the uncertainty of recovering such 
amounts, the investment in GGM owned through Biogan BVI International Inc. (“Biogan BVI”) (amounting 
to $12,856,244) was written down to $1.00 pending a resolution of the dispute.  
 
The Company has not yet taken steps to dissolve the joint venture and is involved in arbitration 
proceedings with its joint venture partner. The Company believes that it is unlikely that the Chinese 
partner will seek, or is able to seek, any further funds from the Company. No claims have been made to 
date. 
 
Overview of the Company  
 
HMZ is an Ontario based company listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange pursuant to an initial public 
offering April 6, 2005.   
 
HMZ has been involved in smelting and milling operations through its interest in GGM in the Peoples 
Republic of China. GGM was established in January 2000 to hold and operate a copper smelter, a base 
metals mill and a 9% interest in Gaofeng Mining Co. Ltd, (“GMC”), which owns and operates the Gaofeng 
mine and ore processing facilities; all of which are located in southern China’s Guangxi province.  
 
In August 2005, it came to the Company’s attention that its joint venture partner had failed to transfer 
funds that had been earned by the joint venture in accordance with the joint venture agreement.  
 
HMZ is currently in a long standing dispute with Hechi as to the ownership of assets, cash flow and profits 
derived therefrom. As a result of the above referenced dispute, HMZ has written the value of its indirectly 
held 92% equity interest and 95% profit interest in GGM down to $1.00 pending a resolution of the current 
dispute. 
 
The Company’s discovery of the failure to transfer funds that had been earned by the joint venture in 
accordance with the joint venture agreement occurred shortly before interim financial statements for the 
six months ended June 30, 2005 were to be released. The Company took the position that it would not file 
its interim financial statements for the six months ended June 30, 2005 before meeting with its joint 
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venture partners and establishing the facts surrounding the failure to transfer funds that had been earned 
by the joint venture in accordance with the joint venture agreement.  
 
In light of the fact that the Company would be late in releasing interim financial statements for the six 
months ended June 2005 the Company applied for and was granted a Management Cease Trade Order 
(“MCTO”) from the Ontario Securities Commission.  
 
The MCTO is a mechanism which is often requested by senior management of publicly traded Companys 
in the event of late release of financial statements. Under an MCTO management and insiders of a 
publicly traded Company are precluded from trading securities of the Company for that time period for 
which the MCTO is in effect.   
 
The Board of Directors established a Special Committee to investigate, in conjunction with senior 
management, independent legal counsel and other advisors, the circumstances surrounding the failure to 
transfer funds that had been earned by the joint venture in accordance with the joint venture agreement. 
In connection with the investigation the Special Committee retained the services of Deloitte LLP to 
conduct a forensic audit of GGM.    
 
After on-site meetings and numerous discussions between the parties, the Company believed Hechi to be 
sincere in its indicated willingness to transfer the funds into the joint venture and as such accounted for 
the USF$1.8 million disputed amount as an advance to its joint venture partner and therefore a receivable 
for the joint venture. Financial Statements for the six months ended June 30, 2005 were released October 
19, 2005. The MCTO was revoked shortly thereafter. 
 
In an effort to facilitate the conclusion of an amicable resolution of outstanding issues between the parties 
the Company retained the services of specialist consultants experienced in solving disagreements 
between foreign entities and their Chinese Partners. Accordingly the Company entered into discussions 
with its joint venture partner regarding the transfer of funds into the joint venture and other operational 
issues.  
 
During the period September through November 2005 Hechi worked cooperatively and in an apparently 
forthright manner with the Company towards a resolution of the funds transfer and other operational 
issues. In light of the foregoing the Company released its interim financial statements for the period 
ended September 30, 2005.    
 
During the course of these discussions the joint venture partner refused the Company’s third party 
accounting firms’ representatives access to joint venture books and records which refusal made it 
impossible for the Company to prepare audited annual financial statements for the year ended December 
31, 2005.   
 
The Company and its consultants had been of the opinion that they had been engaged in good faith 
discussions with Hechi. As apparently good faith discussions were abandoned by Hechi in late February 
2006 the Company redirected its efforts towards forcing a resolution of outstanding issues under the joint 
venture agreement to which parties are signatories.   
 
As a result of the indeterminate time frame associated with resolving the dispute with the Hechi, HMZ has 
taken the decision to write the value of its joint venture interest down to $ 1.00 pending a resolution of 
current legal initiatives.  
 
Overall Performance 
 
As previously noted the company changed its method of accounting for the investment in GGM from 
consolidating its share of the Joint Venture results to the equity method and subsequently wrote down the 
investment to $1.00. Any recovery of the investment will be taken into income in the period in which it is 
received. 
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Results of Operations  
 
A discussion of the Company’s results of operations is effectively precluded by the action of the 
Companys’ joint venture partner namely; refusal to provide operating results and refusal to grant access 
to joint venture accounts and records for the reporting period. As such operations have been limited to 
efforts to resolve the dispute with Hechi and legal initiatives related thereto.    
 
 
Consolidated Results of Operations for the first nine months of fiscal 2007 vs fiscal 2006 

   Nine months ended 
September 30, 2007  

$ 

Nine months ended 
September 30 , 2006  

$  
Total Revenues 7,330 - 
Gross Profit  - - 
Gross Margin - - 
Income (Loss) from operations    (325,123) (486,428) 
Income (Loss) from discontinued operations  - - 
Net Loss (325,123) (486,428) 
Net Income / (Loss) per share   0.00 (0.01) 

 
 
 Summary of Quarterly Results 
 
 2007   2006    2005 
($’000s) Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4* 
Net sales 7 4 4 14 - - - 0 

Operating income (loss) (325) (249) (467) (804) (277) (73) (147) (4,851) 
Net income (loss) (325) (249) (467) (804) (277) (73) (147) (19,478) 

* The Company has written the value of its investment in GGM down to $1.00 pending the outcome of current legal 
actions in China. In November 2005 the Company determined that it no longer had control over GGM as the 
Company’s joint venture partner had failed to; transfer funds that had been earned by the joint venture in accordance 
with the Cooperative Joint Venture Contract (“the joint venture agreement”), provide monthly operating reports for 
joint venture assets, provide evidence of compliance with local laws and regulations pertaining to the lawful operation 
of the assets and enact management, operational and financial protocols mandated by Company and its 
representatives.  
   
Liquidity  
 
The Company has no operating revenues and relies primarily on equity financings to fund administrative 
and other operating costs.   
 

Balance Sheet Data 
    

Working Capital 
 

Nine months ended 
September 30, 2007  

 ($) 

Nine months ended 
September 30, 2006  

($) 
Current Assets 81,726 189,166 
Current Liabilities 1,859,039 1,273,369 
Working Capital  / (Deficit) (1,777,313) (1,462,535) 
Improvement in working capital versus year earlier period (314,778) (7,245,535) 

 
Capital Resources  
 
The Company has no operating revenues and relies primarily on equity financings to fund administrative 
and other operating costs.   
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Off Balance Sheet Arrangements 
 
The Company had no off balance sheet arrangements in 2006. 
 
Related Party Arrangements  
 
Pursuant to a voluntary bankruptcy of Biogan International Inc. (“Biogan”), a Delaware Company, the 
amounts due from and amounts due to Biogan have been written off. 
 
The Company paid consulting fees to the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation and a company 
controlled by the Chief Executive Officer of the Company in the amount of $90,000. In addition, consulting 
fees were paid to the Chief Financial Officer and a corporation owned by the Corporate Secretary in the 
amounts of $72,000 and $15,000 respectively. Interest paid to related parties amounted to $nil. 
 
 
Financial and Other Instruments  
 
Due to the short term nature of Company’s cash, accounts receivable, trade payables and accrued 
liabilities approximate their carrying values. 
 
Critical Accounting Estimates 
 
Management of the Company is required to make estimates in preparing financial statements in 
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. These estimates affect the reported amounts of 
liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and 
the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Changes to these estimates 
could result in material changes to these line items. The critical accounting estimates made by Company 
relate to accounting for the items relating to property and investments (see discussion of the write off of 
the company’s investments). 
 
Translation of Foreign Currency  
 
The reporting currency of the Company is the Canadian dollar and the functional currency of GGM is the 
Chinese Remimbi (“RMB”). In the event of a successful resolution of the current dispute with Hechi, the 
RMB will be the currency in which the Company conducts its primary economic activities.    
 
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 
 
This policy requires the Company to estimate undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated 
by the assets of the Company. Due to the uncertainty of the Company’s interest in GGM and any future 
cash flows, the investment is being carried at a nominal value.  
 
Legal Action 
 
As of the date hereof HMZ is involved in legal actions against both its Chinese cooperative joint venture 
partner (“Hechi”) and former Chief Executive Officer and Director of the Company; Mr. Gilles Laverdiere. 
 
The legal action against Hechi consists of a) an action under the arbitration provisions of the cooperative 
joint venture agreement that governs the operations of the Company’s 92% owned joint venture company 
in China and b) an action by the Company against Hechi in The People’s High Court, Guangxi, P.R.C. for 
the return of capital, profits and damages.  
 
In addition to the above the Company has received a statement of claim from former Chief Executive 
Officer and Director Mr. Gilles Laverdiere in which Mr. Laverdiere claims amounts allegedly due from 
August 2005 through the date of his resignation May 16, 2006. The Company has in turn filed a statement 
of defence and counterclaim to which Mr. Laverdiere subsequently filed a response regarding the 



forgoing. As of the date hereof the Company is preparing its response and is of the opinion that the 
Claiom is of no merit, is vigorously defending same and has presented a counterclaim.          
 
As these issues are currently before the Arbitration Tribunal and the Courts, the Company is necessarily 
constrained from discussing these issues in detail.     
 
Outstanding Share Data 
 
The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares and an unlimited number of 
Special Shares, issuable in series with such attributes as designated by and at the discretion of, the 
board of directors of the Company. Each Common Share and Series I Special Share entitles the holder of 
record thereof to vote at all meetings of shareholders of the Company.  
 
 
The table below summarizes the capital stock of the Company as at September 30, 2007 

 Number 
Outstanding 

 
  

98,697,074 Common Shares  
 
  

 16,404,427 Common Share Purchase Warrants  
Exercise prices range from $0.05 - $0.15 per share and expiry dates range from June 30, 2008 
– November 15, 2009  
   
 
Series I Special Shares   
Convertible into common shares of the Company for no additional payment provided that the 
Company has received confirmation that certain debts incurred in connection with the 
acquisition of the GGM assets by the Company’s Joint Venture partner have been paid in full.       
                                                                                          

 
 
 

30,200,000 
 

  
Stock Option Plan – Options       
Exercise price is $0.40 expiry date is March 27, 2010. 
 

1,925,000 

 
 
The table below summarizes the capital stock of the Company as at March 10, 2008 
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 Number 
Outstanding 

 
 
Common Shares  
 

 
109,997,081 

 
Common Share Purchase Warrants  
Exercise prices range from $0.05 - $0.15 per share and expiry dates range from June 30, 2008 
– November 15, 2009  
   

 
 23,014,427 

 
Series I Special Shares   
Convertible into common shares of the Company for no additional payment provided that the 
Company has received confirmation that certain debts incurred in connection with the 
acquisition of the GGM assets by the Company’s Joint Venture partner have been paid in full.       
                                                                                          

 
 
 

30,200,000 
 

  
Stock Option Plan – Options       
Exercise price is $0.40 expiry date is March 27, 2010. 
 

1,925,000 

 
Subsequent Events 
 
In 2007 the Company retained a Chinese consulting group resident in the province of the Companys’ 
Chinese joint venture operations in order to assert the Company’s rights over joint venture assets and 
associated cash flow. As a parallel initiative the Company began the process of searching out new 
business opportunities and new business partners in China.  
 
As of the date hereof and as indicated above, the Company’s case is before the Chinese Arbitration 
Tribunal and the Company has commenced an action against Hechi in the People’s High Court, Guangxi, 
China. Business development initiatives are on-going and the Company is engaged in due diligence 
reviews of a number of projects in China.  
 
During 2007 the Company raised gross proceeds of $1,085,000 under non-brokered private placements 
and received loans of $27,000 from directors which have been repaid. Proceeds of the financings were 
used to fund general working capital requirements and various initiatives in China. 
 
During 2008, the Corporation issued 4 million common shares at a deemed price of $0.015 per common 
share in lieu of cash. Additionally, the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) de-listed the common shares of 
HMZ Metals Inc. at the close of business on January 18, 2008 for failure to meet continued listing 
requirements of the TSX. Effective the same date, the Company received conditional approval to list its 
common shares on the CNQ Stock Exchange. Trading of the Company’s common shares is subject to the 
prior filing of outstanding interim financial statements and audited annual financial statements, any cease 
trade order or default of a securities commission requirement must be remedied and completion of all 
CNQ Listing Documentation and payment of Listing Fee. CNQ also reserves the right to amend or waive 
any of the above conditions prior to final approval. 

 
 
Additional Disclosure for Issuers without Significant Revenue 
 
6.17 
 
(1) Unless the information is disclosed in the financial statements to which the annual or 

interim MD&A relates, an Issuer that has not had significant revenue from operations in 
either of its last two financial years must disclose a breakdown of material components of 
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(a) capitalized or expensed exploration and development costs; 
 

(b) expensed research and development costs; 
 

(c) deferred development costs; 
 

(d) general and administration expenses; and 
 

(e) any material costs, whether capitalized, deferred or expensed, not referred to in 
paragraphs (a) through (d) 

 
and if the Issuer’s business primarily involves mining exploration and development, the 
analysis of capitalized or expensed exploration and development costs must be 
presented on a property-by-property basis. 

 
(2) The disclosure in the annual MD&A must be for the two most recently completed financial 

years and the disclosure in the interim MD&A for the each year-to-date interim period and 
the comparative period presented in the interim statements. 

 
• This section is not applicable to the Issuer. 

 
 
7. Market for Securities 
 
7.1 Identify the exchange(s) and quotation system(s) on which the Issuer's securities are listed and 

posted for trading or quoted. 
 

• The Issuer’s common shares were de-listed from the TSX effective the end of trading January 18, 
2008.  

 
8. Consolidated Capitalization 
 
8.1 Describe any material change in, and the effect of the material change on, the share and loan 

capital of the Issuer, on a consolidated basis, since the date of the comparative financial 
statements for the Issuer's most recently completed financial year contained in the Listing 
Statement. 

 
 During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007 the Company issued 19.1 million common 

shares, 8,849,957 common share purchase warrants and 809,930 broker warrants for gross 
proceeds of $780,000. On January 18, 2008 the Company issued 4 million common shares in 
lieu of cash at a deemed price of $0.015 per common share as payment of an invoice in the 
amount of $60,000.  

 
   
 Options to Purchase Securities 
 
9.1 State, in tabular form, as at a specified date not more than 30 days before the date of the 

Listing Statement, information as to options to purchase securities of the Issuer or a subsidiary 
of the Issuer that are held by 

 
(a) all executive officers and past executive officers of the Issuer as a group and all directors 

and past directors of the Issuer who are not also executive officers as a group, indicating 
the aggregate number of executive officers and the aggregate number of directors to 
whom the information applies, without naming them; 
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(b) all executive officers and past executive officers of all subsidiaries of the Issuer as a 
group and all directors and past directors of those subsidiaries who are not also 
executive officers of the subsidiary as a group, in each case, without naming them and 
excluding individuals referred to in paragraph (a), indicating the aggregate number of 
executive officers and the aggregate number of directors to whom the information 
applies; 

 
(c) all other employees and past employees of the Issuer as a group, without naming them; 

 
(d) all other employees and past employees of subsidiaries of the Issuer as a group, without 

naming them;  
 

(e) all consultants of the Issuer as a group, without naming them; and 
 

(f) any other person or company, including the underwriter, naming each person or 
company. 

 
 

Optionee Position with Issuer No. of 
Options 

Date of Grant Exercise 
Price 

Expiry Date 

Bovaird, J. Birks  Director,  200,000 March 28, 2005 $0.40 March 27, 2010 
Campbell, Timothy  N. Vice President, Secretary 300,000 March 28, 2005 $0.40 March 27, 2010 
Cloney, Brian M. Director 200,000 March 28, 2005 $0.40 March 27, 2010 
Peng, Lisi Office Manager 50,000 March 28, 2005 $0.40 March 27, 2010 
Ruth, Gerald Consultant 50,000 March 28, 2005 $0.40 March 27, 2010 
Smith, Kerry Damon  President, CEO, Director 925,000 March 28, 2005 $0.40 March 27, 2010 
Wilkinson, Stephen J.  Director 200,000 March 28, 2005 $0.40 March 27, 2010 
Total  1,925,000    

 
10. Prior Sales 
 
10.1 State the description or the designation each class of equity or debt securities of the Issuer and 

describe all material attributes and characteristics, including 
 

(a) dividend rights; 
 

• There are no rights to dividends other than as determined by the Issuer in its discretion  
 
 
(b) voting rights; 
 

• The common shares carry one vote per one common share 
 
(c) rights upon dissolution or winding-up; 
 

• Any rights attributable to the common shares on dissolution or wind-up are subordinate to any 
debt or trade payables in effect at the time.  

 
(d) pre-emptive rights; 
 

• The common shares do no have pre-emptive rights. 
 
(e) conversion or exchange rights; 
 

• There are no conversion or exchange rights applicable to the Issuer’s common shares.   
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(f) redemption, retraction, purchase for cancellation or surrender provisions; 
 

• There are no conversion, retraction, purchase or surrender provisions applicable to the Issuers’ 
common shares. 

 
(g) sinking or purchase fund provisions; 
 

• There are no sinking or purchase fund provisions attributable to the Issues’ common shares  
 
(h) provisions permitting or restricting the issuance of additional securities and any other 

material restrictions;  
 

• There are no provisions permitting or restricting the additional securities or any other material 
restrictions applicable to the Issuers’ common shares.  

 
(i) provisions requiring a securityholder to contribute additional capital; 
 

• There are no provisions requiring any security holder to contribute additional capital applicable to 
the Issuers’ common shares.   

 
(j) provisions for interest rate, maturity, and premium, if any of debt securities; 
 

• $420,000 Unsecured Note  
  2 year Note, bears interest at 14% payable on maturity, is redeemable by the Corporation and 
 matures December 14, 2009. 

 
(k) the nature and priority of any security for debt securities, briefly identifying the principal 

properties subject to lien or charge; 
 

• The Issuer has granted no rights of priority to the holders of its outstanding debt. 
 
(l) any material negative covenants, including restrictions against payment of dividends and 

restrictions against giving security on the assets of the Issuer or its subsidiaries, and 
provisions as to the release or substitution of assets securing debt securities; 

• There are no negative covenants associated with the Issuers’ debt.  
 
(m) the name of the trustee under any indenture relating to debt securities and the nature of 

any material relationship between the trustee or any of its affiliates and the issuer or any 
of its affiliates; and 

 
• There is no trustee acting in any such capacity in connection with the Issuers’ outstanding debt. 

 
(n) any financial arrangements between the Issuer and any of its affiliates or among its 

affiliates that could affect the security for the indebtedness. 
 

• There is no such arrangement in place. 
 
Common Shares 
The Company is currently authorized to issue an unlimited number of Common Shares, of which 100, 
397,074 Common Share are issued and outstanding at the date hereof. Holders of Common Shares are 
entitled to one vote for each Common Share held and, in the event of the liquidation, dissolution or 
winding-up of the Company, subject to the prior rights of the holders of Special Shares, to receive the 
remaining property and assets of the Company. 
 
Special Shares 
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The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Special Shares. The Special Shares may be 
issued from time to time in one or more series comprised of such number of shares and with such rights, 
privileges, restrictions and conditions attached thereto as shall be fixed by the directors of the Company.  
The Special Shares of each series will, with respect to the payment of dividends and the distribution of 
assets of the Company or the return of capital in the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of 
the Company, whether voluntary or involuntary, or any other distribution of the assets of the Company for 
the purpose of winding-up its affairs, rank on a parity with the Special Shares of every other series and 
will be entitled to a preference over the Common Shares for the amount of $0.0001 per Special Share.  
Subject to the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions that may be attached to a particular series of 
Special Shares by the directors of the Company in accordance with the rights, privileges, restrictions and 
conditions attached to the Special Shares, the holders of Special Shares will be entitled to receive notice 
of and to attend and vote, voting together with the holders of Common Shares, at any meeting of the 
shareholders of the Company, except meetings at which only holders of another class or series of shares 
of the Company are entitled to vote.  The holders of any series of Special Shares will be entitled to 
receive only such dividends, if any, as are calculated and stipulated at the time of issue thereof. 
 
Series 1 Special Shares 
30,200,000 Special Shares are currently issued and outstanding and are designated as Series 1 Special 
Shares.  Holders of Series 1 Special Shares will be entitled to receive notice of and to attend and vote 
(one vote per share, voting together with the Common Shares and all other voting shares) at all meetings 
of the shareholders of the Company, except meetings at which only holders of another class or series of 
shares of the Company are entitled to vote.  The holders of Series 1 Special Shares will not be entitled to 
receive any dividends. 
 
Each Series 1 Special Share will be convertible into one Common Share, subject to adjustment for 
normal anti-dilution events, including the subdivision, consolidation or reclassification of the outstanding 
Common Shares.  The Series 1 Special Shares will only be convertible in accordance with the provisions 
of the Fushan Agreement (see below). Each Series 1 Special Share will be redeemable by the Company 
on payment of a redemption price of $0.0001. The Series 1 Special Shares will only be redeemable in 
accordance with the provisions of the Fushan Agreement.  In addition, upon any liquidation, dissolution or 
winding up of the Company or other distribution of the assets of the Company to the shareholders of the 
Company for the purpose of winding-up its affairs, after the payment or provision for the payment of all 
debts and liabilities of the Company, each holder of Series 1 Special Shares will be entitled to receive the 
amount of $0.0001 per Series 1 Special Share in priority to any distribution being made to the holders of 
Common Shares.  The holders of Series 1 Special Shares will not be entitled to participate any further in 
the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company or other distribution of the assets of the 
Company to the shareholders of the Company. 
 
The Company and Fushan have entered into the Fushan Agreement. The Fushan Agreement provides, 
among other things, that Fushan will not encumber or dispose of any of the Series 1 Special Shares until 
the Company receives the Hechi Payment Confirmation and that, notwithstanding the rights, privileges, 
restrictions and conditions attached to the Series 1 Special Shares: (i) Fushan may not convert the Series 
1 Special Shares prior to the Company receiving the HPMC Payment Confirmation; and (ii) the Company 
may not redeem the Series 1 Special Shares unless the Hechi or the Hechi Shareholders do not make 
the HPMC Payment by May 15, 2013 (or such later date as the Company may agreement in writing) or 
the interest of GGM in the Hechi Assets is materially decreased (as determined in the sole discretion of a 
committee of the directors of the Company) as a result of either the Hechi Indebtedness or the HPMC 
Payment not being satisfied or paid, as applicable, at any time prior to the Company receiving the Hechi 
Payment Confirmation.  In the event that the Company becomes entitled to redeem the Series 1 Special 
Shares, the Company may, upon giving notice to Fushan in accordance with the provisions of the Series 
1 Special Shares, redeem all of the then outstanding Series 1 Special Shares on payment of a 
redemption price of $0.0001 per Series 1 Special Share.  Finally, pursuant to the terms of the Fushan 
Agreement, Fushan will use best efforts to (i) preserve the ownership interests of the parties in GGM 
pursuant to (and cause Hechi to perform under) the Amended and Restated Joint Venture Contract, (ii) 
ensure the continued operation of GGM, and (iii) ensure GGM's continued ownership of the Hechi Assets, 
irrespective of any law, regulation or rule in the PRC (whether currently existing or implemented in the 
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future) which may affect Fushan's ability, right or entitlement to own the Series 1 Special Shares or for the 
shareholders of Fushan to maintain their interest in Fushan. 
 
 
10.2 State the prices at which securities of the same class as the securities to be listed have been 

sold within the 12 months before the date of the Listing Statement, or are to be sold, by the 
Issuer or any Related Person and the number of securities of the class sold or to be sold at 
each price. 

 

Common Share Issuances Number Price

 
Hold Period 
Expiry Date  

February 2007 11,800,000 $0.05 n/a 

October 2007 1,700,000 $0.05 n/a 

December 2007 5,600,000 $0.01875 April 15, 2008 

January 2008 4,000,000 $0.015 May 12, 2008 
 
 
10.3 Stock Exchange Price 
 

(1) If shares of the same class as the shares to be listed were or are listed on a Canadian 
stock exchange or traded on a Canadian market, provide the price ranges and volume 
traded on the Canadian stock exchange or market on which the greatest volume of 
trading generally occurs. 

 
(2) If shares of the same class as the shares to be listed were or are not listed on a 

Canadian stock exchange or traded on a Canadian market, provide the price ranges and 
volume traded on the foreign stock exchange or market on which the greatest volume of 
trading generally occurs. 

 
(3) Information is to be provided on a monthly basis for each month or, if applicable, part 

month, of the current quarter and the immediately preceding quarter and on a quarterly 
basis for the next preceding seven quarters. 

 
Common Shares of the Issuer were listed for trading on the Toronto Stock Exchange during the period 
April 5, 2005 through January 18, 2008.  
 

Quarter High ($) Low ($) Volume 
2008  - Q1 0.02 0.01 3,841,588 
2007 – Q4 0.045 0.07 11,700,998 
Q3 0.065 0.03 19,791,582 
Q2 0.75 0.04 11,440,673 
Q1 0.12 0.055 41,068,612 
2006 – Q4 0.085 0.04 11,872,414 
Q3 0.105 0.04 7,871,441 
Q2 0.115 0.07 10,359,559 
Q1 0.25 0.07 22,620,036 

 
 
11. Escrowed Securities 
 
11.1 State as of a specified date within 30 days before the date of the Listing Statement, in 

substantially the following tabular form, the number of securities of each class of securities of 
the Issuer held, to the knowledge of the Issuer, in escrow (which, for the purposes of this Form 
includes any securities subject to a pooling agreement) and the percentage that number 
represents of the outstanding securities of that class. In a note to the table, disclose the name 
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of the depository, if any, and the date of and conditions governing the release of the securities 
from escrow. 

 
 ESCROWED SECURITIES 
 
 
Designation of class held in escrow 

 
 Number of securities 
 held in escrow 

 
 
 Percentage of class 

Series 1 Special Shares 30,200,000 100% 
* In addition to the terms of the Escrow Agreement, the Series 1 Special Shares are subject to restrictions on transfer 
and exchange until all the debts associated with the roll-in of assets to the Company’s Chinese Joint Venture by the 
Company’s Joint Venture Partner, have been paid.  
 
 
12. Principal Shareholders  
 
12.1 (1) Provide the following information for each principal shareholder of the Issuer as of a 

specified date not more than 30 days before the date of the  Listing Statement: 
 

(a) Name. 
 

(b) The number or amount of securities owned of the class to be listed 
 

(c) Whether the securities referred to in subsection 12(1)(b) are owned both of record 
and beneficially, of record only, or beneficially only. 

 
(d) The percentages of each class of securities known by the Issuer to be owned. 

 
• Please refer to Section 14  - Capitalization 

 
2) If the Issuer is requalifying following a fundamental change or has proposed an 

acquisition, amalgamation, merger, reorganization or arrangement, indicate, to the extent 
known, the holding of each person of company described in paragraph (1) that will exist 
after giving effect to the transaction. 

 
• This section is not applicable to the Issuer 

 
(3) If, to the knowledge of the Issuer, more than 10 per cent of any class of voting securities 

of the Issuer is held, or is to be held, subject to any voting trust or other similar 
agreement, disclose, to the extent known, the designation of the securities, the number or 
amount of the securities held or to be held subject to the agreement and the duration of 
the agreement.  State the names and addresses of the voting trustees and outline briefly 
their voting rights and other powers under the agreement. 

 
• This section is not applicable to the Issuer 

 
(4) If, to the knowledge of the Issuer, any principal shareholder is an associate or affiliate of 

another person or company named as a principal shareholder, disclose, to the extent 
known, the material facts of the relationship, including any basis for influence over the 
Issuer held by the person or company other than the holding of voting securities of the 
Issuer. 

 
• This section is not applicable to the Issuer 

 
(5) In addition to the above, include in a footnote to the table, the required calculation(s) on a 

fully-diluted basis. 
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• Please refer to Section 14  - Capitalization 

 
13 Directors and Officers 
 
13.1 List the name and municipality of residence of each director and executive officer of the Issuer 

and indicate their respective positions and offices held with the Issuer and their respective 
principal occupations within the five preceding years. 

 
As of March 10, 2008 

Name and Municipality        
of Residence Position 

Director 
Since Principal Occupation 

Birks Bovaird(1)(2)(3)  

Toronto, Ontario 

Director 2003 President and CEO of Toorak Holdings Limited, a 
private corporate finance and investment 
company from 2002 – 2004. Since then President 
and Chief Executive Officer of Cenit Corporation  

Common Shares owned:   97,940                            
Percentage of Class: 0.1% 

Timothy Campbell  

Toronto, Ontario 

Vice 
President 
and 
Corporate 
Secretary  

n/a President of Public Company Services Inc. since 
June 2000 during which time has acted as a 
director and officer of several publicly listed 
companies. Since September 2004 Vice 
President and Corporate Secretary of HMZ Metals 
Inc.  

Common Shares owned: 10,000                           
Percentage of Class:  0.01% 

Brian Cloney(1)(2)(3)(4)   

Mississauga, Ontario 

Director 
and 
Interim 
Chief 
Financial 
Officer  

2003 President of BMC Institutional Services Inc. and 
prior thereto President of Brian M. Cloney and 
Associates; an accounting firm. 

Common Shares owned: 140,000                
Percentage of Class: 0.1% 

Kerry D. Smith, P.Eng(2)  

Toronto, Ontario 

President, 
Chief  
Executive 
Officer 
and 
Director  

2003 President, Chief Executive Officer and Director of 
the Corporation, prior thereto President, Chief 
Operating Officer and Director of the Corporation   

Common Shares owned: 438,855                       
Percentage of Class:  04% 

Stephen Wilkinson (1)(3)    

North Vancouver, British 
Columbia 

Lead 
Director 

2003 President and Chief Executive Officer of ValGold 
Resources, Ltd. (an international mining 
development company) 

Common Shares owned: 20,834                    
Percentage of Class: 0.02% 

(1) Member of the Audit Committee.   
(2) Member of the Corporate Governance, Nominating and Compensation Committee.   
(3) Member of the Special Committee 
 
 
13.2 State the period or periods during which each director has served as a director and when his or 

her term of office will expire. 
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• Directors serve until Annual Meeting of Shareholders at which time they may stand for re-election 
or not as the case may be and any future (re)appointment shall be determined by a vote of the 
Issuer’s shareholders.     

 
 
13.3 State the number and percentage of securities of each class of voting securities of the Issuer or 

any of its subsidiaries beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, or over which control or direction 
is exercised by all directors and executive officers of the Issuer as a group. 

 
• Please see table above for number and percentage of common shares owned. 

 
 
13.4 Disclose the board committees of the Issuer and identify the members of each committee. 

 
• Please see table above for information regarding board committees and membership thereof. 

 
13.5 If the principal occupation of a director or officer of the Issuer is acting as an officer of a person 

or company other than the Issuer, disclose the fact and state the principal business of the 
person or company. 

 
• Please see table above for information regarding the principal occupation of directors and officers 

of the Issuer. 
 
13.6 If a director or officer of the Issuer or a shareholder holding a sufficient number of securities of 

the Issuer to affect materially the control of the Issuer, is, or within 10 years before the date of 
the Listing Statement has been, a director or officer of any other Issuer that, while that person 
was acting in that capacity, 

 
(a) was the subject of a cease trade or similar order, or an order that denied the other Issuer 

access to any exemptions under Ontario securities law, for a period of more than 30 
consecutive days, state the fact and describe the basis on which the order was made and 
whether the order is still in effect; or 

 
(b) became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or 

insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise 
with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets, 
state the fact. 

 
• The directors and officers listed in the table above were subject to a Management Cease Trade 

Order (the “MCTO”) until March 11, 2008 which order was requested by the Issuer pursuant to 
the decision by the Issuer’s Chinese joint venture partner to withhold financial reporting 
information thereby causing the Issuer to miss regulatory deadlines for the filing of financial 
statements.  

 
• On March 11, 2008 the MCTO was superseded and replaced by a Temporary Cease Trade 

Order (the “CTO”) imposed by the Ontario Securities Commission (the “OSC”) and the British 
Columbia Securities Commission (the “BCSC”) as the Issuer did not file a) audited financial 
statements for the year ended December 31, 2006 and b) interim financial statements for the 
periods ended March 31, 2007, June 30, 2007 and September 30, 2007 on or before March 10, 
2008 as requested by the OSC.  

 
• The aforementioned financial statements were filed by the Issuer March 11, 2008. The OSC 

revoked the CTO March 13, 2008. The BCSC is expected to revoke its CTO forthwith. 
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13.7 Describe the penalties or sanctions imposed and the grounds on which they were imposed or 
the terms of the settlement agreement and the circumstances that gave rise to the settlement 
agreement, if a director or officer of the Issuer, or a shareholder holding sufficient securities of 
the Issuer to affect materially the control of the Issuer, has 

 
(a) been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to Canadian 

securities legislation or by a Canadian securities regulatory authority or has entered into 
a settlement agreement with a Canadian securities regulatory authority; or 

 
• This section is not applicable to the Issuer.  

 
 

(b) been subject to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body 
that would be likely to be considered important to a reasonable investor making an 
investment decision. 

 
• This section is not applicable to the Issuer.  

 
13.8 If a director or officer of the Issuer, or a shareholder holding sufficient securities of the Issuer to 

affect materially the control of the Issuer, or a personal holding company of any such persons 
has, within the 10 years before the date of the Listing Statement, become bankrupt, made a 
proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or been subject to or 
instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, 
receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of the director or officer, state the fact. 

 
• None of the directors and officers in the table above has became bankrupt, made a proposal 

under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any 
proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or 
trustee appointed to hold its assets. 

 
13.9 Disclose particulars of existing or potential material conflicts of interest between the Issuer or a 

subsidiary of the Issuer and a director or officer of the Issuer or a subsidiary of the Issuer. 
 

• This section is not applicable to the Issuer.  
 
13.10 Management — In addition to the above provide the following information for each member of 

management: 
 

(a) state the individual's name, age, position and responsibilities with the Issuer and relevant 
educational background, 

 
(b) state whether the individual works full time for the Issuer or what proportion of the 

individual's time will be devoted to the Issuer, 
 

(c) state whether the individual is an employee or independent contractor of the Issuer, 
 

(d) state the individual's principal occupations or employment during the five years prior to 
the date of the Listing Statement, disclosing with respect to each organization as of the 
time such occupation or employment was carried on: 

 
(i) its name and principal business; 

 
(ii) if applicable, that the organization was an affiliate of the Issuer; 

 
(iii) positions held by the individual; and 
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(iv) whether it is still carrying on business, if known to the individual; 
 

(e) describe the individual's experience in the Issuer's industry; and 
 

(f) state whether the individual has entered into a non-competition or non-disclosure 
agreement with the Issuer. 

 
 

 Timothy N. Campbell 
• Age: 47 years old 
• Vice President, Corporate Secretary. Director of Biogan (BVI) International Inc.  
• Responsible for regulatory compliance, corporate finance 
• BA (Hons) History and Economics, extensive public issuer experience  
• Devotes approximately 50% of his time to the Issuer and is retained as a consultant  
• President of Public Company Services Inc. since June 2000 during which time has acted as a 

director and officer of several publicly listed companies. Since September 2004 Vice President 
and Corporate Secretary of HMZ Metals Inc. 

• Mr. Campbell has not entered into a non-competition or non-disclosure agreement with the 
Issuer.  

  
Brian M. Cloney 

• Age: 63 years old 
• Acting Chief Financial Officer and Director, member of the Audit, Corporate Governance, 

Nominating and Compensation, and Special Committees. Director of Biogan (BVI) International 
Inc.  

• Responsible for financial reporting.  
• C.A. extensive accounting and public issuer experience. 
• Devotes approximately 50% of his time to the Issuer and is retained as a consultant  
• President of BMC Institutional Services Inc. and prior thereto President of Brian M. Cloney and 

Associates; an accounting firm. 
• Mr. Cloney has not entered into a non-competition or non-disclosure agreement with the Issuer.  

 
 
 
Kerry D. Smith 

• Age: 53 years old 
• President and Chief Executive Officer and Director, member of Corporate Governance, 

Nominating and Compensation Committee, Director of Biogan (BVI) International Inc.  
• Responsible for execution of the Issuer’s business plan.  
• P.Eng (Mechanical), extensive experience in mining operations and the securities industry as a 

mining analyst and corporate director  
• Devotes approximately 100% of his time to the Issuer and is retained as a consultant  
• President, Chief Executive Officer and Director of the Corporation, prior thereto President, Chief 

Operating Officer and Director of the Corporation 
• Mr. Smith has not entered into a non-competition or non-disclosure agreement with the Issuer.  
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14. Capitalization 

14.1 Prepare and file the following chart for each class of securities to be listed:  

• Issuer Securities information in the table below is as of March 5, 2008.   

 
Issued Capital 

 
 
 

Number of 
Securities 
(non-diluted) 
 

Number of 
Securities 
(fully-diluted) 

% of Issued 
(non-diluted) 
 

% of 
Issued  
(fully diluted) 

Public Float     
 
Total outstanding (A)  

 
109,998,400 

 
165,137,827 

 
27% 

 
19% 

 
Held by Related Persons or 
employees of the Issuer or Related 
Person of the Issuer, or by persons or 
companies who beneficially own or 
control, directly or indirectly, more 
than a 5% voting position in the 
Issuer (or who would beneficially own 
or control, directly or indirectly, more 
than a 5% voting position in the 
Issuer upon exercise or conversion of 
other securities held) (B)  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

17,542,945 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

17,542,945 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

30,200,000 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

30,200,000 

 
Total Public Float (A-B) 

 
92,455,455 

   

     
Freely-Tradeable Float 
 

    

Number of outstanding securities 
subject to resale restrictions, 
including restrictions imposed by 
pooling or other arrangements or in a 
shareholder agreement and 
securities held by control block 
holders (C)  

 
 
 
 
 
 

9,600,000 

 
 
 
 
 
 

15,200,000 

  

 
Total Tradeable Float (A-C) 

 
82,855,455 

   

 
 
Public Securityholders (Registered) 

Class of Security 
 

    

Size of Holding  Number of holders  Total number of securities
     
1 – 99 securities  190  10,474 
     
100 – 499 securities  260  61,677 
     
500 – 999 securities  98  69,661 
     
1,000 – 1,999 securities  73  103,827 
     
2,000 – 2,999 securities  16  38,546 
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3,000 – 3,999 securities  20  67,899 
     
4,000 – 4,999 securities  10  43,665 
     
5,000 or more  securities  95  109,592,651 
     
  769  109,998,400 

 
 
 
Public Securityholders (Beneficial) 

Class of Security 
 

    

Size of Holding  Number of holders  Total number of securities
     
1 – 99 securities  433  25,560 
     
100 – 499 securities  665  170,619 
     
500 – 999 securities  223  164,654 
     
1,000 – 1,999 securities  166  223,433 
     
2,000 – 2,999 securities  95  220,016 
     
3,000 – 3,999 securities  57  184,286 
     
4,000 – 4,999 securities  42  180,378 
     
5,000 or more  securities  897  77,567,203 
     
Unable to confirm      

 
Non-Public Securityholders (Registered) 
 

Class of Security 
 

    

Size of Holding  Number of holders  Total number of securities
     
1 – 99 securities  -  - 
     
100 – 499 securities  -  - 
     
500 – 999 securities  -  - 
     
1,000 – 1,999 securities  -  - 
     
2,000 – 2,999 securities  -  - 
     
3,000 – 3,999 securities  -  - 
     
4,000 – 4,999 securities  -  - 
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5,000 or more  securities  5  707,629 
     
  5  707,629 

 
14.2 Provide the following details for any securities convertible or exchangeable into any class of 

listed securities 
 
Description of Security (include 
conversion /  exercise terms, 
including conversion / exercise 
price) 
 

Number of convertible / 
exchangeable securities 
outstanding 

Number of listed securities 
issuable upon conversion / 
exercise 

Series 1 Special Shares 30,200,000 100% 
* In addition to the terms of the Escrow Agreement, the Series 1 Special Shares are subject to restrictions on transfer 
and exchange until all the debts associated with the roll-in of assets to the Company’s Chinese Joint Venture by the 
Company’s Joint Venture Partner, have been paid.  
 
 
14.3 Provide details of any listed securities reserved for issuance that are not included in section 

14.2. 
 

• This section is not applicable to the Issuer.  
 
 
15. Executive Compensation 
 
15.1 Attach a Statement of Executive Compensation from Form 40 of Regulation 1015 of the 

Revised Regulations of Ontario, 1990 or any successor instrument and describe any intention 
to make any material changes to that compensation. 

 
• Kerry D. Smith, President and CEO: Annual Salary is $270,000 although currently he receives 

50% of this amount or $135,000. The balance of the amount is accrued and is eligible to be taken 
as stock based on a monthly weighted average calculation. 

 
• Brian Cloney, Acting CFO: Annual Salary is $216,000 although currently he receives 50% of this 

amount or $108,000. The balance of the amount is accrued and is eligible to be taken as stock 
based on a monthly weighted average calculation. 

 
• Tim Campbell, Vice-President Annual Salary is $60,000. 

 
 
15.2 Exception — Despite Item 15.1, the disclosure required under Items V, VIII, IX and X of Form 

40 may be omitted. 
 
16. Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers 
 
16.1 (1) Disclose in substantially the following tabular form all indebtedness (other than routine 

indebtedness), and the other details prescribed in paragraph (2), for each individual who 
is, or at any time during the most recently completed financial year of the Issuer was, a 
director or executive officer of the Issuer, and each associate of such an individual,  

 
(a) who is indebted to the Issuer or a subsidiary of the Issuer; or 

 
(b) whose indebtedness to another entity is the subject of a guarantee, support 

agreement, letter of credit or other similar arrangement or understanding provided 
by the Issuer or a subsidiary of the Issuer. 
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 INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 Name and 
 Principal 
 Position 
 
 (a) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 Involvement 
 of Issuer or 
 Subsidiary 
 
 (b) 

 
 
 Largest 
 Amount 
 Outstanding 
 During [Last 
 Completed 
 Financial 
 Year] 
 ($) 
 (c) 

 
 
 
 
 Amount 
 Outstanding 
 as at 
  [current 
 date] 
 ($) 
 (d) 

 
 Financially 
 Assisted 
 Securities 
 Purchases 
During [Last 
 Completed 
 Financial 
 Year] 
 (#) 
 (e) 

 
 Security 
 for 
Indebtedness 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 (f) 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
• As of the date hereof none of the directors or executive officers of the Issuer is indebted to the 

Issuer.  
 
16.2  Include the following in the table required under paragraph 16.1: 
 

(a) The name of the borrower (column (a)). 
 

(b) If the borrower is a director or executive officer, the principal position of the borrower; if 
the borrower was, during the year, but no longer is a director or executive officer, include 
a statement to that effect; if the borrower is included as an associate of a director or 
executive officer, describe briefly the relationship of the borrower to any individual who is 
or, during the year, was a director or executive officer, name that individual and provide 
the information that would be required under this subparagraph for that individual if he or 
she was the borrower (column (a)). 

 
(c) Whether the Issuer or a subsidiary of the Issuer is the lender or the provider of a 

guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or similar arrangement or understanding 
(column (b)). 

 
(d) The largest aggregate amount of the indebtedness outstanding at any time during the last 

completed financial year (column (c)). 
 
(e) The aggregate amount of the indebtedness outstanding as at a specified date not more 

than 30 days before the date of Listing Statement (column (d)). 
 

(f) If the indebtedness was incurred to purchase securities of the Issuer or of a subsidiary of 
the Issuer, separately for each class of securities the aggregate number of securities 
purchased during the last completed financial year with the financial assistance (column 
(e)). 

 
(g) The security, if any, provided to the Issuer, a subsidiary of the Issuer or the other entity 

for the indebtedness (column (f)). 
 

• This section is not applicable to the Issuer.  
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16.3 Disclose in the introduction to the table required under paragraph (1) the aggregate 
indebtedness of all officers, directors, employees, and former officers, directors and employees 
of the Issuer or a subsidiary of the Issuer outstanding as at a specified date not more than 30 
days before the date of the Listing Statement, that is owed to 

 
(a) the Issuer or a subsidiary of the Issuer; or 

 
(b) another entity if the indebtedness is the subject of a guarantee, support agreement, letter 

of credit or other similar arrangement or understanding provided by the Issuer or any of 
its subsidiaries. 

 
• This section is not applicable to the Issuer.  

 
 
16.4 Disclose in a footnote to, or a narrative accompanying, the table required under paragraph (1) 
 

(a) the material terms of the indebtedness and, if applicable, of each guarantee, support 
agreement, letter of credit or other similar arrangement or understanding, including the 
term to maturity, rate of interest and any understanding, agreement or intention to limit 
recourse, and the nature of the transaction in which the indebtedness was incurred; 

 
(b) any material adjustment or amendment made to the terms of the indebtedness and, if 

applicable, the guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or similar arrangement or 
understanding; and 

 
(c) the class of the securities purchased with financial assistance from the Issuer or held as 

security for the indebtedness and, if the class of securities is not publicly traded, all 
material terms of the securities. 

 
• This section is not applicable to the Issuer.  

 
 
17 Risk Factors 
 
17.1 Describe the risk factors material to the Issuer that a reasonable investor would consider 

relevant to an investment in the Issuer, such as cash flow and liquidity problems, if any, 
experience of management, the general risks inherent in the business carried on by the Issuer, 
environmental and health risks, reliance on key personnel, the arbitrary establishment of the 
offering price, regulatory constraints, economic or political conditions and financial history and 
any other matter that in the opinion of the Issuer would be most likely to influence the investor's 
decision to purchase, hold or sell  the Issuer's securities.  Risks should be disclosed in the 
order of their seriousness in the opinion of the Issuer. 

 
 

• The Company has lost control of its Joint Venture Assets and may not be successful 
in resolving its current dispute with its Chinese joint venture partner over the 
ownership of assets and cash flow related thereto.  

 
• The Company is currently involved in litigation against its Chinese joint venture 

partner, but may not be able to realize any settlement awarded to it in the event of a 
favourable resolution of its current dispute with its Chinese joint venture partner. The 
outcome of any litigation may be more uncertain than usual because: (i) the 
experience of the PRC judiciary is relatively limited, and (ii) the interpretation of PRC 
laws may be subject to policy changes reflecting domestic political changes. The 
laws that do exist are relatively recent and their interpretation and enforcement 
involve uncertainties, which could limit the available legal protections. Even where 
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adequate law exists in China, it may be impossible to obtain swift and equitable 
enforcement of such law or to obtain enforcement of judgments by a court of another 
jurisdiction.   

 
• The Company is exposed to political and business risks inherent to doing business in 

the PRC which risks include political risk, title, foreign exchange controls and adverse 
moves in exchange rates. The economy of the PRC has traditionally been a planned 
economy, subject to five-year and annual plans adopted by the state, which set down 
national economic development goals.  Since 1978, the PRC has been moving the 
economy from a planned economy to a more open, market-oriented system. The 
economic development of the PRC is following a model of market economy under 
socialism. Under this direction, it is expected that the PRC will continue to strengthen 
its economic and trading relationships with foreign countries and business 
development in the PRC will follow market forces and the rules of market economics.  
However, there is no guarantee that a major turnover of senior political decision-
makers will not occur, or that the existing economic policy of the PRC will not be 
changed.  A change in policies by the PRC could adversely affect the investment of 
the Corporation in GGM by changes in laws, regulations, or the interpretation thereof, 
confiscatory taxation, restrictions on currency conversion, imports and sources of 
supplies, or the expropriation of private enterprises. Further, many tax rules are not 
published, and those that are published can be ambiguous and contradictory, leaving 
a considerable amount of discretion to local tax authorities.  PRC currently offers tax 
and other preferential incentives to encourage foreign investment. However, the tax 
regime of the PRC is undergoing review and there is no assurance that such tax and 
other incentives will continue to be available. There is also no guarantee that the 
pursuit of economic reforms by the State will be consistent or effective and as a 
result, changes in the rate or method of taxation, reduction in tariff protection and 
other import restrictions, and changes in state policies affecting the industries to 
which GGM sells its products may have a negative effect on its operating results and 
financial condition. 

 
• In the absence of a favourable resolution of its current dispute with its Chinese joint 

venture partner working capital requirements associated with overheads and new 
project acquisitions and development will be met through the issuance of equity 
and/or debt securities which issuance(s) may dilute the interests of current 
shareholders. Accordingly, the inability to obtain financing by the Company could 
result in a significant loss of ownership and/or control of the assets of the Company 
and could also adversely affect the ability of the Company to fund its operations. 

 
• The success of the Corporation is highly dependent upon the continued services of 

key managerial employee namely, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, Kerry D. 
Smith.  The Company does not currently maintain key-man life insurance policies on 
any member of management.  Accordingly, the loss of this key executive or one or 
more other key members of management could have a material adverse effect on the 
Corporation. 

 
• The success of the Corporation also depends upon the ability of the Corporation to 

recruit, assimilate and retain other qualified employees. The current economic 
restructuring of the PRC and the corresponding creation of a liquid market for skilled 
employees may lead to problems retaining local Chinese management.  The loss of 
key employees and/or the inability to attract and retain management personnel could 
result in a management shortage and inefficient production which would have a 
material adverse effect on the Corporation. 

 
• The exploration and development of mineral deposits involves significant financial 

risks over a significant period of time which even a combination of careful evaluation, 
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experience and knowledge may not eliminate.  Even after the commencement of 
mining operations, such operations may be subject to risks and hazards such as 
environmental hazards, industrial accidents, cave-ins, rock bursts, unusual or 
unexpected geological formations, ground control problems and flooding. The 
occurrence of any of the foregoing could result in damage to or destruction of mineral 
properties and production facilities, personal injuries, environmental damage, delays 
or interruptions of production, increases in production costs, monetary losses, legal 
liability and adverse government action. While the Company maintains insurance 
against certain risks, the nature of these risks is such that liabilities could exceed 
policy limits or could be excluded from coverage. There are also risks against which 
the Company and its affiliates cannot insure or against which they may elect not to 
insure.  The potential costs that could be associated with any liabilities not covered 
by insurance or in excess of insurance coverage or compliance with applicable laws 
and regulations may cause substantial delays and require significant capital outlays, 
adversely affecting the future earnings and competitive position of the Corporation 
and its affiliates and, potentially, their financial positions. Numerous companies in the 
mining industry compete to acquire mining properties at various stages of 
development. Many of these companies are large with far greater financial resources 
than those of the Company.  

 
• Certain directors and officers of the Company are directors and/or officers of, or are 

otherwise associated with, other natural resource companies that acquire or may 
acquire interests in mineral properties. Such associations may give rise to conflicts of 
interest from time to time. The directors of the Company are required by law, 
however, to act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of the 
Company and its shareholders and to disclose any personal interests which they may 
have in any material transaction which is proposed to be entered into with the 
Company and to abstain from voting as a director for the approval of any such 
transaction. 

 
• The Company is defending a Claim in the amount of approximately $750,000 which 

Claim has been brought against the Company by its former Chief Executive Officer. 
The Company is of the opinion that the Claim is of no merit and has served notice of 
its intention to both defend the Claim and as part of its statement of defence has 
indicated its intention to pursue a Counter Claim in the amount of $15,000,000. 

 
 
18. Promoters  
 
18.1 For a person or company that is, or has been within the two years immediately preceding the 

date of the Listing Statement, a promoter of the Issuer or of a subsidiary of the Issuer state 
 

(a) the person or company's name; 
 

• This section is not applicable to the Issuer. 
 
 

(b) the number and percentage of each class of voting securities and equity securities of the 
Issuer or any of its subsidiaries beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, or over which 
control is exercised; 

 
• This section is not applicable to the Issuer. 
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(c) the nature and amount of anything of value, including money, property, contracts, options 
or rights of any kind received or to be received by the promoter directly or indirectly from 
the Issuer or from a subsidiary of the Issuer, and the nature and amount of any assets, 
services or other consideration therefor received or to be received by the Issuer or a 
subsidiary of the Issuer; and 

 
• This section is not applicable to the Issuer. 

 
 

(d) for an asset acquired within the two years before the date of the Listing Statement or 
thereafter, or to be acquired, by the Issuer or by a subsidiary of the Issuer from a 
promoter 

 
(i) the consideration paid or to be paid for the asset and the method by which the 

consideration has been or will be determined, 
 

(ii) the person or company making the determination referred to in subparagraph (i) 
and the person or company's relationship with the Issuer, the promoter, or an 
associate or affiliate of the Issuer or of the promoter, and 

 
(iii) the date that the asset was acquired by the promoter and the cost of the asset to 

the promoter. 
 

• This section is not applicable to the Issuer. 
 
 
18.2 If a promoter or past promoter referred to in paragraph (1) has been a director, officer or 

promoter of any person or company during the 10 years ending on the date of Listing 
Statement, that  

 
(a) was the subject of a cease trade or similar order, or an order that denied the 

person or company access to any exemptions under Ontario securities law, for a 
period of more than 30 consecutive days, state the fact and describe the basis on 
which the order was made and whether the order is still in effect; or 

 
(b) became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or 

insolvency or been subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or 
compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee 
appointed to hold its assets, state the fact. 

 
• This section is not applicable to the Issuer. 

 
 
18.3 Describe the penalties or sanctions imposed and the grounds on which they were imposed or 

the terms of the settlement agreement and the circumstances that gave rise to the settlement 
agreement, if a promoter or past promoter referred to in paragraph (1) has 

 
(a) been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to Canadian 

securities legislation or by a Canadian securities regulatory authority or has entered into 
a settlement agreement with a Canadian securities regulatory authority; or  

 
(b) been subject to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body 

that would be likely to be considered important to a reasonable investor in making an 
investment decision. 

 
• This section is not applicable to the Issuer. 
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18.4 If a promoter or past promoter referred to in paragraph (1), or a personal holding company of 

such promoter, has, within the 10 years before the date of the Listing Statement, become 
bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or been 
subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a 
receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of the director or officer, 
state the fact. 

 
• This section is not applicable to the Issuer. 

 
 
19. Legal Proceedings 
 
19.1 Describe any legal proceedings material to the Issuer to which the Issuer or a subsidiary of the 

Issuer is a party or of which any of their respective property is the subject matter and any such 
proceedings known to the Issuer to be contemplated, including the name of the court or 
agency, the date instituted, the principal parties to the proceedings, the nature of the claim, the 
amount claimed, if any, if the proceedings are being contested, and the present status of the 
proceedings. 

 
• As of the date hereof and as indicated above, the Company’s dispute with its Chinese joint 

venture partner is currently before the Chinese Arbitration Tribunal. In addition, the Company has 
commenced an action against Hechi in the People’s High Court, Guangxi, China.  

 
• The Issuer has received a Claim from its former Chief Executive Officer. The Issuer is of the 

opinion that the Claim is without merit, is defending the Claim and has served notice of its 
intention to launch a Counter Claim.    

 
• The Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) de-listed the common shares of HMZ as of the close of 

business on January 18, 2008 for failure to meet continued listing requirements of the TSX.  
 
 
20. Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions 
 
20.1 Describe, and state the approximate amount of, any material interest, direct or indirect, of any 

of the following persons or companies in any transaction within the three years before the date 
of the Listing Statement, or in any proposed transaction, that has materially affected or will 
materially affect the Issuer or a subsidiary of the Issuer: 

 
(a) any director or executive officer of the Issuer. 

 
(b) a security holder disclosed in the Listing Statement as a principal shareholder. 

 
(c) an associate or affiliate of any of the persons or companies referred to in paragraphs 1 or 

2. 
 

• There are no material transactions in which management has an interest.  
 
 
21. Auditors, Transfer Agents and Registrars 
 
21.1 State the name and address of the auditor of the Issuer. 
 

• Moore Stephens Cooper Molyneux LLP 701 Evans Avenue, 8th Floor Toronto, ON M9C 1A3  
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21.2 State the names of the Issuer's transfer agent(s) and registrar(s) and the location (by 

municipalities) of the register(s) of transfers of that class of shares.   
 

• Equity Transfer Services Inc. 400 - 200 University Ave. Toronto, ON M5H 4H1 
 
 
22. Material Contracts 
 
22.1 Give particulars of every material contract, other than contracts entered into in the ordinary 

course of business, that was entered into within the two years before the date of Listing 
Statement by the Issuer or a subsidiary of the Issuer. 

 
• The Company has not entered into any material contracts other than in the normal course of 

business. 
 
22.2 If applicable, attach a copy of any co-tenancy, unitholders' or limited partnership agreement. 
 

• This section is not applicable to the Issuer. 
 
 
23 Interest of Experts 
 

• For the year ended December 31, 2006 certain legal matters relating to the Company’s Initial 
Public Offering were passed upon on behalf of the Company and Biogan by Fraser Milner 
Casgrain LLP, Toronto, Ontario, Jun He Law Offices, Beijing, China and Dorsey & Whitney LLP, 
Toronto, Ontario and Seattle, Washington and on behalf of the Agents by Goodman and Carr 
LLP, Toronto, Ontario and Alston & Bird LLP, Washington, District of Columbia.  Partners and 
associates of each of Fraser Milner Casgrain LLP, Jun He Law Offices, Dorsey & Whitney LLP, 
Goodman and Carr LLP and Alston & Bird LLP beneficially own in the aggregate less than one 
percent of the outstanding securities of Biogan and none of the outstanding securities of the 
Company.  Micon, the author of the Micon Report which report was prepared under National 
Instrument 43-101, owns less than one percent of the outstanding securities of Biogan and none 
of the outstanding securities of the Company. KPMG LLP was the auditor for the Company for the 
year ended December 31, 2004 and in connection therewith prepared audited financial 
statements for the nine months ended September 30, 2004 for inclusion in the Company’s Initial 
Public Offering Prospectus and during the period for the year ended December 31, 2004. Moore 
Stephens Cooper Molyneux LLP was the auditor for the Company for the year ended December 
31, 2005.  

 
 
23.1 Disclose all direct or indirect interests in the property of the Issuer or of a Related Person of the 

Issuer received or to be received by a person or company whose profession or business gives 
authority to a statement made by the person or company and who is named as having 
prepared or certified a part of the Listing Statement or prepared or certified a report or valuation 
described or included in the Listing Statement. 

 
• There are no direct or indirect interests in the property of the Issuer or of a Related Person of the 

Issuer received or to be received by a person or company whose profession or business gives 
authority to a statement made by the person or company and who is named as having prepared 
or certified a part of the Listing Statement or prepared or certified a report or valuation described 
or included in the Listing Statement. 
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23.2 Disclose the beneficial ownership, direct or indirect, by a person or company referred to in Item 
23.1 of any securities of the issuer or any Related Person of the issuer. 

 
• There is no beneficial ownership, direct or indirect, by a person or company referred to in Item 

23.1 of any securities of the issuer or any Related Person of the issuer. 
 
 
23.3 For the purpose of Item 23.2, if the ownership is less than one per cent, a general statement to 

that effect shall be sufficient. 
 

• No person, director, officer or employee of a person or company referred to in Item 23.1 is or is 
expected to be elected, appointed or employed as a director, officer or employee of the issuer or 
of any associate or affiliate of the issuer. 

 
 
23.4 If a person, or a director, officer or employee of a person or company referred to in Item 23.1 is 

or is expected to be elected, appointed or employed as a director, officer or employee of the 
issuer or of any associate or affiliate of the issuer, disclose the fact or expectation. 

 
• This section is not applicable to the Issuer. 

 
 
24. Other Material Facts 
 
24.1 Give particulars of any material facts about the Issuer and its securities hat are not disclosed 

under the preceding items and are necessary in order for the Listing Statement to contain full, 
true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the Issuer and its securites. 

 
• There are no material facts about the Issuer and its securities that are not disclosed under the 

preceding items and are necessary in order for the Listing Statement to contain full, true and plain 
disclosure of all material facts relating to the Issuer and its securites. 

 
 
25. Financial Statements  
 
25.1  Provide the following audited financial statement for the Issuer: 
 

(a)  Copies of all financial statements including the auditor's reports required to be prepared 
and filed under applicable securities legislation for the preceding three years as if the 
issuer were subject to such law; and 

 
(b)  a copy of financial statements for any completed interim period of the current fiscal 

year. 
 

• Please refer to Appendix “A” for Financial Statements required under Section 25.1 (a) and (b) 
above.  
 

25.2 For Issuers re-qualifying for listing following a fundamental change provide 
 

a) the information required in Items 5.1 to 5.3 for the target; 
b) financial statement for the target prepared in accordance with the requirements of Parts                         

4,5,6,7, 8 and 9 of OSC Rule 41-501 as if the target were the Issuer; 
c) pro-forma consolidated financial statements for the New Issuer giving effect to the transaction 

for: 
d) the last full fiscal year of the Issuer and 
e) any completed interim period of the current fiscal year.  



 
• This section is not applicable to the Issuer. 

The first certificate below must be signed by the CEO, CFO, any person or company who is a  promoter 
of the Issuer and two directors of the Issuer. In the case of an Issuer re-qualifying following a fundamental 
change, the second certificate must also be signed by the CEO, CFO, any person or company who is a 
promoter of the target and two directors of the target. 

 
 
 

CERTIFICATE OF THE ISSUER 

Pursuant to a resolution duly passed by its Board of Directors, (full legal name of the Issuer), hereby 
applies for the listing of the above mentioned securities on CNQ.  The foregoing contains full, true and 
plain disclosure of all material information relating to (full legal name of the Issuer). It contains no untrue 
statement of a material fact and does not omit to state a material fact that is required to be stated or that 
is necessary to prevent a statement that is made from being false or misleading in light of the 
circumstances in which it was made. 

Dated at Toronto, Ontario   

this 28th day of March, 2008 . 

 

 

 

 

Chief Executive Officer  Acting Chief Financial Officer 

Kerry Damon Smith  Brian M. Cloney 

 

 

 

  

 

 

Director  Director 

J. Birks Bovaird  Stephen J. Wilkinson 
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Appendix “A” 
 

Audited Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2006 

Audited Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2005 

Audited Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2004 

Unaudited Interim Financial Statements for the nine months ended September 30, 2007 

Unaudited Interim Financial Statements for the six months ended June 30, 2007 

Unaudited Interim Financial Statements for the three months ended March 31, 2007 
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  1  

  Auditors' Report 

 
To the Shareholders of 
HMZ Metals Inc. 
 
We have audited the balance sheets of HMZ Metals Inc. as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 and the statements of 
operations and deficit and cash flows for the years then ended.  These financial statements are the responsibility of the 
Company's management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those standards require 
that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. 

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company 
as at December 31, 2006 and 2005 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. 

    Signed:  “MSCM LLP” 

  Chartered Accountants
  Licensed Public Accountants 
 
 
March 7, 2008 
Toronto, Ontario 
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Balance Sheets 

December 31, 2006 and 2005 
(expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
  
  2006  2005  
Assets 
 Current 

Cash $ 269,859 $ 68,787 
Accounts receivable - net  7,162  10,497 

 Prepaid expenses and deposits  38,650  27,600  
 

   315,671  106,884 
  

Investment in Gaofeng Mining Co. Ltd. (note 4)  1  1 
 Investment in Biogan International (BVI) Inc. (note 2)  1  1 
 Equipment (note 5)  12,572  16,384  
 

  $ 328,245 $ 123,270   
 
Liabilities 
 Current 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  1,654,414  1,187,515 
 

  1,654,414  1,187,515   
 
Deficiency in Assets 
 Share capital (note 8)  21,027,521  20,120,843  
 Common share warrants (note 9)  2,599,107  2,465,531  
 Contributed surplus (note 10)  1,848,700  1,848,700  
 Cumulative translation adjustment (note 3) (3,715,706) (3,715,706) 
 Deficit (23,085,791) (21,783,613)  
  (1,326,169) (1,064,245) 
 
  $ 328,245 $ 123,270    
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
 
 
Approved by the Board 
 
Signed:  “Kerry D. Smith” Signed:  “Brian Cloney” 
 
Director  Director 
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Statements of Operations and Deficit 
for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 
(expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
  
  2006  2005  

Expenses 
 Consulting fees (note 7) $ 509,249 $ 618,795 
 Corporate administration  442,066  578,795 

Legal, audit and accounting  307,753  648,855 
Salaries and benefits  53,770  1,075,682 
Interest expense (note 7)  257  86,856 
Stock based compensation (note 10)  -  1,848,700 
Amortization  3,812  3,330  

Loss from operations before under noted  1,316,907     4,861,013  
 

Other income (expense)   
 

Other income   14,729  10,221 
Write down of advances to Biogan International Inc.  -  (1,770,526) 
Write down of investment in joint venture (note 2)  -  (12,856,244)  

 

   14,729  (14,616,549) 
    
 

Net loss for the year  (1,302,178)  (19,477,562) 

Deficit, beginning of year  (21,783,613)  (2,306,051) 

 
Deficit, end of year $ (23,085,791) $ (21,783,613) 
 
 
 

Loss per share, basic and diluted $ (0.02) $ (0.38) 
  
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding,  
 basic and diluted  74,045,116  50,997,301    
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statements of Cash Flows 

for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 
(expressed in Canadian dollars)  
 

 

2006 2005
 

Cash flow from operating activities  
  Loss for the year $  (1,302,178)      $ (19,477,562)
Items not requiring cash  

Write off of balance due from Biogan International Inc.                     -             1,770,526  
Write down of investment in joint venture                     -           12,856,244  
Amortization 3,812                  3,330  
Stock based compensation                     -             1,848,700  

Change in non-cash operating working capital (note 11) 459,184                473,888  
 

         (839,182)        (2,524,874)
 

Cash flow from investing activities  
Purchase of equipment                     -                  (9,296)
Advances to joint venture                     -            (9,022,800)
Cash balance in joint venture                     -              (100,607)

 

                    -         (9,132,703)
 

Cash flow from financing activities  
Decrease in loan payable                     -              (240,000)
Issuance of share capital             951,424           11,323,726 
Common share warrants             133,576             2,068,837  
Share issue costs            (44,746)            (1,561,304)

 

        1,040,254        11,591,259  
 

Increase (decrease) in cash             201,072                (66,318)
Cash, beginning of year                68,787                135,105  
 
Cash, end of year  $        269,859   $           68,787  
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  
   

Supplementary disclosure of cash flow information:   
Cash paid during the year:   
Interest  $              257   $             16,375  
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Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2006 and 2005 
(Unless noted, all dollar amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 
 
1. Basis of Presentation  

 HMZ Metals Inc. (“HMZ”) was incorporated as a wholly owned subsidiary of Biogan International Inc. 
(“Biogan”) under the Canada Business Corporations Act on July 22, 2002.  On August 25, 2004, HMZ 
bought Biogan International (BVI) Inc. (“Biogan BVI”) from Biogan in a share exchange as part of a 
corporate reorganization of companies under common control as outlined below. The corporate 
reorganization of HMZ and Biogan BVI (collectively, the “Company”) has been accounted for using the 
continuity-of-interests method and, accordingly, the accounts of the consolidated companies prior to the 
corporate reorganization were included in these financial statements at their historical amounts. 
 
The assets of Biogan BVI consist mainly of a 92% equity interest and a 95% profit interest in Guangxi 
Guanghe Metals Co. Ltd. (“GGM”), a PRC limited liability company that holds certain assets, consisting 
mainly of a 9% interest in Gaofeng Mining Co., Ltd. (“GMC”), which owns and operates the Gaofeng 
mine and ore processing facilities, the Hechi copper refinery plant (the “Copper Refinery”) and the 
Wuxu ore processing facility (the “Wuxu Mill”). 
 
Corporation formation information 
 
In June 1998, Hechi Prefecture Mining Company (“HPMC”), a state-owned entity incorporated in 
Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region (“Guangxi”) in the PRC and Hechi Industrial Company Ltd. 
(“Hechi”), a limited company in Guangxi, transferred certain assets and liabilities from HPMC to Hechi. 
 The assets transferred from HPMC to Hechi were:  the Copper Refinery; the Wuxu Mill; a 9% equity 
interest in GMC; the Non-Ferrous Metal Trading Company (a transportation company); the Guizhou 
Louxia Coal Company (a dormant coal company); and the Hechi Antimony Industrial Company Limited 
(collectively the “HPMC Transferred Assets”). 
 
In connection with the acquisition of the HPMC Transferred Assets, Hechi assumed liabilities of HPMC 
in the aggregate amount of approximately RMB 217,664,000 (approximately US$ 26,298,000) 
consisting  of (a) an obligation of HPMC to pay to the Hechi Prefecture Government approximately 
RMB 126,000,000 (approximately US$ 15,200,000), the outstanding balance of which was 
approximately RMB 44,135,000 as of January 14, 2005 (approximately US$ 5,300,000) (the “HPMC 
Payment”), and (b) an obligation of HPMC to pay to certain creditors of HPMC (who, as a result of such 
assumption, became creditors of Hechi) RMB 91,664,000 (approximately US$ 11,075,000), the 
outstanding balance of which was approximately RMB 47,388,000 as of January 14, 2005 (US$ 
5,725,000).  The shareholders of Hechi have agreed with Hechi to pay, on behalf of Hechi, the debt 
owed by HPMC to the Hechi Prefecture Government (the outstanding portion of which is the HPMC 
Payment).  Under the terms of the   acquisition of the HPMC Transferred Assets, however, Hechi 
remains liable for the payment of the HPMC Payment to the Hechi Prefecture Government.  The Hechi 
Prefecture Government has reserved the right   to repossess the HPMC Transferred Assets in the event 
that Hechi does not make the HPMC Payment to the Hechi Prefecture Government by June 2013, but 
has agreed not to repossess the HPMC Transferred Assets before such date. 
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Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2006 and 2005 
(Unless noted, all dollar amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars)     
 
 
1. Basis of Presentation (continued)  

 Biogan and Hechi entered into a Joint Venture Contract (the “Original Joint Venture Contract”) effective 
on January 27, 2000 to create and operate Guangxi Guanghe Metals Co., Ltd. (“GGM”).  Under the 
Original Joint Venture Contract, Biogan was to contribute to GGM an aggregate of US$ 9 million in cash 
in specified instalments and US$ 200,000 in intellectual property and trademark rights (to be satisfied by 
the provision of know-how and ore processing technologies) in exchange for a 92% equity interest and a 
95% profit interest in GGM.  Hechi was to contribute the Copper Refinery, the Wuxu Mill and the 9% 
equity interest in GMC (collectively the “Hechi Assets”) in exchange for an 8% equity interest and 5% 
profit interest. 

 

 In addition, pursuant to the Original Joint Venture Contract, Biogan and Hechi entered into an Asset 
Purchase Agreement (the “APA”) effective on July 1, 2000.  The APA provided for the acquisition by 
Biogan of the Hechi Assets and related liabilities.  The purchase price for the assets was to be 16,800,000 
Biogan common shares and 31,300 Series A shares, which would have resulted in the Hechi shareholders 
obtaining approximately 73% of the outstanding Biogan common shares on a diluted basis.  In addition, 
the APA provided that an amount of US$ 2,000,000 be paid to Hechi by GGM. 

 

 HMZ is currently in a long standing dispute with Hechi as to the ownership of assets, cash flow and 
profits derived there from.  The People’s High Court, Guargxi Province, PRC has accepted HMZ’s 
application to proceed with the legal action against Hechi. As a result of the above referenced dispute, 
HMZ has written the value of its indirectly held 92% equity interest and 95% profit interest in GGM 
down to $1 pending a resolution of the current dispute (note 2). 

 
 
2. Loss of Control of Joint Venture Interest    

 
 During the prior year, the Company determined that it no longer had control over GGM as the 

Company’s joint venture partner had failed to transfer funds that had been earned by the joint venture in 
accordance with the joint venture agreement, provide monthly operating reports for joint venture assets, 
provide evidence of compliance with local laws and regulations pertaining to the lawful operation of the 
assets and enact management, operational and financial protocols mandated by the Company and its 
representatives.  

 

 As such the Company ceased consolidating the results of GGM and recorded its investment at cost 
effective January 1, 2005.  The Company has not yet taken steps to dissolve the joint venture and is 
involved in arbitration proceedings and a law suit with its joint venture partner. The Company believes 
that it is unlikely that the Chinese partner will seek, or is able to seek, any further funds from the 
Company. No claims have been made to date. 
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Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2006 and 2005 
(Unless noted, all dollar amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 
 
3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)    
 

Cumulative Translation Adjustment 
 

  Effective January 1, 2005, the Company changed its reporting currency to the Canadian dollar.  As a 
majority of the Company’s transactions are in Canadian dollars the change was to better reflect the 
Company’s business and to improve investors’ abilities to compare results with other publicly traded 
businesses in the mining industry.  Prior to January 1, 2005, the Company reported its financial 
statements in United States dollars.  As a result of the change in currency the Cumulative Translation 
Adjustment reflected in the balance sheet is $3,715,706. 

 

 Going concern 
 

 These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis in accordance with Canadian 
generally accepted accounting principles.  The going concern basis of presentation assumes that the 
Company will continue in operation for the foreseeable future and be able to realize its assets and 
discharge its liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business.  The Company has 
accumulated losses amounting to $23,085,791 that raise substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a 
going concern. 

 

 These financial statements do not reflect adjustments that would be necessary if the going concern 
assumption was not appropriate.  If the going concern basis was not appropriate for these financial 
statements, then adjustments would be necessary in the carrying value of assets and liabilities, the 
reported revenue and expenses and the balance sheet classifications used. 

 

 Measurement uncertainty 
 

 The preparation of financial statements, in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting 
principles, requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results 
could differ from those reported. 

 

 Significant estimates and assumptions in the preparation of these financial statements include, but are not 
limited to the carrying value of investments, stock based compensation, and other equity instrument 
valuations.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 

The Black-Scholes option pricing model used by the Company to determine fair value of options and 
warrants was developed for use in estimating the fair value of freely traded options.  This model requires 
the input of highly subjective assumptions including future stock price volatility and expected time until 
exercise.  Changes in the subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate, and 
therefore the existing model does not necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair value of the 
Company's stock options and warrants granted during the year. 
 

Financial instruments 
 

 The fair values of the Company’s cash, accounts receivables, and accounts payable, and accrued 
liabilities approximate their carrying values, due to the short term maturity of these financial instruments.   
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Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2006 and 2005 
(Unless noted, all dollar amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 
 
3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)    
 

 Equipment 
 

 Equipment is stated at cost less accumulated amortization.  Amortization is provided over the expected 
useful lives of the equipment using the following methods and annual rates:   

 Computer equipment 30%  declining balance 
 Furniture and fixtures  20%  declining balance 

 

 Income taxes 
 

 The Company uses the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes.  Under the asset and 
liability method, future tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences 
attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and 
liabilities and their respective tax bases (temporary differences).  Future tax assets and liabilities are 
measured using enacted or substantively enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the 
years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled.  The effect on future 
tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the year that includes the date 
of enactment or substantive enactment.  The portion of future tax assets that is more likely than not to be 
realized is recorded, net of a valuation allowance. 

 

Revenue recognition 
 

 Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement with the customer exists, delivery 
has occurred, customer takes ownership and assumes risk of loss, sales price is fixed or determinable, and 
collection of the relevant receivable is reasonably assured. 

 

 Loss per share 
 

 Basic loss per share has been calculated using the weighted average number of shares outstanding during 
the relevant years.  The effect of potentially dilutive securities has not been reflected in the calculation of 
diluted loss per share, as to do so would be anti-dilutive. 

 

Impairment of long-lived assets 
 

 Long-lived assets held for use are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that their carrying value may not be recoverable.  When the carrying value is not recoverable 
from future cash flows on an undiscounted basis and the carrying value exceeds the assets’ fair value, an 
impairment loss is recorded for the excess of carrying value over fair value. 

 

Stock based compensation 
 

 The Company grants stock options in accordance with TSX policies, as described in Note 9.  All stock-
based payments are measured at the fair value of the consideration received or the fair value of the equity 
instruments issued, whichever is more reliably measurable, with that expense being charged to the related 
activity over the vesting period.  Fair value is calculated using the Black-Scholes model for pricing 
options.  The cost of the stock-based payments that are fully vested and non-forfeitable at the grant date 
are measured and recognized at that date.  On the exercise of the stock options, consideration received 
and the accumulated surplus amounts are credited to the share capital. 
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Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2006 and 2005 
(Unless noted, all dollar amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 
 
4. Investment in Gaofeng Mining Co., Ltd.  
 
 The investment in Gaofeng Mining Co., Ltd. represents a 9% equity interest in GMC.  GMC is an 

operating polymetallic mine and ore processing facility located in Nandan County, Guangxi in the PRC.  
The carrying value of the investment at December 31, 2004 was $996,097.  During the 2005 year the 
investment was written down to $1 due to the uncertainty associated with the relationship between the 
Company and its joint venture partner in GGM. 

 
 
5. Equipment  
 
   2006

 Cost
Accumulated 
Amortization Net Book Value

 

Computer equipment $                6,299 $                2,551 $                3,748 
Furniture and fixtures                 13,415                   4,591                    8,824 

 

 $              19,714 $                7,142 $              12,572 
 

 
   2005

 Cost
Accumulated 
Amortization Net Book Value

 

Computer equipment $                6,299 $                   945 $                5,354 
Furniture and fixtures                 13,415                   2,385                  11,030 

 

 $              19,714 $                3,330 $              16,384 
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Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2006 and 2005 
(Unless noted, all dollar amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars)  
 
 
6. Income Tax Reconciliation      

 

2006 2005  
 

 Expected income tax expense (recovery) using statutory 
 income tax rates $ (470,347) $  (7,206,698) 

Permanent differences  (150,721)   684,019 
Tax benefit of losses not currently recognized  621,068   6,522,679   

 

   $ - $  - 
  

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the future tax assets at 
December 31, 2006 and 2005 are as follows: 
   

 

2006 2005  

 Future tax asset: 
 Non-capital losses $ 2,004,152 $ 1,489,442  
 Capital losses  4,680,566  5,411,905  
 Share issue and finance costs  465,873  647,402  
 Less:  Valuation allowance  (7,150,591)  (7,548,749)  
 

  $ - $ -  
 

At December 31, 2006, the Company has available certain non-capital losses of approximately 
$6,263,000  which can be applied against taxable incomes of future years expiring in various years, up to 
and including 2026 and capital losses of $14,600,000 which are available indefinitely against capital 
gains.  As a result of the uncertainty that these losses will be utilized, the Company has not recognized the 
benefit in the accounts  

 
 
7. Related Party Transactions and Balances  
  
 

The Company paid consulting fees to the Chief Executive Officer and a corporation controlled by the 
Chief Executive Officer in the amount of $270,116 (2005 - $NIL) for the year ended December 31, 2006. 
 In addition, consulting fees were paid to the Chief Financial Officer and a corporation owned by the 
Corporate Secretary in the amounts of $144,000 (2005 - $207,000) and $75,133 (2005 - $22,500) 
respectively. Consulting fees were also paid to a former officer of $20,000 (2005 - $5,200). Interest paid 
to related parties amounted to $NIL (2005 - $14,563) for the year ended December 31, 2006. 
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Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2006 and 2005 
(Unless noted, all dollar amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars)  
 
 
8. Share Capital      
 

 

 Authorized 
  Unlimited number of common shares 
  Unlimited Series 1 Special Shares 
  
  Number Amount  
 Common shares  
 Outstanding – December 31, 2004 1  $     8,797,117  
  Issued pursuant to initial public offering (a)  38,843,750       15,537,500 
 Issued to the shareholders of Biogan International Inc. (b)  30,344,656  - 
 Allocation to share warrants  -  (2,068,837) 
 Share and warrant issue costs  -  (2,144,937)    

 Balance – December 31, 2005  69,188,407      20,120,843   

 Issued under private placement (c)  7,999,993           600,000 
 Issued under private placement (d)  9,700,000           485,000 
 Allocation to share warrants  -   (133,576) 
 Share and warrant issue costs          -   (44,746)    

 Balance – December 31, 2006  86,888,400 $   21,027,521  
a) On April 6, 2005, the Company completed an initial public offering (“IPO”) and issued 38,843,750 

units for gross proceeds of $15,537,500. Each unit was comprised of one common share and one 
common share warrant. Each common share purchase warrant is exercisable at a price of $0.50 per 
common share for a period of 2 years expiring on May 6, 2007. On April 11, 2005, the Company 
used a portion of the proceeds to make its final capital contribution of US$ 7,300,000 required 
pursuant to the Amended and Restated Joint Venture contract. 3,443,000 warrants were also issued as 
part of share issue costs to various brokers. The net fair market value after issue costs ascribed to the 
common shares is $13,392,563 and to the warrants is $2,068,837. 

 

b) Pursuant to the IPO, the Company issued 30,344,656 common shares to the shareholders of Biogan 
BVI. No value has been ascribed to these shares as the value is reflected in the capital of $8,797,117 
pursuant to the continuity of interest method of accounting for the acquisition of Biogan BVI by the 
Company as described in Note 1. 

 

c) In June 2006, the Company issued 7,999,993 units for gross proceeds of $600,000. Each unit was 
comprised of one common share and one common share warrant. Each common share warrant is 
exercisable at a price of $0.10 per common share for a period of one year from closing and 
exercisable at $0.15 per common share for the second year from closing, expiring on June 30, 2008. 
589,930 warrants were also issued as part of share issue costs to various brokers. The net fair market 
value ascribed to the common shares is $508,109 and to the warrants is $91,891. 

 

d) In November 2006, the Company issued 9,700,000 units for gross proceeds of $485,000. Each unit 
was comprised of one common share and one common share warrant. Each common share warrant is 
exercisable at a price of $0.10 per common share for a period of one year from closing and 
exercisable at $0.15 per common share for the second year from closing, expiring on November 16, 
2008. 220,000 warrants were also issued as part of share issue costs to various brokers. The net fair 
market value ascribed to the common shares is $443,315 and to the warrants is $41,685. 



HMZ Metals Inc. 
 

 12

  

Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2006 and 2005 
(Unless noted, all dollar amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 
 
8. Share Capital (continued)     
   

  Number Amount  
 Series I Special Shares 
 

 Outstanding – December 31, 2004  -  $             - 
 Issued in 2005   30,200,000              -  
 

 Balance – December 31, 2005 30,200,000 - 
 Issued in 2006   - -  
 

 Balance – December 31, 2006 30,200,000 -  
 

The Special Shares will be issued from time to time in one or more series comprised of such number of 
shares and with such rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attached thereto as shall be fixed by 
the directors of the Company. 
 

The Special Shares of each series rank on a parity with the Special Shares of every other series with 
respect to the payment of dividends and the distribution of assets of the Company or the return of capital 
in the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Company, whether voluntary or 
involuntary, or any other distribution of the assets of the Company for the purpose of winding-up its 
affairs and will be entitled to a preference over the common shares for the amount of US$ 0.0001 per 
Special Share.  Subject to the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions that may be attached to a 
particular series of Special Shares by the directors of the Company in accordance with the rights, 
privileges, restrictions and conditions attached to the Special Shares, the holders of the Special Shares 
will be entitled to receive notice of and to attend and vote, voting together with the holders of common 
shares, at any meeting of the shareholders of the Company, except meetings at which only holders of 
another class or series of shares of the Company are entitled to vote.  The holders of any series of 
Special Shares will be entitled to receive only such dividends, if any, as are calculated and stipulated at 
the time of issue thereof. 
 

An aggregate of 30,200,000 Special Shares have been issued as Series 1 Special Shares.  Holders of 
Series 1 Special Shares will be entitled to receive notice of and to attend and vote (one vote per share, 
voting together with the common shares and all other voting shares) at all meetings of the shareholders 
of the Company, except meetings at which only holders of another class or series of shares of the 
Corporation are entitled to vote.  The holders of Series 1 Special Shares will not be entitled to receive 
any dividends. 
 

Each Series 1 Special Share will be convertible into one Common Share, subject to adjustment for 
normal anti-dilution events, including the subdivision, consolidation or reclassification of the 
outstanding common shares.  The Series 1 Special Shares will only be convertible in accordance with 
the provisions of the Fushan Agreement, described below. 
 

Each Series 1 Special Share will be redeemable by the Company on payment of a redemption price of 
US$ 0.0001.  The Series 1 Special Shares will only be redeemable in accordance with the provisions of 
the Fushan Agreement.  In addition, upon any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company or 
other distribution of the assets of the Company to the shareholders of the Company for the purpose of 
winding-up its affairs, after the payment or provision for the payment of all debts and liabilities of the 
Company, each holder of Series 1 Special Shares will be entitled to receive the amount of US$ 0.0001 
per Series 1 Special Share in priority to any distribution being made to the holders of common shares.  
The holders of Series 1 Special Shares will not be entitled to participate any further in the liquidation, 
dissolution or winding up of the Company or other distribution of the assets of the Company to the 
Shareholders of the Company. 
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Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2006 and 2005 
(Unless noted, all dollar amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 
 
8. Share Capital (continued)      
 

The Company and Fushan Industrial Co. Ltd. (“Fushan”), a corporation incorporated under the laws of 
the British Virgin Islands, all of the outstanding shares of which are owned by the Hechi shareholders, 
have entered into the Fushan Agreement.  The Fushan Agreement provides, among other things, that 
Fushan will not encumber or dispose of any of the Series 1 Special Shares until the Company receives 
confirmation that approximately RMB 44,135,000 (approximately US$ 5,300,000), (the “HPMC 
Payment”) being the  outstanding amount of the original indebtedness of HPMC to the Hechi Prefecture 
Government which was assumed by Hechi in connection with its acquisition of the Hechi Assets from 
HPMC, which outstanding amount is  required to be paid by Hechi to the Hechi Prefecture Government 
by June 2013.  Confirmation of the Hechi Payment will take the form of a confirmation to be received by 
the Company, such confirmation to be in form acceptable to the Company in its sole discretion, that (i) 
the HPMC Payment has been made or satisfactory arrangements for the payment of the HPMC Payment 
are in place and that the Hechi Assets are no longer, or, after the completion of such arrangements will 
not be, subject to repossession by HPMC or any governmental authority in the PRC and (ii) the Hechi 
Indebtedness has been paid in full or satisfactory arrangements for the payment of the Hechi Indebtedness 
are in place and that the Hechi Assets are no longer,  or, after the completion of such arrangements will 
not be, subject to repossession by the Hechi Creditors (“HPMC Payment Confirmation”).  
Notwithstanding the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attached to the Series 1 Special Shares: 
(i) Fushan may not convert the Series 1 Special Shares prior to the Company receiving the HPMC 
Payment Confirmation; and (ii) the Company may not redeem the Series 1 Special Shares unless Hechi or 
the Hechi shareholders do not make the HPMC Payment by May 15, 2013 (or such   later date as the 
Company may agree in  
writing) or the interest of GGM in the Hechi Assets is materially decreased (as determined in the sole 
discretion of a committee of the directors of the Company) as a result of either the Hechi Indebtedness or 
the HPMC Payment not being satisfied or paid, as applicable, at any time   prior to the Company 
receiving the Hechi Payment Confirmation.  In the event that the Company becomes entitled to redeem 
the Series 1 Special Shares, the Company may, upon giving notice to Fushan in accordance with the 
provisions of the Series 1 Special Shares, redeem all of the then outstanding Series 1 Special Shares on 
payment of a redemption price of US$ 0.0001 per Series 1 Special Share. 

 

Finally, pursuant to the terms of the Fushan Agreement, Fushan will use best efforts to (i) preserve the 
ownership interests of the parties in GGM pursuant to (and cause Hechi to perform under) the Amended 
and Restated Joint Venture Contract, (ii) ensure the continued operation of GGM, and (iii) ensure GGM’s 
 continued ownership of the Hechi Assets, irrespective of any law, regulation or rule in the PRC (whether 
currently existing or implemented in the future) which may affect Fushan’s ability, right or entitlement to 
own the Series 1 Special Shares or for the shareholders of Fushan to maintain their interest in Fushan. 
 
Share Purchase Plan 
The share purchase plan entitles certain employees of the Company to contribute up to 10% of their 
annual base salary to purchase common shares.  The Company matches each participant’s contribution.  
At December 31, 2006 no shares had been issued under this plan. 
 
Share Bonus Plan 
 

The share bonus plan permits common shares to be issued as a discretionary bonus to any director, 
employee (full-time or part-time), officer or consultant of the Company or any subsidiary thereof who is 
designated under the share bonus plan from time to time.  At December 31, 2006 no shares had been 
issued under this plan. 
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Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2006 and 2005 
(Unless noted, all dollar amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 
 
9. Common Share Warrants    

 
A summary of the Company’s outstanding common share purchase warrants, as at December 31, 2006 
and 2005 and changes during the years are as follows:  

  Number Amount  
 

 Balance – December 31, 2004  671,000 $    334,694 
 Issued pursuant to IPO (note 8(a)) 42,286,750  2,068,837 
 Issued pursuant to acquisition of Biogan (BVI) International Inc.   5,493,738  - 
 Issued pursuant to repayment of promissory notes  341,250  62,000   

 Balance – December 31, 2005                                                                 48,792,738       2,465,531 
  

 Issued pursuant to private placement (note 8(c))  4,589,927      91,891 
 Issued pursuant to private placement (note 8(d))  5,070,000     41,685 
 
 Balance – December 31, 2006 58,452,665 $ 2,599,107 
 
 

 

The fair value of the warrants issued in 2007 has been determined to be $133,576, using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model based on the following assumptions: 

 

Risk free interest rate   4.18 %  
Dividend yield    NIL  
Expected stock volatility   81 %  
Expected life   2 Years 

 

The fair value of the warrants issued in 2006 has been determined to be $2,068,837, using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model based on the following assumptions: 

 

Risk free interest rate   3.95 %  
Dividend yield    NIL  
Expected stock volatility   81 %  
Expected life   2 Years 

 

Warrants issued in fiscal years prior to 2006 all expire on April 6, 2007. 
 
 
10. Stock Based Compensation  
 

 Share Option Plan 
 

 Pursuant to the share option plan, the directors have the authority to grant options to any director, 
employee (full-time or part-time), officer or consultant of the Company or any subsidiary thereof. Options 
must be exercised no later than 10 years after the date of the grant, or such earlier period as determined by 
the directors at the time of the grant, and are subject to vesting provisions unless the directors of the 
Company determine otherwise.  Options granted are exercisable in whole or in part, at any time from the 
date of grant of such options.  The number of shares issuable under the stock option plan is a rolling 
maximum of 10% of shares issued and outstanding (calculated on a non-diluted basis) from time to time. 
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Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2006 and 2005 
(Unless noted, all dollar amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 
 
10. Stock Based Compensation (continued)  
  

On March 28, 2005, the Company issued 6,900,000 options under the share option plan. The options are 
exercisable at $0.40 per share. All options vested immediately on issue, and expire in March 2010. 
 

The compensation expense for options granted during the year ended December 31, 2005 of $1,848,700 is 
included in the statement of operations and deficit. The fair value was estimated using the Black-Scholes fair 
value option pricing model using the following assumptions: 
 

Risk free interest rate   3.95 %  
Dividend yield    NIL  
Expected stock volatility   81 %  
Expected life   5 Years 
 

The Company has used the average volatility for nine companies with assets in the PRC or considered to be 
comparable. 
 

The expired options were held by former officers, directors and consultants of the Company and expired upon 
resignation during the fiscal year, pursuant to the terms in the stock option plan. 

 
 
11. Changes in Non-Cash Operating Working Capital  

 

2006 2005   

 Decrease in accounts receivable, net      $     3,335    $        63,920 
 Increase in other current assets  (11,050)   (9,305) 
 Increase (decrease) in trade accounts payable   466,899              195,237 
 Increase in amount due to a related party  -              224,036   
 

  $ 459,184 $ 473,888 
   
 

 
12. Commitments and Contingencies 

 
 

Commitments 
 

The Company leases office facilities at $10,400 per month expiring November 30, 2012. It is anticipated 
that half the amount payable under the lease will be offset by sub-tenancy agreement(s).  
 

Contingencies 
 

The Company has received notice of a potential claim by its former CEO in the amount of approximately 
$500,000 relating to his ceasing to be an officer and director of HMZ. The Company will vigorously defend any 
action commenced by the former director and officer. 
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December 31, 2006 and 2005 
(Unless noted, all dollar amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 
13. Subsequent Events  

 
 
a) During 2007, the Company raised gross proceeds of $675,000 under two private placements for the 

issuance of 13,500,000 common shares and  7,754,500  share purchase warrants each exercisable at 
prices ranging from $0.05 to $0.15 for a period of 2 years.  In addition, the Company raised gross 
proceeds of $105,000 under a private placement for the issuance of 5,600,000 common shares, 
5,600,000 share purchase warrants each exercisable at a price of $0.025 for a period of 2 years, and a 
discounted note payable of $315,000.  The note payable has a term of 2 years, bears interest at 14% 
payable on maturity, is redeemable by the Company, and has a maturity value of $420,000.  The 
Company also received loans of $27,000 which has been repaid. 

 
b) During 2008, the Company issued 4,000,000 common shares at a deemed price of $0.015 per 

common share in lieu of cash to repay shareholder debt due to a lack of working capital.  
 
c) The Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) de-listed the common shares of HMZ Metals Inc. at the close 

of business on January 18, 2008 for failure to meet continued listing requirements of the TSX. 
Effective the same date, the Company received conditional approval to list its common shares on the 
CNQ Stock Exchange. Trading of the Company’s common shares is subject to the prior filing of 
outstanding interim financial statements and audited annual financial statements, any cease trade 
order or default of a securities commission requirement must be remedied and completion of all CNQ 
Listing Documentation and payment of the Listing Fee. CNQ also reserves the right to amend or 
waive any of the above conditions prior to final approval. 
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Auditors' Report 

 
To the Shareholders of 
HMZ Metals Inc. 

We have audited the balance sheet of HMZ Metals Inc. as at December 31, 2005 and the statements of 
operations and deficit and cash flows for the year then ended.  These financial statements are the 
responsibility of the Company's management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those standards 
require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are 
free of material misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used 
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. 

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
Company as at December 31, 2005 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended 
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. 

The financial statements as at December 31, 2004 and for the year then ended were audited by other auditors 
who expressed an opinion without reservation on those statements in their report dated April 28, 2005. 

Signed:  “Moore Stephens Cooper Molyneux LLP” 

 Chartered Accountants 
 Licensed Public Accountants 
 
Toronto, Ontario 
November 23, 2007 
(except as to Note 14, which is as of December 19, 2007) 
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Balance Sheet 

December 31, 2005 and 2004 

(expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
  

  2005  2004 
   (note 2)  

Assets 

 Current 
Cash $ 68,787 $ 135,105 

Accounts receivable - net  10,497  141,836 

Prepayments to suppliers - net  -  2,516,748 

Due from Hechi Industrial Company (note 9)  -  880,945 

Due from Biogan International Inc. (note 9)  -  73,923 

Inventories (note 4)  -  2,531,172 

Other  27,600  951,503  

   106,884  7,231,232 

 Share and warrant issue costs  -  576,359 

 Investment in Gaofeng Mining Co. Ltd. (note 5)  1  996,097 

 Investment in Biogan International (BVI) Inc. (note 2)  1  - 

 Property, plant and equipment (note 6)  16,384  5,542,783 

 Loan prepayments (note 7)  -  84,500 

 Future tax asset (note 8)  -  362,283  

  $ 123,270 $ 14,793,254  

Liabilities 

 Current 
Loans payable (note 10) $ - $ 3,289,874 

Due to Biogan International Inc. (note 9)  -  2,305,436 

Due to Gaofeng Mining Co. Ltd. (note 9)  -  752,332 

Accounts payable  1,187,515  1,758,646 

Accrued liabilities and other payables  -  2,387,292 

Income taxes payable  -  876,018  

   1,187,515  11,369,598  
 

Minority Interest  -  313,602  

Deficiency in Assets 

 Share Capital (note 11)  20,120,843  8,797,117 

 Common Share Warrants (note 11)  2,465,531  334,694 

 Contributed Surplus (note 11)  1,848,700  - 

 Cumulative Translation Adjustment (note 3)  (3,715,706)  (3,715,706) 

 Deficit  (21,783,613)  (2,306,051)  

   (1,064,245)  3,110,054  

  $ 123,270 $ 14,793,254     
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
 

Approved by the Board 

      
Kerry D. Smith  Brian Cloney
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Statement of Operations and Deficit 
for the year ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 

(expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
  

  2005  2004 
   (note 2)  

Sales $ - $ 20,545,705 
 

Cost of Sales  -  18,247,609 

   -  2,298,096  

Expenses 

 Selling, general and administrative  -  1,502,221 
Corporate administration  578,795  1,056,135 
Salaries and benefits  1,075,682  - 
Stock based compensation (note 11)  1,848,700  - 
Consulting fees  618,795  - 
Legal, audit and accounting  648,855  - 
Interest expense  86,856  273,143 
Interest income  (10,221)  (73,263) 
Other loss  -  210,030 
Amortization  3,330  -  

   4,850,792  2,968,266  
 

Loss from operations before under-noted     (4,850,792) (670,170) 
 

Write down of advances to Biogan International Inc.  (1,770,526)  - 
Write down of investment in joint venture (note 2)  (12,856,244)  -  

 
Loss before income taxes and minority interest  (19,477,562) (670,170) 
 

Income taxes (recovery) 
Current  -  677,717 
Future  - (392,212)  

   - (285,505)  
 
Loss before minority interest  (19,477,562) (955,675) 
 
Minority interest  -  (5,075)  
 

Loss for the year  (19,477,562) (960,750) 
 

Deficit, beginning of year  (2,306,051) (1,345,301) 
 

Deficit end of year $ (21,783,613) $(2,306,051) 
 

Loss per share, basic and diluted $ 0.38 $ 960,750 
 
 
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding,  
 basic and diluted  50,997,301  1    
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Cash Flows 

for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 

(expressed in Canadian dollars) 
  

Cash flow from operating activities   2005  2004 
   (note 2)  

 Loss for the year $(19,477,562)  $ (960,750) 

 Items not requiring cash 
  Write off of balance due from Biogan International Inc.  1,770,526  - 
  Write down of investment in joint venture  12,856,244  - 
  Amortization  3,330  395,205 
  Stock based compensation  1,848,700  - 
  Amortization of lease payments  -  4,815 
  Minority interest  -  5,075 
  Future income taxes  -  (392,212) 
  Change in non-cash operating working capital (note 12)  473,888  (1,648,356)  

    (2,524,874)  (2,596,223)  

 
Cash flow from investing activities 

 Purchase of equipment  (9,296) (144,965) 
 Lease expenditure  -  (1,301) 
 Advance from Gaofeng Mining Company Ltd.  -  15,746 
 Advances to joint venture  (9,022,800)  - 
 Cash balance in joint venture  (100,607)  -  

    (9,132,703) (130,520)  

 
Cash flow from financing activities 

 (Decrease) increase in loan payable  (240,000)  2,775,543 
 Issuance of share capital  11,323,726  - 
 Common share warrants  2,068,837  362,022 
 Share issue costs  (1,561,304) (583,633)  

    11,591,259  2,553,932  
 

Effect of foreign exchange translation on cash  -  118,791  

 

Decrease in cash  (66,318)  (54,020) 
 

Cash, beginning of year   135,105  189,125  
 

Cash, end of year $ 68,787 $ 135,105 
  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
 

Supplementary disclosure of cash flow information: 
 

Cash paid during the year: 
 Interest $ 16,375 $ 273,143 
 Income taxes $ - $ 5,335
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Notes to Financial Statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 

(Unless noted, all dollar amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 
 
1. Basis of Presentation  

 HMZ Metals Inc. (“HMZ” or the “Company”) was incorporated as a wholly owned subsidiary of Biogan 
International Inc. (“Biogan”) under the Canada Business Corporations Act on July 22, 2002.  On August 
25, 2004, HMZ bought Biogan International (BVI) Inc. (“Biogan BVI”) from Biogan in a share exchange 
as part of a corporate reorganization of companies under common control as outlined below.  The 
corporate reorganization of HMZ and Biogan BVI (collectively, the “Corporation”) has been accounted 
for using the continuity-of-interests method and, accordingly, the accounts of the consolidated companies 
 prior to the corporate reorganization have been included in these financial statements at their historical 
amounts. 

 

The assets of Biogan BVI consist mainly of a 92% equity interest and a 95% profit interest in Guangxi 
Guanghe Metals Co. Ltd. (“GGM”), a PRC limited liability company that holds certain assets, consisting 
mainly of a 9% interest in Gaofeng Mining Co., Ltd. (“GMC”), which owns and operates the Gaofeng 
mine and ore processing facilities, the Hechi copper refinery plant (the “Copper Refinery”) and the Wuxu 
ore processing facility (the “Wuxu Mill”). 
 

Corporation formation information: 
 

In June 1998, Hechi Prefecture Mining Company (“HPMC”), a state-owned entity incorporated in 
Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region (“Guangxi”) in the PRC and Hechi Industrial Company Ltd. 
(“Hechi”), a limited company in Guangxi, transferred certain assets and liabilities from HPMC to Hechi.  
The assets transferred from HPMC to Hechi were:  the Copper Refinery; the Wuxu Mill; a 9% equity 
interest in GMC; the Non-Ferrous Metal Trading Company (a transportation company); the Guizhou 
Louxia Coal Company (a dormant coal company); and the Hechi Antimony Industrial Company Limited 
(collectively the “HPMC Transferred Assets”). 
 

In connection with the acquisition of the HPMC Transferred Assets, Hechi assumed liabilities of HPMC 
in the aggregate amount of approximately RMB 217,664,000 (approximately US$ 26,298,000) consisting 
   of (a) an obligation of HPMC to pay to the Hechi Prefecture Government approximately RMB 
126,000,000 (approximately US$ 15,200,000), the outstanding balance of which is approximately RMB 
44,135,000 as of January 14, 2005 (approximately US$ 5,300,000) (the “HPMC Payment”), and (b) an 
obligation of HPMC to pay to certain creditors of HPMC (who, as a result of such assumption, became 
creditors of Hechi) RMB 91,664,000 (approximately US$ 11,075,000), the outstanding balance of which 
is approximately RMB 47,388,000 as of January 14, 2005 (US$ 5,725,000).  The shareholders of Hechi 
have agreed with Hechi to pay, on behalf of Hechi, the debt owed by HPMC to the Hechi Prefecture 
Government (the outstanding portion of which is the HPMC Payment).  Under the terms of the   
acquisition of the HPMC Transferred Assets, however, Hechi remains liable for the payment of the 
HPMC Payment to the Hechi Prefecture Government.  The Hechi Prefecture Government has reserved 
the right   to repossess the HPMC Transferred Assets in the event that Hechi does not make the HPMC 
Payment to the Hechi Prefecture Government by June, 2013, but has agreed not to repossess the HPMC 
Transferred Assets before such date. 
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1. Basis of Presentation (continued)  

 Biogan and Hechi entered into a Joint Venture Contract (the “Original Joint Venture Contract”) effective 
on January 27, 2000 to create and operate Guangxi Guanghe Metals Co., Ltd. (“GGM”).  Under the 
Original Joint Venture Contract, Biogan was to contribute to GGM an aggregate of US$ 9 million in cash 
in specified instalments and US$ 200,000 in intellectual property and trademark rights (to be satisfied by 
the provision of know-how and ore processing technologies) in exchange for a 92% equity interest and a 
95% profit interest in GGM.  Hechi was to contribute the Copper Refinery, the Wuxu Mill and the 9% 
equity interest in GMC (collectively the “Hechi Assets”) in exchange for an 8% equity interest and 5% 
profit interest. 

 

 In addition, pursuant to the Original Joint Venture Contract, Biogan and Hechi entered into an Asset 
Purchase Agreement (the “APA”) effective on July 1, 2000.  The APA provided for the acquisition by 
Biogan of the Hechi Assets and related liabilities.  The purchase price for the assets was to be 16,800,000 
Biogan common shares and 31,300 Series A shares, which would have resulted in the Hechi shareholders 
obtaining approximately 73% of the outstanding Biogan common shares on a diluted basis.  In addition, 
the APA provided that an amount of US$ 2,000,000 be paid to Hechi by GGM. 

 

 HMZ is currently in a long standing dispute with Hechi as to the ownership of assets, cash flow and 
profits derived there from.  As a result of the above referenced dispute, HMZ has written the value of its 
indirectly held 92% equity interest and 95% profit interest in GGM down to $1 pending a resolution of 
the current dispute. 

 
 
2. Loss of Control of Joint Venture Interest  
 

During the year, the Company determined that it no longer had control over GGM as the Company’s joint 
venture partner had failed to; transfer funds that had been earned by the joint venture in accordance with 
the joint venture agreement, provide monthly operating reports for joint venture assets, provide evidence 
of compliance with local laws and regulations pertaining to the lawful operation of the assets and enact 
management, operational and financial protocols mandated by Company and its representatives.  

 

 As such the Company ceased consolidating the results of GGM and recorded its investment at cost 
effective January 1, 2005.  Comparative figures as at December 31, 2004 and for the year ended 
December 31, 2004 have not been restated.  For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005 due to the 
uncertainty of recovering such amounts, the investment in GGM owned through Biogan BVI (amounting 
to $12,856,244) was written down to $1. 

 

 The Company has not yet taken steps to dissolve the joint venture and is involved in arbitration 
proceedings with its joint venture partner. The Company believes that it is unlikely that the Chinese 
partner will seek, or is able to seek, any further funds from the Company. No claims have been made to 
date. 
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3. Significant Accounting Policies    

 Change in reporting currency 
 

  Effective January 1, 2005, the Company changed its reporting currency to the Canadian dollar. As a 
majority of the Company’s transactions are in Canadian dollars the change is to better reflect the 
Company’s business and to improve investors’ abilities to compare results with other publicly traded 
businesses in the mining industry.  Prior to January 1, 2005, the Company reported its financial 
statements in United States dollars.  The related financial statements and corresponding notes prior to 
January 1, 2005 have been restated to the Canadian dollar for comparison to the 2005 financial results. 

 

 In making this change, the Company has followed recommendations of the Emerging Issues Committee 
of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants, set out in EIC-130, “Translation Method When The 
Reporting Currency Differs From The Measurement Currency or There is a Change in The Reporting 
Currency”.  These guidelines require that the financial statements be translated into the reporting currency 
using the current rate method.  Under this method, the statement of operations and cash flow items for 
each year are translated into the reporting currency using the average rate in effect for the period, and 
assets and liabilities are translated using the exchange rate at the period end.  All resulting exchange 
differences are reported as a separate component of shareholders’ equity titled “Cumulative Translation 
Adjustment”. 

 

 These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles (“Canadian GAAP”). 

 

 Going concern 
 

 These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis in accordance with Canadian 
GAAP.  The going concern basis of presentation assumes that the Corporation will continue in operation 
for the foreseeable future and be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities and commitments in 
the normal course of business.  The Corporation has accumulated losses amounting to $21,783,613 that 
raise substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern. 

 

 These financial statements do not reflect adjustments that would be necessary if the going concern 
assumption was not appropriate.  If the going concern basis was not appropriate for these financial 
statements, then adjustments would be necessary in the carrying value of assets and liabilities, the 
reported revenue and expenses and the balance sheet classifications used. 

 

 Measurement uncertainty 
 

 The preparation of financial statements, in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting 
principles, requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results 
could differ from those reported. 

 

 Significant estimates and assumptions in the preparation of these financial statements include, but are not 
limited to the carrying value of investments, stock-based compensation, and other equity instrument 
valuations. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)    

 Measurement uncertainty (continued) 
 

 The Black-Scholes option valuation model used by the Company to determine fair values was developed 
for use in estimating the fair value of freely traded options.  This model requires the input of highly 
subjective assumptions including future stock price volatility and expected time until exercise.  Changes 
in the subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimates, and therefore the 
existing model does not necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair value of the Company’s 
stock options and warrants granted during the year. 

 

 Foreign currency translation 
 

 The reporting currency of the Corporation is the Canadian dollar.  Monetary assets and liabilities of the 
Corporation arising in foreign currencies are translated into Canadian dollars at the exchange rate in 
effect at the balance sheet date.  All other assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses arising in foreign 
currencies are translated at the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the respective transactions.  The 
resulting gains or losses on foreign exchange are included in the results of operations for the year. 

 

 Financial instruments 
 

 The fair values of the Corporation’s cash,  accounts and other receivables, loans payable, accounts 
payable, accrued liabilities and other payables approximate their carrying values, due to the short term to 
maturity of these financial instruments.  The fair value of balances due from and to related parties is not 
determinable due to the related party nature of the transactions. 

 

 Inventories 
 

 Raw materials and spare parts, auxiliary materials and consumables are stated at the lower of cost and 
replacement cost.  Inventories of finished goods and work in progress are stated at the lower of cost and 
net realizable value.  Cost includes the cost of purchase computed using the weighted average method 
and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of 
production overheads. 

 

 Prepayments to suppliers 
  

 Prepayments to suppliers represent cash advances made to suppliers for the purchase of raw materials.  
The allowance for prepayments to suppliers is the Corporation’s best estimate of the amount that is not 
recoverable.  Prepayments are charged off against the allowance after all means of recovering these 
amounts have been exhausted and the potential for recovery is considered remote. 

 

 Property, plant and equipment 
 

 Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated amortization.  The amortization of 
property and equipment is calculated on a straight-line basis over the expected useful life of the assets 
less their estimated residual value.  The respective expected useful lives of property, plant and equipment 
are as follows 

  

 Property, plant and buildings - 20 – 30 years 
 Machinery and equipment -  15 – 20 years 
 Motor vehicles -  5 years 
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)    

 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 
 

 The carrying value of property, plant and equipment is reviewed for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.  
Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an 
asset to estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the assets.  If the carrying 
amount of an asset exceeds it estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized by the 
amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset.  Assets to be 
disposed of would be separately presented in the balance sheets and reported at the lower of the carrying 
amount or fair value less costs to sell, and are no longer amortized.  The assets and liabilities of a 
disposed group classified as held for sale would be presented separately in the appropriate asset and 
liability sections of the balance sheets. 

 

 Lease prepayments 
 

 Lease prepayments represent land use rights paid to the PRC’s Ministry of Land and Resource.  Land use 
rights are carried at cost and amortized on a straight-line basis over 30 years.  Amortization of lease 
prepayments for the year ended December 31, 2004 was $3,700, all of which was recorded in cost of 
sales for the year. 

 

 Investment in Gaofeng Mining Co., Ltd. 
 

 The Gaofeng investment represents a 9% equity interest in GMC and is held as a long-term investment 
and accounted for using the cost method.  GGM owns the 9% equity interest and dividends are 
recognized as income when declared.  Diminution in value in the investment which is other than a 
temporary decline is recognized in the statements of operations. 

 

 Income taxes 
 

 The Corporation uses the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes.  Under the asset and 
liability method, future tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences 
attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and 
liabilities and their respective tax bases (temporary differences).  Future tax assets and liabilities are 
measured using enacted or substantively enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the 
years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled.  The effect on future 
tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the year that includes the date 
of enactment or substantive enactment.  The portion of future tax assets that is more likely than not to be 
realized is recorded, net of a valuation allowance. 

 

 Revenue recognition 
 

 Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement with the customer exists, delivery 
has occurred, customer takes ownership and assumes risk of loss, sales price is fixed or determinable, and 
collection of the relevant receivable is reasonably assured. 

 

 Loss per share 
 

 Basic loss per share has been calculated using the weighted average number of shares outstanding during 
the relevant years.  The effect of potentially dilutive securities has not been reflected in the calculation of 
diluted loss per share, as to do so would be anti-dilutive. 
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)    
 

 Impairment of long-lived assets 
 

 Long-lived assets held for use are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances  
indicate that its carrying value may not be recoverable.  When the carrying value is not recoverable from 
future cash flows on an undiscounted basis and the carrying value exceeds the assets’ fair value, an 
impairment loss is recorded for the excess of carrying value over fair value. 

 

 Stock-based compensation 
 

 The Company grants stock options in accordance with TSX policies, as described in Note 11.  All stock-
based payments are measured at the fair value of the consideration received or the fair value of the equity 
instruments issued, whichever is more reliably measurable, with that expense being charged to the related 
activity over the vesting period.  Fair value is calculated using the Black-Scholes model for pricing 
options.  The cost of the stock-based payments that are fully vested and non-forfeitable at the grant date is 
measured and recognized at that date.  On the exercise of the stock options, consideration received and 
the accumulated surplus amounts are credited to the share capital. 

 
 
4. Inventories  

2005 2004 
   (note 2)  

Raw materials   $ - $     1,377,372 
Work in progress    -  107,699 
Finished goods    -  258,791 
Spare parts, auxiliary materials and consumables   -  296,293 
Finished goods in transit    -  491,017  

 

   $ - $ 2,531,172 
  

 
 
5. Investment in Gaofeng Mining Co., Ltd.    

 
 The investment in Gaofeng Mining Co., Ltd. represents a 9% equity interest in GMC.  GMC is an 

operating polymetallic mine and ore processing facility located in Nandan County, Guangxi in the PRC.  
The carrying value of the investment at December 31, 2004 was $996,097.  During the current year the 
investment was written down to $1 due to the uncertainty associated with the relationship between the 
Corporation and its joint venture partner in GGM. 
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6. Property, Plant and Equipment  
 Accumulated Net Book 
 2005 Cost Amortization Value     

 Machinery and equipment $ 19,714 $ 3,330 $ 16,384    

 
  
 Accumulated Net Book 
 2004 (note 2) Cost Amortization Value     

 Property, plant and buildings $ 4,161,444 $ 1,298,040 $ 2,863,404 
 Machinery and equipment  4,686,478  2,160,715  2,525,763 
 Motor vehicles  251,458  163,111  88,347 
 Assets under construction  65,269  -  65,269  
 

  $ 9,164,649 $ 3,621,866 $ 5,542,783    

 
 
7. Lease Prepayments  

2005 2004 
   (note 2)  

Land use right, as cost $ - $ 133,182 
Less: Accumulated amortization  -  48,681  

 

   $ - $ 84,501 
  

 
 
8. Income Taxes  
 

The Corporation and its subsidiaries are subject to income taxes in Canada and the PRC.  It is also 
possible that certain United States federal taxes may be applicable to the Corporation as a consequence of 
the manner of the formation of the Corporation, as described in note 1 for periods subsequent to August 
25, 2004.  The Corporation believes that any such application of United States taxation would not have 
any significant effect on the financial statement for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 and 
2004.  A reconciliation between taxes calculated by applying the Canadian statutory tax rate of 
approximately 37% in 2005 (2004 – 37%) to loss before income taxes and minority interest is as follows: 
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8. Income Taxes (continued)  

2005 2004 
   (note 2)  

 

 Expected income tax expense (recovery) using statutory 
 Income tax rates $ (7,206,698) $ (247,898) 
 Permanent differences  684,019  158,238 
 Tax benefit of losses not currently recognized  6,522,679  390,650 
 PRC tax rate difference  -  (15,485)  
 

   $ - $ 285,505 
  

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the future tax assets at 
December 31, 2005 and 2004 are as follows: 

 
  

2005 2004 
   (note 2)  

 Future tax asset: 
 Accounts receivable and prepayments to suppliers principally 
    due to allowance for doubtful accounts $ - $ 549,554 
 Non-capital losses  1,489,442  945,974 
 Capital losses  5,411,905  - 
 Share issue and finance costs  647,402  - 
 Less:  Valuation allowance  (7,548,749)  (1,133,246)  
 

   $ - $ 362,283 
  

At December 31, 2005, the Corporation has available certain non-capital losses of approximately $4,025,000 
which can be applied against taxable incomes of future years expiring in various years, up to and including 
2025 and capital losses of $14,600,000 which are available indefinitely against capital gains.  As a result of 
the uncertainty that these losses will be utilized, the company has not recognized the benefit in the accounts.
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9. Related Party Transactions and Balances  
 
 Amounts due from (to) related parties as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 are summarized as follows: 
 

   Interest rate    2005   2004 
         (note 2)  

 Amount due from Hechi, net (a) See below $ - $ 880,945 
 Amount due from Biogan (b) Non-interest bearing $ - $ 73,923 
 Payable to Biogan (b) See below $ - $ (2,305,436) 
 Amount due to GMC (c) Non-interest bearing $ - $ (752,332) 

 
All amounts from (to) related parties are unsecured and payable on demand.  Amounts are recorded at the 
transaction value. 

 

(a) As described in Note 2, all amounts due from Hechi have been written off during the year ended 
December 31, 2005.  The balance in the prior year mainly represented trading balances with Hechi, 
interest payable to Hechi and expenses paid or received by Hechi on behalf of the Corporation.  The 
amount also includes a recoverable balance from Hechi being prior year’s excess dividends received by 
Hechi from GMC (note 9(c)). 

 

 Amounts due from Hechi have been presented on a net basis as a legal right of offset of amounts due 
from Hechi exists.  Amounts due from Hechi bear interest at rates ranging from non-interest bearing to 
7.8% per annum. 

 

(b) Pursuant to a voluntary bankruptcy of Biogan International Inc., a Delaware Corporation, the amounts 
due from and amounts due to have been written off during the year.  The total amount of the write-down 
is $1,770,526.  The balance due from Biogan in the prior year mainly represents professional expenses 
paid by the Corporation on behalf of Biogan. 

 

 The payable to Biogan in the prior year includes a note payable amounting to $2,043,400 (US 
$1,700,000) which is payable on demand from Biogan.  The remaining balance represents additional non-
interest bearing advances. 

 

(c) The amount due to GMC in the prior year includes advances received by the Corporation and excess 
dividends received by Hechi from GMC amounting to $665,187, the liability of which was transferred to 
GGM during the prior year ((a) above). 

 

The Corporation paid consulting fees to the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation and a company 
controlled by the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation in the amount of $ NIL (2004 - $ 52,052) for the 
year ended December 31, 2005.  In addition, consulting fees were paid to the Chief Financial Officer and a 
corporation owned by the Corporate Secretary in the amounts of $207,000 and $22,500 respectively. 
 

Interest paid to related parties amounted to $14,563 (2004 - $185,045) for the year ended December 31, 2005. 
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10. Loans Payable 
  
  Due Interest 
  Date Rate RMB Cdn $  

 Promissory notes payable (d) Various 10.000%  $    240,039 
 Bank of China (a) June 11, 2005 6.903% 2,000,000 290,523 
 Bank of China (a) April 19, 2005 6.903% 8,000,000 1,161,853 
 Bank of China (b) May 10, 2005 6.786% 8,000,000 1,161,853 
 Finance Department Company of Hechi 
 Finance Bureau (c) Nov 30, 2000   Interest–free  3,000,000  435,605 
   
    $ 3,289,874 
  

 

(a) These loans were borrowed from the Bank of China by the Copper Refinery to fund the purchases of raw 
materials for the copper smelter.  These loans are secured by capital assets of the Copper Refinery. 

 

(b) This loan was borrowed from the Bank of China by the Copper Refinery for working capital purposes.  The 
loan is guaranteed by Guangxi Renmin Equipment Co. (“Renmin”), a third party.  In return, the Corporation 
loaned 50% of the proceeds of the loan to Renmin.  Each party is responsible for the respective principal and 
interest payments.  During 2005, Renmin repaid to the Corporation its 50% portion of the loan. 

 

(c) This loan is guaranteed by Hechi.  Biogan BVI has failed to repay the loan on its due date,  November 30, 
2000, and is currently in default of the loan repayments.  According to the default provisions of the loan 
agreement, interest accrues during the default period at two times the agreed upon rate.  However, the loan 
agreement does not stipulate an interest rate.  Management maintains that the interest rate is nil, and the 
Corporation is currently in the process of negotiating with the lender and will repay the loan once the final 
amount is agreed upon.  Accordingly, the Corporation has not accrued any amounts for the interest charges 
since the date of default. 

 

(d) The promissory notes payable were due to various individuals and were issued in September 2004.  The 
promissory notes payable were unsecured and repayable on the earlier of the closing of the IPO or 12 months 
from the date of the loan and bear interest at a rate of 10% per annum with a minimum of six months interest. 
 These notes were settled during 2005. 
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11. Share Capital     

 Authorized 

  Unlimited number of common shares 
  Unlimited Series 1 Special Shares 
  
  Number Amount  

 Common shares  
 

 Issued - 2005 
 

 Outstanding – January 1, 2005  1 $ 8,797,117 
 Issued pursuant to Initial Public Offering (a)  38,843,750  15,537,500 
 Issued to the shareholders of Biogan International Inc. (b)  30,353,330  - 
 Allocation to share capital warrants  -  (2,068,837) 
 Share and warrants issue costs  -  (2,144,937)  
 

  Balance – December 31, 2005  69,197,081 $ 20,120,843 
  

 

  
  Biogan BVI 
  paid in 
  HMZ contributed 
  Number and share 
  of shares Amount capital Total  
 Issued - 2004 
 

 Balance, – January 1, 2004 1 $ - $ 8,797,117 $8,797,117 
 Acquisition of Biogan BVI by HMZ (note 1) -  8,797,117 (8,797,117) -  
 

  Balance – December 31, 2004 1 $8,797,117 $  -  $8,797,117 
  

(a) On April 6, 2005, the Corporation completed an initial public offering (“IPO”) and issued 38,843,750 
units for gross proceeds of $ 15,537,500.  Each unit was comprised of one Common Share and one 
Common Share Purchase Warrant.  Each Common Share Purchase Warrant is exercisable at a price of 
$0.50 per common share for a period of 2 years expiring on May 6, 2007.  On April 11, 2005, the 
Corporation used a portion of the proceeds to make its final capital contribution of US$ 7,300,000 
required pursuant to the Amended and Restated Joint Venture Contract.  The net fair market value after 
issue costs ascribed to the common shares is $13,392,563 and to the Warrants $2,068,837. 

 

(b) Pursuant to the IPO, the Corporation issued 30,353,330 common shares to the shareholders of Biogan.  
No value has been ascribed to these shares as the value is reflected in the capital of $8,797,117 pursuant 
to the continuity of interest method of accounting for the acquisition of Biogan by the Corporation as 
described in Note 1. 
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11. Share Capital (continued)    

 Issued – 2005 30,100,000  $ Nil  
 

 Issued – 2004  Nil $ Nil 
 

 The Special Shares will be issued from time to time in one or more series comprised of such number of shares 
and with such rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attached thereto as shall be fixed by the directors    
of the Corporation. 

 

 The Special Shares of each series rank on a parity with the Special Shares of every other series with respect to 
the payment of dividends and the distribution of assets of the Corporation or the return of capital in the event 
of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Corporation, whether voluntary or involuntary, or any other 
distribution of the assets of the Corporation for the purpose of winding-up its affairs and will be entitled to a 
preference over the common shares for the amount of US$ 0.0001 per Special Share.  Subject to the rights, 
privileges, restrictions and conditions that may be attached to a particular series of Special Shares by the 
directors of the Corporation in accordance with the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attached to the 
Special Shares, the holders of Special Shares will be entitled to receive notice of and to attend and vote, voting 
together with the holders of common shares, at any meeting of the shareholders of the Corporation, except 
meetings at which only holders of another class or series of shares of the Corporation are entitled to vote.  The 
holders of any series of Special Shares will be entitled to receive only such dividends, if any, as are calculated 
and stipulated at the time of issue thereof. 

 

 An aggregate of 30,200,000 Special Shares have been issued as Series 1 Special Shares.  Holders of Series 1 
Special Shares will be entitled to receive notice of and to attend and vote (one vote per share, voting together 
with the common shares and all other voting shares) at all meetings of the shareholders of the Corporation, 
except meetings at which only holders of another class or series of shares of the Corporation are entitled to  
vote.  The holders of Series 1 Special Shares will not be entitled to receive any dividends. 

 

 Each Series 1 Special Share will be convertible into one Common Share, subject to adjustment for normal anti-
dilution events, including the subdivision, consolidation or reclassification of the outstanding common shares.  
The Series 1 Special Shares will only be convertible in accordance with the provisions of the Fushan 
Agreement, described below. 

 

 Each Series 1 Special Share will be redeemable by the Corporation on payment of a redemption price of 
US$ 0.0001.  The Series 1 Special Shares will only be redeemable in accordance with the provisions of the 
Fushan Agreement.  In addition, upon any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation or other 
distribution of the assets of the Corporation to the shareholders of the Corporation for the purpose of  winding-
up its affairs, after the payment or provision for the payment of all debts and liabilities of the Corporation, each 
holder of Series 1 Special Shares will be entitled to receive the amount of US$ 0.0001 per Series 1 Special 
Share in priority to any distribution being made to the holders of common shares.  The holders of Series 1 
Special Shares will not be entitled to participate any further in the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the 
Corporation or other distribution of the assets of the Corporation to the shareholders of the Corporation. 
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11. Share Capital (continued)  
 

 The Corporation and Fushan Industrial Co. Ltd. (“Fushan”), a corporation incorporated under the laws of the 
British Virgin Islands, all of the outstanding shares of which are owned by the Hechi shareholders, have   
entered into the Fushan Agreement.  The Fushan Agreement provides, among other things, that Fushan will not 
encumber or dispose of any of the Series 1 Special Shares until the Corporation receives confirmation that 
approximately RMB 44,135,000 (approximately US$ 5,300,000), (the “HPMC Payment”) being the  
outstanding amount of the original indebtedness of HPMC to the Hechi Prefecture Government which was 
assumed by Hechi in connection with its acquisition of the Hechi Assets from HPMC, which outstanding 
amount is  required to be paid by Hechi to the Hechi Prefecture Government by June, 2013.  Confirmation of 
the Hechi Payment will take the form of a confirmation to be received by the Corporation, such confirmation to 
be in form acceptable to the Corporation in its sole discretion, that (i) the HPMC Payment has been made or 
satisfactory arrangements for the payment of the HPMC Payment are in place and that the Hechi Assets are no 
longer, or, after the completion of such arrangements will not be, subject to repossession by HPMC or any 
governmental authority in the PRC and (ii) the Hechi Indebtedness has been paid in full or satisfactory 
arrangements for the payment of the Hechi Indebtedness are in place and that the Hechi Assets are no longer,  
or, after the completion of such arrangements will not be, subject to repossession by the Hechi Creditors 
(“HPMC Payment Confirmation”).  Notwithstanding the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attached 
to the Series 1 Special Shares: (i) Fushan may not convert the Series 1 Special Shares prior to the Corporation 
receiving the HPMC Payment Confirmation; and (ii) the Corporation may not redeem the Series 1 Special 
Shares unless Hechi or the Hechi shareholders do not make the HPMC Payment by May 15, 2013 (or such   
later date as the Corporation may agree in writing) or the interest of GGM in the Hechi Assets is materially 
decreased (as determined in the sole discretion of a committee of the directors of the Corporation) as a result of 
either the Hechi Indebtedness or the HPMC Payment not being satisfied or paid, as applicable, at any time   
prior to the Corporation receiving the Hechi Payment Confirmation.  In the event that the Corporation becomes 
entitled to redeem the Series 1 Special Shares, the Corporation may, upon giving notice to Fushan in  
accordance with the provisions of the Series 1 Special Shares, redeem all of the then outstanding Series 1 
Special Shares  on  payment of a redemption price of US$ 0.0001 per Series 1 Special Share. 

 

 Finally, pursuant to the terms of the Fushan Agreement, Fushan will use best efforts to (i) preserve the 
ownership interests of the parties in GGM pursuant to (and cause Hechi to perform under) the Amended and 
Restated Joint Venture Contract, (ii) ensure the continued operation of GGM, and (iii) ensure GGM’s  
continued ownership of the Hechi Assets, irrespective of any law, regulation or rule in the PRC (whether 
currently existing or implemented in the future) which may affect Fushan’s ability, right or entitlement to own 
the Series 1 Special Shares or for the shareholders of Fushan to maintain their interest in Fushan. 
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11. Share Capital (continued)    
 

  Number Amount  

 Common share Purchase Warrants 
 Private placement – 2004 (a)  671,000 $ 334,694 
 Issued pursuant to Initial Public Offering  42,286,750  2,068,837 
 Issued pursuant to acquisition of Biogan (BVI) International Inc. (b) 5,493,738  - 
 Issued pursuant to repayment of Promissory Notes (c)  341,250  62,000  
 

    48,792,738 $ 2,465,531  

All Common Share Purchase Warrants are exercisable at a price of $0.50 per share for a period of 2 years 
expiring on April 6, 2007. 

 

(a) On July 16, 2004, the Corporation issued an aggregate of 671,000 Class A Special Warrants of the 
Corporation at a price of $0.50 for each Class A Special Warrant.  Each Class A Special Warrant is 
exchangeable, for no additional consideration, for one common share of the Corporation and one Class A 
Warrant of the Corporation.  Each Class A Warrant entitles the holder to acquire one common share of the 
Corporation at an exercise price of $0.50 until the second anniversary of the closing of the IPO.  In 
connection with the issue of the Class A Special Warrants, the Corporation issued to certain registered 
dealers who provided services to the Corporation in connection with the issue of the Class A Special 
Warrants an aggregate of 33,900 Class G Special Warrants of the Corporation.  Each Class G Special 
Warrant is exchangeable, for no additional consideration, for one common share of the Corporation and 
one Class G Warrant of the Corporation.  Each Class G Warrant entitles the holder to acquire one common 
share of the Corporation at an exercise price of $0.50 per common share until the second anniversary of   
the closing of the IPO, subject to adjustment, as set out in the certificates representing the Class G 
Warrants. 

 

(b) On August 25, 2004, the Corporation acquired from its parent company, Biogan, all of the issued and 
outstanding shares of Biogan BVI and a non-interest bearing promissory note issued by Biogan BVI to 
Biogan in the amount of US $ 1,700,000 in exchange for: 

(i) 30,200,000 Class B Special Warrants, each exchangeable, for no additional consideration, for one 
special share, Series 1, of the Corporation (which special shares are to be created by the Corporation 
prior to the closing of the IPO); 

(ii) 4,145,676 Class C Special Warrants, each exchangeable, for no additional consideration, for one 
common share of the Corporation and one BVI Purchase Warrant.  Each BVI Purchase Warrant 
entitles the holder to acquire one common share of the Corporation at an exercise price of Cdn. 
$0.50 per common share until the second anniversary of the closing of the IPO, subject to 
adjustment,  as set out in the certificates representing the BVI Purchase Warrants; 

(iii) 1,348,062 Class D Special Warrants, each exchangeable, for no additional consideration, for one 
common share of the Corporation and one BVI Purchase Warrant; 
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11. Share Capital (continued)    
 

 (iv) 1,100,000 Class E Special Warrants, each exchangeable, for no additional consideration, for one 
common share of the Corporation. 

 (v) 23,054,691 Class F Special Warrants, each exchangeable, for no additional consideration, for one 
common share of the Corporation; and 

(vi) a Promissory note issued by the Corporation in favour of Biogan for the amount of US $ 1,700,000. 
 

Upon completion of the IPO on April 6, 2005, the Class C, D, E and F Special Warrants outlined 
above were converted into 29,648,429 common shares of the Corporation.  Similarly, the Class B 
Special Warrants were converted into 30,200,000 Series 1 Special Shares.  The Corporation has 
entered into an agreement with the holders of the Series 1 Special Shares such that the holders of 
these shares cannot dispose of them prior to the Corporation receiving a Hechi Payment 
Confirmation.  If such Hechi Payment Confirmation is not received by May 15, 2013, the 
Corporation can redeem the Series 1 Special Shares for US $0.0001 per share or an aggregate of US 
$ 3,020.  The Corporation is then free to sell sufficient common shares on the open market to satisfy 
the Hechi Payment as it deems appropriate. 

 

(c) At various dates in 2004, the Corporation issued 341,250 warrants as additional consideration to various 
lenders to loan to the Corporation by way of promissory notes $ 240,000.  Each warrant entitles the holder 
to purchase one common share at a price of $0.50 for a period of 2 years expiring on April 6, 2007. 

 
 Share Option Plan 
 

 Pursuant to the share option plan, the directors have the authority to grant options to any director, employee 
(full-time or part-time), officer or consultant of the Corporation or any subsidiary thereof.  Options must be 
exercised no later than 10 years after the date of the grant, or such earlier period as determined by the directors 
at the time of the grant, and are subject to vesting provisions unless the directors of the corporation determine 
otherwise.  Options granted are exercisable in whole or in part, at any time from the date of grant of such 
options.  The number of shares issuable under the stock option plan is a rolling maximum of 10% of shares 
issued and outstanding (calculated on a non-diluted basis) from time to time. 
 

On March 28, 2005, the Corporation issued 6,900,000 options under the share option plan.  The options are 
exercisable at $ 0.40 per share.  All options vested immediately on issue. 
 

The compensation expense for options granted during the year ended December 31, 2005 of $ 1,848,700 is 
included in the statement of operations and deficit.  The fair value was estimated using the Black-Scholes fair 
value option-pricing model using the following assumptions: 

� Dividend yield of 0% 
� Risk-free interest rate 3.95% 
� Expected volatility 81% and, 
� Expected life of five years. 

 

The Corporation has used the average volatility for nine companies with assets in the PRC or considered to be 
comparable. 
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11. Share Capital (continued)    
 

Share Purchase Plan 

The share purchase plan entitles certain employees of the Corporation to contribute up to 10% of their annual 
base salary to purchase common shares.  The Corporation matches each participant’s contribution.  At 
December 31, 2005 no shares had been issued under this plan. 
 

Share Bonus Plan 
 

The share bonus plan permits common shares to be issued as a discretionary bonus to any director, employee 
(full-time or part-time), officer or consultant of the Corporation or any subsidiary thereof who is designated 
under the share bonus plan from time to time. At December 31, 2005 no shares had been issued under this   
plan. 

 

12. Changes in Non-Cash Operating Working Capital  
2005 2004 
   (note 2)  

 Decrease (increase) in trade accounts receivable, net $ 63,920 $ (153,163) 
 Increase in inventories  -  (18,478) 
 Increase in prepayments to suppliers, net  -  (2,157,295) 
 Increase in other current assets  (9,305)  (918,978) 
 (Decrease) increase in trade accounts payable  (55,520)  1,544,903 
 Increase in amount due to a related party  224,036  41,772 
 (Decrease) in accrued liabilities and other payables  -  (358,508) 
 Increase in amount due from a related party  -  (300,991) 
 Increase in income taxes payable  -  672,382  
 

  $ 223,131 $ (1,648,356) 
  

 

13. Commitments 

 

The Company leases office facilities at $10,400 per month expiring November 30, 2012. 
 
14. Subsequent Events 

 
During 2006, the Corporation raised gross proceeds of $1,085,000 under two private placements for the 
issuance of 17,699,993 common shares and  9,659,927 share purchase warrants exercisable at  prices ranging 
from $0.05 to $0.15 for a period of 2 years  
 
During 2007, the Corporation raised gross proceeds of $675,000 under two private placements for the issuance 
of 13,500,000 common shares and  7,754,500  share purchase warrants each exercisable at prices ranging from 
$0.05 to $0.15 for a period of 2 years.  In addition, the Corporation raised gross proceeds of $105,000 under a 
private placement for the issuance of 5,600,000 common shares, 5,600,000 share purchase warrants each 
exercisable at a price of $0.025 for a period of 2 years, and a discounted note payable of $315,000.  The note 
payable has a term of 2 years, bears interest at 14% payable on maturity, is redeemable by the Corporation, and 
has a maturity value of $420,000.  The Corporation also received loans of $27,000 from directors including a 
loan of $12,000 which has been repaid.  



HMZ Metals Inc.  

  22  

 
Notes to Financial Statements 

For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 

(Unless noted, all dollar amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars) 

 
14. Subsequent Events (continued)    

 
Proceeds of the financings were used to fund general working capital requirements and various initiatives in 
China. 
 
On December 19, 2007, the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) has given notice to the Company that the 
common shares of HMZ Metals Inc. will be delisted at the close of business on January 18, 2008 for failure to 
meet continued listing requirements of the TSX; alternatives are currently being reviewed. 
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AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDER 

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of HMZ Metals Inc. as at December 31, 2004 and 
2003 and the consolidated statements of operations and deficit and cash flows for the years then 
ended.  These financial statements are the responsibility of the Corporation's management.  Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  
Those standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether 
the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test 
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also 
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. 

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Corporation as at December 31, 2004 and 2003 and the results of its 
operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted accounting principles.   

 
Chartered Accountants 

 

Toronto, Canada 

April 28, 2005 
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HMZ METALS INC. 
Consolidated Balance Sheets 
(Expressed in U.S. dollars) 
 
December 31, 2004 and 2003 
 
   2004 2003 
 

Assets 
 

Current assets: 
Cash $ 112,400 $ 245,200 
Trade accounts receivable, net 118,000 300 
Prepayments to suppliers, net 2,093,800 436,000 
Due from Hechi Industrial Company Ltd., net (note 8) 732,900 503,600 
Due from Biogan International Inc. (note 8) 61,500 59,500 
Inventories (note 3) 2,105,800 2,091,600 
Other current assets 791,600 85,400 
  6,016,000 3,421,600 

 

Deferred share and warrant issue costs (note 11) 479,500 52,000 
 

Investment in Gaofeng Mining Co., Ltd. (note 4) 828,700 828,700 
 

Property, plant and equipment, net (note 5) 4,611,300 4,803,600 
 

Lease prepayments (note 6) 70,300 73,000 
 

Future tax asset (note 7) 301,400 – 
 

  $ 12,307,200 $ 9,178,900 
 

Liabilities and Shareholder's Equity 
 

Current liabilities: 
Loans payable (note 9) $ 2,737,000 $ 604,100 
Payable to Biogan International Inc. (note 8) 1,918,000 1,885,900 
Due to Gaofeng Mining Co., Ltd. (note 8) 625,900 613,800 
Trade accounts payable 1,463,100 275,900 
Accrued liabilities and other payables 1,986,100 2,261,600 
Income taxes payable 728,800 212,100 
  9,458,900 5,853,400 

 

Minority interest 260,900 257,000 
 

Shareholder's equity: 
Capital stock (note 11) 5,866,700 5,866,700 
Warrants (note 11(a)) 257,200 – 
Deficit (3,536,500) (2,798,200) 
  2,587,400 3,068,500 

 

Going concern (note 2(a)) 
Commitments and contingencies (note 16) 
Subsequent events (notes 2(a), 9(b), 9(d), 11(a), 16 and 17) 
 

  $ 12,307,200 $ 9,178,900 
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 

On behalf of the Board: 
 
"Kerry D. Smith"   Director 
 
"Gilles Laverdière"   Director 
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HMZ METALS INC. 
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Deficit 
(Expressed in U.S. dollars) 
 
Years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 
 
   2004 2003 
 
Net sales $ 15,788,600 $ 9,701,400 
 
Expenses: 

Cost of sales (14,022,600) (8,767,200) 
Selling, general and administrative (1,154,400) (629,800) 
  (15,177,000) (9,397,000) 

 
Operating income  611,600 304,400 
 
Other income (expense): 

Corporate administration (811,600) (114,800) 
Interest income 56,300 42,800 
Other loss (161,400) (1,200) 
Interest expense  (209,900) (137,500) 
  (1,126,600) (210,700) 

 
Income (loss) before income taxes and  

minority interest (515,000) 93,700 
 
Income taxes (recovery) (note 7): 

Current 520,800 45,200 
Future (301,400) – 
  219,400 45,200 

 
Income (loss) before minority interest (734,400) 48,500 
 
Minority interest (3,900) (8,200) 
 
Net income (loss) (738,300) 40,300 
 
Deficit, beginning of year (2,798,200) (2,838,500) 
 
Deficit, end of year $ (3,536,500) $ (2,798,200) 
 
Earnings (loss) per share, basic and diluted $ (738,300) $ 40,300 

 
 
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding,  

basic and diluted   1 1 
 
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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HMZ METALS INC. 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
(Expressed in U.S. dollars) 
 
Years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 
 
  2004 2003 
 
Cash provided by (used in):  
 
Operating activities: 

Net income (loss) $ (738,300)  $ 40,300 
Items not involving cash: 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 303,700 312,900 
Amortization of lease prepayments 3,700 3,800 
Minority interest 3,900 8,200 
Future income taxes (301,400) – 

Change in non-cash operating working capital (note 15) (1,266,700) (404,800) 
  (1,995,100) (39,600) 

 
Investing activities: 

Capital expenditures (111,400) (17,100) 
Lease expenditure (1,000) – 
Advance distribution received from Gaofeng Mining Co., Ltd. 12,100 60,400 
  (100,300) 43,300 

 
Financing activities: 

Proceeds from loans payable 2,132,900 241,700 
Issuance of warrants 278,200 – 
Deferred share and warrant issue costs (448,500) (52,000) 
Loans payable to a related party – 9,400 
  1,962,600 199,100 

 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash – (500) 
 
Increase (decrease) in cash (132,800) 202,300 
 
Cash, beginning of year 245,200 42,900 
 
Cash, end of year $ 112,400 $ 245,200 
 

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information (note 14) 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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HMZ Metals Inc. ("HMZ") is a wholly owned subsidiary of Biogan International Inc. ("Biogan") and 
was incorporated under the Canada Business Corporations Act on July 22, 2002.  

1. Basis of presentation: 

On August 25, 2004, HMZ bought Biogan International (BVI), Inc. ("Biogan BVI") from Biogan in 
a share exchange as part of a corporate reorganization of companies under common control.  
The corporate reorganization of HMZ and Biogan BVI (collectively, the "Corporation") has been 
accounted for using the continuity-of-interests method and, accordingly, the accounts of the 
consolidated companies prior to the corporate reorganization have been included in these 
consolidated financial statements at their historical amounts. 

The Corporation's principal business activities include the operation of the mining assets 
retained from the corporate reorganization of Biogan BVI and to acquire or discover new 
mineral properties in the People's Republic of China ("PRC") through its joint venture partners. 

The assets of Biogan BVI consist mainly of a 92% equity interest and a 95% profit interest in 
Guangxi Guanghe Metals Co., Ltd. ("GGM"), a PRC limited liability company that holds certain 
assets, consisting mainly of a 9% interest in Gaofeng Mining Co., Ltd. ("GMC"), which owns 
and operates the Gaofeng mine and ore processing facilities, the Hechi copper refinery plant 
(the "Copper Refinery") and the Wuxu ore processing facility (the "Wuxu Mill"). 

Corporation formation information: 

In June 1998, Hechi Prefecture Mining Company ("HPMC"), a state-owned entity incorporated 
in Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region ("Guangxi") in the PRC and Hechi Industrial Company 
Ltd. ("Hechi"), a limited company in Guangxi, transferred certain assets and liabilities from 
HPMC to Hechi.  The assets transferred from HPMC to Hechi were: the Copper Refinery; the 
Wuxu Mill; a 9% equity interest in GMC; the Non-Ferrous Metal Trading Company; a 
transportation company; a coal company (dormant); the Guizhou Louxia Coal Company; and 
the Hechi Antimony Industrial Company Limited (collectively the "HPMC Transferred Assets").   
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1. Basis of presentation (continued): 

In connection with the acquisition of the HPMC Transferred Assets, Hechi assumed liabilities of 
HPMC in the aggregate amount of approximately RMB 217,664,000 (approximately 
$26,298,000) consisting of (a) an obligation of HPMC to pay to the Hechi Prefecture 
Government approximately RMB 126,000,000 (approximately $15,200,000), the outstanding 
balance of which is approximately RMB 44,135,000 as of January 14, 2005 (approximately 
$5,300,000) (the "HPMC Payment"), and (b) an obligation of HPMC to pay to certain creditors 
of HPMC (who, as a result of such assumption, became creditors of Hechi) RMB 91,664,000 
(approximately $11,075,000), the outstanding balance of which is approximately RMB 
47,388,000 as of January 14, 2005 ($5,725,000).  The shareholders of Hechi have agreed with 
Hechi to pay, on behalf of Hechi, the debt owed by HPMC to the Hechi Prefecture Government 
(the outstanding portion of which is the HPMC Payment).  Under the terms of the acquisition of 
the HPMC Transferred Assets; however, Hechi remains liable for the payment of the HPMC 
Payment to the Hechi Prefecture Government.  The Hechi Prefecture Government has 
reserved the right to repossess the HPMC Transferred Assets in the event that Hechi does not 
make the HPMC Payment to the Hechi Prefecture Government by June 2013, but has agreed 
not to repossess the HPMC Transferred Assets before such date (note 16(d)). 

Biogan and Hechi entered into a Joint Venture Contract (the "Original Joint Venture Contract") 
effective on January 27, 2000 to create and operate GGM.  Under the Original Joint Venture 
Contract, Biogan was to contribute to GGM an aggregate of $9 million in cash in specified 
instalments and $200,000 in intellectual property and trademark rights (to be satisfied by the 
provision of know-how and ore processing technologies) in exchange for a 92% equity interest 
and a 95% profit interest in GGM.  Hechi was to contribute the Copper Refinery, the Wuxu Mill 
and the 9% equity interest in GMC (collectively the "Hechi Assets") in exchange for an 8% 
equity interest and 5% profit interest. 

In addition, pursuant to the Original Joint Venture Contract, Biogan and Hechi entered into an 
Asset Purchase Agreement (the "APA") effective on July 1, 2000.  The APA provided for the 
acquisition by Biogan of the Hechi Assets and related liabilities.  The purchase price for the 
assets was to be 16,800,000 Biogan common shares and 31,300 Series A shares, which would 
have resulted in the Hechi shareholders obtaining approximately 73% of the outstanding 
Biogan common shares on a diluted basis.  In addition, the APA provided that an amount of 
$2,000,000 be paid to Hechi by GGM. 
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2. Significant accounting policies: 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian 
generally accepted accounting principles ("Canadian GAAP"). 

(a) Going concern: 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis in 
accordance with Canadian GAAP.  The going concern basis of presentation assumes that 
the Corporation will continue in operation for the foreseeable future and be able to realize 
its assets and discharge its liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business.  
As of December 31, 2004, the Corporation was in default of certain loan agreements and 
has accumulated consolidated losses amounting to $3,536,500, that raise substantial 
doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern. 

On April 6, 2005, the Corporation completed an IPO raising gross proceeds of $15,537,500 
through an equity issue.  The Corporation's management has reviewed the working capital 
requirements for the ensuing 18 months and, based on operating plans believed to be 
achievable, has concluded that with this funding, combined with expected cash flows from 
operations, the Corporation will be able to meet its operating and capital requirements for 
the foreseeable future. 

These financial statements do not reflect adjustments that would be necessary if the going 
concern assumption was not appropriate.  If the going concern basis was not appropriate 
for these financial statements, then adjustments would be necessary in the carrying value 
of assets and liabilities, the reported revenue and expenses and the balance sheet 
classifications used. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(b) Principles of consolidation: 

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Corporation and its 
subsidiaries.  The 5% profit interest retained by Hechi in GGM is recorded as a minority 
interest. 

The Corporation's financial statements include general and administrative expenses 
allocated to the Corporation from Hechi.  These expenses were allocated to the 
Corporation using the specific identification method in each period, except for salaries and 
welfare for administrative staff, depreciation of office building and motor vehicles, for which 
specific identification method was not practical and were therefore allocated based on 
working hours, floor area and usage, respectively (note 8).  Management believes that the 
methods of allocation are reasonable and that the financial statements include all costs 
directly and indirectly related to Corporation's operations for the relevant periods. 

(c) Use of estimates: 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses.  
Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions include the carrying amounts 
of property, plant and equipment and the investment in GMC and valuation allowances for 
inventories, trade accounts receivable, prepayments to suppliers and future tax assets.  
Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

(d) Foreign currency translation: 

The reporting currency of the Corporation is the U.S. dollar.  All assets and liabilities of the 
Corporation and its subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars at the exchange rate in 
effect at the consolidated balance sheet dates.  The resulting gains and losses are 
accumulated in a separate component of shareholder's equity described in the 
consolidated balance sheets as cumulative translation adjustments.  No adjustment has 
been required as the RMB is pegged to the U.S. dollar and only slight fluctuations have 
occurred.  Revenue and expenses in RMB are translated at the weighted average 
exchange rates for the year.   
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

The functional currency of the Corporation's subsidiary is RMB since it is the currency in 
which the subsidiary conducts its primary economic activities.  Foreign currency 
transactions during the year are translated into RMB at the applicable rates of exchange 
quoted by the People's Bank of China ("PBOC rates") prevailing on the transaction dates.  
Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated into RMB at the applicable 
PBOC rates at the consolidated balance sheet dates.  Any resulting adjustments are 
charged or credited directly to the statement of operations. 

(e) Financial instruments: 

The fair values of the Corporation's cash, trade accounts receivable, amounts due to and 
from Hechi and Biogan, loans payable, trade accounts payable, accrued liabilities and 
other payables and amounts due to GMC approximate their carrying values, due to the 
short term to maturity of these financial instruments. 

(f) Inventories: 

Raw materials and spare parts, auxiliary materials and consumables are stated at the lower 
of cost and replacement cost.  Inventories of finished goods and work in progress are 
stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value.  Cost includes the cost of purchase 
computed using the weighted average method and, in the case of work in progress and 
finished goods, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of production overheads. 

(g) Prepayments to suppliers: 

Prepayments to suppliers represent cash advances made to suppliers for the purchase of 
raw materials.  The allowance for prepayments to suppliers is the Corporation's best 
estimate of the amount that is not recoverable.  Prepayments are charged off against the 
allowance after all means of recovering these amounts have been exhausted and the 
potential for recovery is considered remote. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(h) Property, plant and equipment: 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. 

The depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated on a straight-line basis over 
the expected useful life of the asset less its estimated residual value.  The respective 
expected useful lives of property, plant and equipment are as follows: 

 
 
Property, plant and buildings  20 - 30 years 
Machinery and equipment  15 - 20 years 
Motor vehicles   5 years 
 
 

The carrying value of property, plant and equipment is reviewed for impairment whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not 
be recoverable.  Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison 
of the carrying amount of an asset to estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to 
be generated by the assets.  If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated 
future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized by the amount by which the carrying 
amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset.  Assets to be disposed of would be 
separately presented in the consolidated balance sheets and reported at the lower of the 
carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell, and are no longer depreciated.  The assets 
and liabilities of a disposed group classified as held for sale would be presented separately 
in the appropriate asset and liability sections of the consolidated balance sheets. 

(i) Lease prepayments: 

Lease prepayments represent land use rights paid to the PRC's Ministry of Land and 
Resource.  Land use rights are carried at cost and amortized on a straight-line basis over 
30 years.  Amortization of lease prepayments for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 
2003 was $3,700 and $3,800, respectively, all of which was recorded in cost of sales for 
each year. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(j) Investment in Gaofeng Mining Co., Ltd.: 

The Gaofeng investment represents a 9% equity interest in GMC and is held as a long-
term investment and accounted for using the cost method.  GGM owns the 9% equity 
interest and dividends are recognized as income when declared.  Diminution in value in the 
investment which is other than a temporary decline is recognized in the consolidated 
statements of operations.  The fair market value exceeds the cost based on a recent letter 
of intent by which the Corporation has the right to purchase an additional 20% equity 
interest in Gaofeng at a price of $4,000,000. 

(k) Income taxes: 

The Corporation uses the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes.  Under 
the asset and liability method, future tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future 
tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying 
amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases (temporary 
differences).  Future tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted or substantively 
enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those 
temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled.  The effect on future tax 
assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the year that 
includes the date of enactment or substantive enactment.  The portion of future tax assets 
that is more likely than not to be realized is recorded, net of a valuation allowance. 

(l) Revenue recognition: 

Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement with the customer 
exists, delivery has occurred, customer takes ownership and assumes risk of loss, sales 
price is fixed or determinable, and collection of the relevant receivable is reasonably 
assured. 

(m) Retirement benefits: 

The Corporation is required under existing PRC legislation to provide welfare and 
retirement benefits to certain employees.  The Corporation's obligations include 
contributions to a defined contribution retirement plan administrated by a government 
agency determined based on a certain percentage of the salaries of the employees.  The 
Corporation accounts for these contributions on an accrual basis. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(n) Earnings (loss) per share: 

Basic earnings (loss) per share have been calculated using the weighted average number 
of shares outstanding during the relevant years.  The effect of potentially dilutive securities 
has not been reflected in the calculation of diluted earnings (loss) per share, as to do so 
would be antidilutive. 

3. Inventories: 
 

  2004 2003 
 
Raw materials $ 1,145,900 $ 1,658,500 
Work in progress 89,600 154,400 
Finished goods 215,300 36,300 
Spare parts, auxiliary materials and consumables 246,500 242,400 
Finished goods in transit 408,500 – 
 
  $ 2,105,800 $ 2,091,600 
 

4. Investment in Gaofeng Mining Co., Ltd.: 
 

  2004 2003 
 
GMC, at cost $ 828,700 $ 828,700 
 
 

The Gaofeng investment represents a 9% equity interest in GMC.  GMC is an operating 
polymetallic mine and ore processing facility located in Nandan County, Guangxi in the PRC.   
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5. Property, plant and equipment: 
 

   Accumulated  Net book  
2004 Cost depreciation value  
 
Property, plant and buildings $ 3,462,100 $ 1,079,900 $ 2,382,200 
Machinery and equipment 3,898,900 1,797,600 2,101,300 
Motor vehicles 209,200 135,700 73,500 
Assets under construction 54,300 – 54,300 
 
  $ 7,624,500 $ 3,013,200 $ 4,611,300 
 

 
   Accumulated  Net book  
2003 Cost depreciation value  
 
Property, plant and buildings $ 3,451,900 $ 970,300 $ 2,481,600 
Machinery and equipment 3,896,700 1,610,500 2,286,200 
Motor vehicles 164,500 128,700 35,800 
 
  $ 7,513,100 $ 2,709,500 $ 4,803,600 
 

Total depreciation for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 was $303,700 and 
$312,900, respectively, substantially all of which was recorded in cost of sales for each year. 

6. Lease prepayments: 
 

  2004 2003 
 
Land use right, at cost $ 110,800 $ 109,800 
Less accumulated amortization 40,500 36,800 
 
  $ 70,300 $ 73,000 
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7. Income taxes: 

The Corporation and its subsidiaries are subject to income taxes in Canada and the PRC.  It is 
also possible that certain United States federal taxes may be applicable to the Corporation as a 
consequence of the manner of the formation of the Corporation, as described in note 1 for 
periods subsequent to August 25, 2004.  The Corporation believes that any such application of 
United States taxation would not have any significant effect on the consolidated financial 
statements for the twelve months ended December 31, 2004.  A reconciliation between taxes 
calculated by applying the Canadian statutory tax rate of approximately 37% in 2004 
(2003 - 37%) to income (loss) before income taxes and minority interest is as follows: 

 
  2004 2003 
    
Expected income tax expense (recovery) using  

statutory income tax rates $ (190,500) $ 34,700 
Permanent differences 121,600 3,000 
Tax benefit of losses not currently recognized 300,200 (29,300) 
PRC tax rate differences (11,900) (8,400) 
Income taxes prior to 2002 (b) – 45,200 
 
Income tax expense $ 219,400 $ 45,200  
 

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the future tax 
assets at December 31, 2004 and 2003 are as follows: 

 
  2004 2003 
 
Future tax asset: 

Accounts receivable and prepayments 
to suppliers principally due to  
allowance for doubtful accounts $ 457,200 $ 518,400 

Non-capital losses 787,000 166,200 
Less valuation allowance (942,800) (684,600) 
 

  $ 301,400 $ – 
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7. Income taxes (continued): 

(a) At December 31, 2004, the Corporation had non-capital losses for Canadian income tax 
purposes of approximately $888,000, of which $783,000 expires in 2011 and 105,000 
expires in 2010. 

(b) Prior year income taxes of $45,200 represent tax expenses as a result of a tax audit 
performed by the local tax authority in the PRC on tax years prior to 2002. 

(c) At December 31, 2004, the Corporation has net operating losses carried forward for PRC 
income tax purposes of $1,412,700, which are available to offset future taxable income, if 
any, through 2009. 

8. Related party transactions and balances: 

Amounts due from (to) related parties as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 are summarized as 
follows: 

 
  Interest rate 2004 2003 
 
Amount due from Hechi, net (a) See below  $ 732,900 $  503,600 
Amount due from Biogan (b) Non-interest bearing 61,500 59,500 
Payable to Biogan (b) See below (1,918,000) (1,885,900) 
Amount due to GMC (c) Non-interest bearing (625,900) (613,800) 
 
 

All amounts from (to) related parties are unsecured and payable on demand.  Amounts are 
recorded at the transaction value. 

(a) Amount due from Hechi mainly represents trading balances with Hechi, interest payable to 
Hechi and expenses paid or received by Hechi on behalf of the Corporation.  The amount 
also includes a recoverable of $553,400 from Hechi being prior year's excess dividends 
received by Hechi from GMC (note 8(c)).   

Amounts due from Hechi have been presented on a net basis as a legal right of offset of 
amounts due from Hechi exists.  Amounts due from Hechi bear interest at rates ranging 
from non-interest bearing to 7.80% per annum. 
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8. Related party transactions and balances (continued): 

(b) Amount due from Biogan mainly represents professional expenses paid by the Corporation 
on behalf of Biogan. 

The payable to Biogan includes a note payable amounting to $1,700,000, which is payable 
on demand from Biogan.  The remaining balance represents additional non-interest 
bearing advances. 

(c) Amount due to GMC includes advances received by the Corporation in 2004 and 2003 
amounting to $12,100 and $60,400, respectively and excess dividends received by Hechi 
from GMC amounting to $553,400, the liability of which was transferred to GGM during the 
year ((a) above). 

Material transactions with related parties are summarized as follows: 

 
  2004 2003 
 
General and administrative expenses: 

Salaries and staff welfare $ 17,100 $ 16,700 
 
 
Facilities charges: 

Office building $ 9,000 $ 8,600 
Motor vehicles 7,600 18,500 

 
  $ 16,600 $ 27,100 
 
Interest expense $ 142,200 $ 135,800 
 
 

The Corporation paid consulting fees to the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation and a 
company controlled by the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation in the amount of $40,000 
for the year ended December 31, 2004 (2003 - $15,000). 
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9. Loans payable: 

Loans payable as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 are as follows: 

 
   Interest Amount 
2004 Due date rate RMB U.S. $ 
 
Promissory notes payable (d) Various (d) 10.000%  $ 199,700 
Bank of China (a) June 11, 2005 6.903% 2,000,000 241,700 
Bank of China (a) April 19, 2005 6.903% 8,000,000 966,600 
Bank of China (b) May 10, 2005 6.786% 8,000,000 966,600 
Finance Development  

Company of Hechi 
Finance Bureau (c) November 30, 2000 Interest-free 3,000,000 362,400 

 
       21,000,000 $ 2,737,000 
 

 
   Interest Amount 
2003  Due date rate RMB U.S. $ 
 
Bank of China (a) July 30, 2004 6.372% 2,000,000 $ 241,700 
Finance Development  

Company of Hechi  
Finance Bureau (c) November 30, 2000 Interest-free 3,000,000 362,400 

 
       5,000,000 $ 604,100 
 

(a) These loans were borrowed from the Bank of China by the Copper Refinery to fund the 
purchases of raw material for the copper smelter.  These loans are secured by fixed assets 
of the Copper Refinery.   

(b) This loan was borrowed from the Bank of China by the Copper Refinery for working capital 
purposes.  The loan is guaranteed by Guangxi Renmin Equipment Co. ("Renmin"), a third 
party.  In return, the Corporation loaned $483,300, 50% of the proceeds of the loan, to 
Renmin.  Each party is responsible for the respective principal and interest payments. 
Subsequent to year end, Renmin repaid to the Corporation its 50% portion of the loan. 
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9. Loans payable (continued): 

(c) This loan is guaranteed by Hechi.  Biogan BVI has failed to repay the loan on its due date, 
November 30, 2000, and is currently in default of the loan repayments.  According to the 
default provisions of the loan agreement, interest accrues during the default period at two 
times the agreed upon rate.  However, the loan agreement does not stipulate an interest 
rate.  Management maintains that the interest rate is nil, and the Corporation is currently in 
the process of negotiating with the lender and will repay the loan once the final amount is 
agreed upon.  Accordingly, the Corporation has not accrued any amounts for the interest 
charges since the date of default (note 16(c)(iv)). 

(d) The promissory notes payable are due to various individuals and were issued in September 
2004.  The promissory notes payable are unsecured and repayable on the earlier of the 
closing of the IPO (note 17(a)) or 12 months from the date of the loan and bear interest at a 
rate of 10% per annum with a minimum of six months interest.  These notes have been 
settled subsequent to year end. 

10. Concentration of risk: 

(a) Concentration of economic risk: 

The Corporation's operations may be adversely affected by significant political, economic 
and social uncertainties in the PRC.  In addition, the ability to negotiate and implement 
specific projects in a timely and favourable manner may be impacted by political 
considerations unrelated to or beyond the control of the Corporation.  Although the PRC 
government has been pursuing economic reform polices, no assurance can be given that 
the PRC government will continue to pursue such policies or that such policies may not be 
significantly altered.  There is also no guarantee that the PRC government's pursuit of 
economic reforms will be consistent or effective and, as a result, changes in the rate or 
method of taxation, reduction in tariff protection and other import restrictions, and changes 
in state policies affecting the industries to which the Corporation sells its products, may 
have a negative effect on its operation results and financial conditions.  Additionally, there 
is a concentration of economic risk in relation to the customer base, sales to one customer 
of Copper Refinery represent 42% of total sales to that segment in 2004. 
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10. Concentration of risk (continued): 

(b) Concentration of currency risk: 

Substantially all of the revenue-generating operations of the Corporation are transacted in 
RMB, which is not freely convertible into foreign currencies.  On January 1, 1994, the PRC 
government abolished the dual rate system and introduced a single rate of exchanges as 
quoted by the PRC.  However, the unification of the exchange rate does not imply 
convertibility of RMB into U.S. dollars or other foreign currencies.  All foreign exchange 
transactions continue to take place either through the People's Bank of China ("PBOC") or 
other banks authorized to buy and sell foreign currencies at the exchange rates quoted by 
the PBOC.  Approval of foreign currency payments by the PBOC or other institutions 
requires submitting a payment application form, together with suppliers' invoices, shipping 
documents and signed contract. 

11. Capital stock: 

Authorized: 
Unlimited common shares with no par value 

Issued and outstanding: 

 
    Biogan BVI 
    paid-in,  
   HMZ  contributed  
  Number of  and  
  shares Amount share capital  Total 
 
Balance, January 1, 2003  

and 2004  1 $ – $ 5,866,700 $ 5,866,700 
Acquisition of Biogan BVI by  

HMZ (note 1) – 5,866,700 (5,866,700) – 
 
Balance, December 31, 2004  1 $ 5,866,700 $ – $ 5,866,700 
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11. Capital stock (continued): 

(a) Warrants: 

On July 16, 2004, the Corporation issued an aggregate of 671,000 Class A Special 
Warrants of the Corporation at a price of Cdn. $0.50 for each Class A Special Warrant.  
Each Class A Special Warrant is exchangeable, for no additional consideration, for one 
common share of the Corporation and one Class A Warrant of the Corporation.  Each 
Class A Warrant entitles the holder to acquire one common share of the Corporation at an 
exercise price of Cdn. $0.50 until the second anniversary of the closing of the IPO.  In 
connection with the issue of the Class A Special Warrants, the Corporation issued to 
certain registered dealers who provided services to the Corporation in connection with the 
issue of the Class A Special Warrants an aggregate of 33,900 Class G Special Warrants of 
the Corporation.  Each Class G Special Warrant is exchangeable, for no additional 
consideration, for one common share of the Corporation and one Class G Warrant of the 
Corporation.  Each Class G Warrant entitles the holder to acquire one common share of 
the Corporation at an exercise price of Cdn. $0.50 per common share until the second 
anniversary of the closing of the IPO, subject to adjustment, as set out in the certificates 
representing the Class G Warrants. 

On August 25, 2004, the Corporation acquired from its parent company, Biogan, all of the 
issued and outstanding shares of Biogan BVI and a non-interest bearing promissory note 
issued by Biogan BVI to Biogan in the amount of $1,700,000 (note 8(b)), in exchange for: 

(i) 30,200,000 Class B Special Warrants, each exchangeable, for no additional 
consideration, for one special share, Series 1, of the Corporation (which special shares 
are to be created by the Corporation prior to the closing of the IPO); 

(ii) 4,145,676 Class C Special Warrants, each exchangeable, for no additional 
consideration, for one common share of the Corporation and one BVI Purchase 
Warrant.  Each BVI Purchase Warrant entitles the holder to acquire one common share 
of the Corporation at an exercise price of Cdn. $0.50 per common share until the 
second anniversary of the closing of the IPO, subject to adjustment, as set out in the 
certificates representing the BVI Purchase Warrants; 
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11. Capital stock (continued): 

(iii) 1,348,062 Class D Special Warrants, each exchangeable, for no additional 
consideration, for one common share of the Corporation and one BVI Purchase 
Warrant; 

(iv) 1,100,000 Class E Special Warrants, each exchangeable, for no additional 
consideration, for one common share of the Corporation; 

(v) 23,054,691 Class F Special Warrants, each exchangeable, for no additional 
consideration, for one common share of the Corporation; and 

(vi) a promissory note issued by the Corporation in favour of Biogan for the amount of 
$1,700,000. 

Upon completion of the IPO on April 6, 2005 (note 17(a)), the Class B, C, D, E and F 
Special Warrants outlined above were converted into 29,648,429 common shares of the 
Corporation.  Similarly, the Class B Special Warrants were converted into 30,200,000 
Series 1 Special Shares.  The Corporation has entered into an agreement with the holders 
of the Series 1 Special Shares such that the holders of these shares cannot dispose of 
them prior to the Corporation receiving a Hechi Payment Confirmation.  If such Hechi 
Payment Confirmation is not received by May 15, 2013, the Corporation can redeem the 
Series I Special Shares for $0.0001 per share or an aggregate of $3,020.  The Corporation 
is then free to sell sufficient common shares on the open market to satisfy the Hechi 
Payment as it deems appropriate. 

In September 2004, the Corporation issued 180,000 warrants as additional consideration to 
various lenders to loan to the Corporation by way of promissory notes Cdn. $240,000 
($199,700) (note 9(d)).  Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share at 
the IPO issue price attributable to the common shares until the second anniversary of the 
closing date of the IPO.  Due to the contingent nature of these notes, the Corporation will 
value and record a financing charge related to these warrants at the time of issuance of the 
IPO using a Black-Scholes valuation model. 

(b) Share and warrant issue costs: 

The Corporation has incurred $448,500 during 2004 (2003 - $52,000) in share issuance 
costs in connection with the issuance of warrants and the proposed IPO.  Of these costs, 
$21,000 has been netted to the proceeds from the issuance of the Class A Special 
Warrants. 
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12. Segment information: 

The Corporation manages and evaluates its operations in reportable segments as follows: 

(a) The corporate headquarters in Canada manages the overall activity of the Corporation. 

(b) GGM, the headquarters in the PRC, is mainly engaged in the overall management of the 
operating units and conducts commercial business in the PRC.  GGM also holds the 9% 
equity interest in GMC according to the Amended and Restated Joint Venture Contract.  
GMC is a mining and concentrating company, incorporated in Guangxi of the PRC and 
owns the mining right to a non-ferrous metal and mineral reserve in the same location. 

(c) The Copper Refinery is mainly engaged in the production of blister copper.  All customers 
of the Copper Refinery are local copper refinery plants located in the PRC.  Major suppliers 
of the Copper Refinery are local copper factories located in the PRC. 

(d) The Wuxu Mill is mainly engaged in the processing of zinc concentrates, lead and 
antimony.  All sales are conducted with local refinery companies.  Major suppliers are local 
mining companies located in the PRC. 

The segments are determined primarily because the segments within the Corporation manage 
their production separately, distribute distinct products with different production processes and 
have distinct operating and gross margin characteristics.  In view of the fact that the 
Corporation operates primarily in the PRC, no geographical segment information is presented. 



HMZ METALS INC. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
(Expressed in U.S. dollars)  
 
Years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 
 

 

22 

12. Segment information (continued): 

The Corporation evaluates the performance and allocates resources to its operating segments 
on an operating income basis.  The accounting policies of the Corporation's segments are the 
same as those described in note 2.  The dividend income, income taxes and corporate 
administrative costs and assets are not allocated to the operating segments, but instead are 
recorded in the corporate headquarters directly.  Summarized financial information concerning 
the Corporation's reportable segments for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 are 
shown in the following table: 

 
  PRC GGM Copper  Corporate  
2004 headquarters Refinery Wuxu Mill and other Total 
 
Net sales to external  

customers $ – $ 14,490,000 $ 1,298,600 $ – $ 15,788,600 
Interest income 30 56,250 20 – 56,300 
Interest expense – 209,900 – – 209,900 
Depreciation and amortization 300 289,900 17,200 – 307,400 
Income (loss) before income 

taxes and minority interest (604,500) 1,091,900 (190,800) (811,600) (515,000) 
Total assets 2,993,700 8,356,400 363,100 594,000 12,307,200 
Capital expenditures – 91,600 11,100 8,700 111,400 

 
 

 
  PRC GGM Copper  Corporate  
2003  headquarters Refinery Wuxu Mill and other Total 
 
Net sales to external  

customers $ – $ 8,952,200 $ 749,200 $ – $ 9,701,400 
Interest income 100 42,600 100 – 42,800 
Interest expense – 137,500 – – 137,500 
Depreciation and amortization  400 299,100 17,200 – 316,700 
Income (loss) before  

income taxes and  
minority interest (88,000) 480,300 (183,800) (114,800) 93,700 

Total assets 2,716,400 6,019,500 322,700 120,300 9,178,900 
Capital expenditures – – 17,100 – 17,100 
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13. Retirement benefits: 

As stipulated by PRC regulations, the Corporation participates in defined contribution 
retirement plans for its employees in China, which are organized and administered by the 
municipal government. 

The Corporation is required to make annual contributions to the retirement plans, equivalent to 
20% of the basic salaries of its employees in China.  The Corporation has no other material 
obligation for the payment of retirement benefits beyond the annual contributions described 
above.  The Corporation's contributions for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 
were $34,800 and $44,700, respectively. 

14. Supplemental cash flow information: 

The Corporation paid $209,900 and $137,500 for interest during the years ended December 
31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.  During the year ended December 31, 2004, the Corporation 
paid income taxes of $4,100 (2003 - $17,400). 

Non-cash transactions: 

During the year ended December 31, 2003, a payable amount of $553,400, being prior years' 
excess dividends received by Hechi from GMC, was transferred to GGM.  The Corporation 
correspondingly recorded the same amount as a receivable from Hechi.  This has therefore 
been treated as non-cash operating activity in the consolidated statements of cash flows. 

During the year ended December 31, 2004, the Corporation issued various classes of Special 
Warrants as consideration for the acquisition of the shares of Biogan BVI (notes 1 and 11). 
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15. Change in non-cash operating working capital: 
 

  2004 2003 
 
Decrease (increase) in trade accounts receivable, net $ (117,700) $ 45,500  
Increase in inventories (14,200) (466,500) 
Decrease (increase) in prepayments to suppliers, net (1,657,800) 11,200 
Increase in other current assets (706,200) (49,800) 
Increase (decrease) in trade accounts payable 1,187,200 (94,000) 
Increase in amount due to a related party 32,100 – 
Increase (decrease) in accrued liabilities and other payables (275,500) 183,100 
Increase in amount due from a related party (231,300) (62,100) 
Increase in income taxes payable  516,700  27,800  
 
  $ (1,266,700) $ (404,800) 
 

16. Commitments and contingencies: 

(a) Commitments: 

(i) On August 5, 2004, the Corporation and Hechi a limited liability company formed under 
the laws of the PRC entered into a letter of intent (the "HMZ Tailings Letter of Intent") 
pursuant to which the Corporation has a six-month period to conduct a field 
investigation on the resources subject to the HMZ Tailings Letter of Intent.  The 
effective date of the agreement has been amended to January 28, 2005, thereby 
extending the period to conduct a field investigation on the resources to July 28, 2005.  
If the Corporation determines that the tailings would be economic, then a preliminary 
feasibility study will be prepared.  Upon a positive preliminary feasibility study being 
prepared, the Corporation will be obligated to prepare and fund a bankable feasibility 
study.  The Corporation and Hechi have agreed that their respective interests in the 
tailings will be negotiated after the completion of the preliminary feasibility study. 
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16. Commitments and contingencies (continued): 

(ii) On August 5, 2004, the Corporation and Guangxi Fengshan Jinpan Gold Mine 
Company Limited, a company formed under the laws of the PRC ("Jinpan") entered 
into a letter of intent pursuant to which the Corporation was granted a four-month 
period to conduct due diligence on the Jinya gold mine, a former gold producer.  The 
effective date of the agreement has been amended to January 28, 2005, thereby 
extending the period to conduct due diligence to May 28, 2005.  If the Corporation 
determines that the gold mine would be economic, the Corporation will be responsible 
for preparing a preliminary feasibility study and providing the funds to reopen the Jinya 
gold mine.  Upon satisfactory completion of due diligence by the Corporation, the Jinya 
gold mine will be transferred to GGM in exchange for 3,000,000 common shares of the 
Corporation. 

(iii)  On November 27, 2003, Biogan assigned its interest in the letter of intent (the "GMC 
Letter of Intent") dated December 25, 2002 between Biogan and Nandan County 
Nanxing Antimony (Group) Company Limited ("Nanxing") to the Corporation.  The 
Corporation, pursuant to the GMC Letter of Intent, would acquire the 20% interest of 
Nanxing in GMC for a purchase price of $4,000,000, of which $1,500,000 is required to 
be paid in cash and $2,500,000 is required to be paid in common shares of the 
Corporation.  The number of shares to be issued is equal to $2,500,000 divided by the 
market price of the Corporation's shares at the time of the transaction. 

(b) Lease commitments: 

The Corporation is committed to operating leases for business premises as follows: 

 
 
2005   $ 43,700 
2006  40,000 
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16. Commitments and contingencies (continued): 

(c) Contingent liabilities: 

(i) The Corporation has obtained an opinion from its legal counsel in the PRC which 
states that the contribution of the Hechi Assets was duly approved by and registered 
with all relevant authorities in the PRC in accordance with laws and regulations in 
effect at the time that such contributions were made and that the Hechi Assets are 
currently owned by GGM.  In accordance with the Amended and Restated Joint 
Venture Contract, Biogan BVI made its outstanding capital contribution of $7,300,000 
to GGM on April 11, 2005.  GGM is required to retain an accountant registered in the 
PRC to verify the contribution of the Hechi Assets and the capital contribution of Biogan 
BVI.  Under applicable PRC law, the foregoing verification report is required to be 
submitted to the applicable authorities in the PRC.   

(ii) The Amended and Restated Joint Venture Contract provides that the capital 
contribution of Biogan BVI to GGM (being $7,300,000 in cash and $200,000 in 
intellectual property and trademark rights (to be satisfied by the provision of know-how 
and ore processing technologies)) was required to be made by Biogan BVI before 
March 31, 2005 and, further, that if the capital contribution is not made before May 31, 
2005, Biogan BVI will be deemed to have withdrawn from GGM and Hechi will have the 
right to dissolve the joint venture.  In the case where the capital contribution is not 
made by Biogan BVI before March 31, 2005, the Amended and Restated Joint Venture 
Contract provides for a penalty equal to an interest rate charged on the overdue 
payment determined in accordance with the relevant stipulation promulgated by the 
PRC.  The capital contribution was made on April 11, 2005. 

(iii) The Corporation has been advised by legal counsel to Biogan and GGM (the 
"Counsel") that, except for liabilities constituting or arising out of or relating to the 
business assumed by the Corporation in the reorganization, no other liabilities were 
assumed by the Corporation and the Corporation is not jointly and severally liable for 
other debts and obligations incurred by Hechi prior to the reorganization. 
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16. Commitments and contingencies (continued): 

(iv) The Corporation has been made aware of a total of approximately RMB 47,388,000 as 
of January 14, 2005 ($5,725,000) owed by Hechi to various creditors of Hechi.  Under 
PRC law, these creditors may be able to enforce a claim against the Hechi Assets in 
connection with enforcing their rights as creditors.  In particular, Hechi has forwarded to 
the Corporation both the Dunning Demand Letters, which assert claims of the 
Agricultural Bank of China in the aggregate amount of approximately RMB 32,527,000 
($3,930,000) against Hechi, and the Overdue Notice, which asserts a claim by the 
China Bank of Industry and Commerce in the aggregate amount of approximately RMB 
11,761,000 ($1,421,000) against Hechi. 

As described in note 9(c), the Corporation has failed to repay the loan on its due date 
and is currently in default of the loan repayments.  Local management maintains that 
no interest will accrue nor will any penalties be assessed as the loan was interest-free 
according to the loan agreement. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Counsel has stated in its legal letter to the Corporation 
that according to the default payment clause of the loan agreement, the Corporation 
may be liable for double interest payment as of the date of breach of loan repayments.  
However, no additional liability for interest arising from the default payments has been 
recorded in the financial statements as the amount cannot be reasonably estimated. 

(d) Priority claim of PRC government: 

The Corporation's business and operating assets were originally purchased by the former 
employees of HPMC, who are individually and collectively responsible to pay the HPMC 
Payment of approximately RMB 126,000,000 ($15,200,000) within 15 years after the 
acquisition date of June 1998.  If the current outstanding balance of approximately 
RMB 44,135,000 ($5,300,000) as of January 14, 2005 is not paid by June 2013, the Hechi 
Prefecture Government has the right to repossess and reclaim the business sold and its 
operating assets. 

(e) Environmental remediation costs: 

To date, the Corporation has not incurred any significant expenditures for environmental 
remediation, is currently not involved in any environmental remediation, and has not 
accrued any amounts for environmental remediation relating to its operations.  Under 
existing legislation, management believes that there are no legal liabilities that will have a 
material adverse effect on the financial position or operating results of the Corporation. 
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16. Commitments and contingencies (continued): 

The Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants' ("CICA") Handbook Section 3110, Asset 
Retirement Obligations, provides for the recognition, measurement and disclosure of 
liabilities for asset retirement obligations and the associated asset retirement costs.  It 
addresses obligations required to be settled as a result of an existing law, regulation or 
contract related to asset retirements.  The new standard is applicable for fiscal years 
beginning with January 1, 2004.  At present, there is no legal requirement in the PRC 
related to environmental remediation and, as such, asset retirement obligations cannot be 
set up. 

The PRC government, however, has moved, and may move further, towards more rigorous 
definition and enforcement of applicable laws, and towards the adoption of more stringent 
environmental standards.  Environmental liabilities are subject to considerable 
uncertainties, which affect the Corporation's ability to estimate the ultimate cost of 
remediation efforts. 

These uncertainties include (i) the exact nature and extent of the contamination at various 
sites including, but not limited to refining plant, land development areas, whether operating, 
closed or sold, (ii) the extent of required cleanup efforts, (iii) the varying costs of alternative 
remediation strategies, (iv) the changes in environmental remediation requirements, and (v) 
the identification of new remediation sites.  The amount of such future cost is 
indeterminable due to such factors as the unknown magnitude of possible contamination 
and the unknown timing and extent of the corrective actions that may be required.  
Accordingly, the outcome of environmental liabilities under proposed or future 
environmental legislation cannot reasonably be estimated at present, and could be 
material. 

(f) Land use right: 

Without the final land use right certificates, the PRC government could legally repossess 
the two pieces of land that the Wuxu Mill currently operates on. 

The Wuxu Mill has not received the final land use right certificates from the Ministry of Land 
and Resource for two blocks of land with original costs amounting to RMB 877,300 
($106,000) as of December 31, 2004.  According to the agreements between the Wuxu Mill 
and Hechi City Wuxu People's Government, the Hechi City Wuxu People's Government will 
help the Wuxu Mill to obtain the land use right certificates after the Wuxu Mill pays the land 
transfer fees.  The Wuxu Mill paid the land transfer fees in 1994; however, the land use 
right certificates have not been issued as of December 31, 2004. 



HMZ METALS INC. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
(Expressed in U.S. dollars)  
 
Years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 
 

 

29 

17. Subsequent events: 

(a) On April 6, 2005, the Corporation completed an IPO and issued 38,843,750 units for total 
proceeds of $15,537,500, of which $15,000,000 represents the maximum offering and 
$537,500 represents a portion of the agents' option.  The agents' option, of which $537,500 
has already been exercised, allows the agent to acquire up to that number of units, at the 
Offering Price, that is equal to 15% of the maximum number of common shares sold under 
the IPO.  This option is exercisable at any time prior to the date that is no later than 30 
days after the closing of the IPO. 

On April 11, 2005, the Corporation made its final capital contribution of $7,300,000 required 
pursuant to the Amended and Restated Joint Venture Contract.  

(b) In February 2005, the Corporation borrowed Cdn. $125,000 ($100,000), of which a total of 
Cdn. $75,000 was contributed by a director and an officer of the Corporation, by way of 
promissory notes, bearing interest at the rate of 10% per annum with a minimum interest 
payable for three months.  As additional consideration to various lenders, the Corporation 
issued 93,750 bridge warrants, each entitling the holder to purchase one common share at 
a price of Cdn. $0.40 for a period of two years after the closing date of the IPO.  
Subsequent to year end, these notes were repaid. 

(c) In March 2005, the Corporation borrowed Cdn. $90,000 ($75,000), of which Cdn. $15,000 
was contributed by an officer of the Corporation by way of interest-free promissory notes.  
As consideration, the Corporation issued 67,500 warrants, each entitling the holder to 
purchase one common share at a price of Cdn. $0.40 for a period of two years after the 
closing date of the IPO.  Subsequent to year end, these notes were repaid. 

(d) On March 28, 2005, the Corporation implemented a share incentive plan (the "Plan"), 
consisting of a share purchase plan, a share option plan and a share bonus plan, which is 
administered by the directors of the Corporation.  The Plan provides that eligible persons 
thereunder include any director, employee (full-time or part-time), officer or consultant of 
the Corporation or any subsidiary thereof. 
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17. Subsequent events (continued): 

The share purchase plan entitles certain employees of the Corporation to contribute up to 
10% of their annual base salary to purchase common shares.  The Corporation matches 
each participant's contribution.  636,000 shares have been reserved for issue under the 
share purchase plan.  Pursuant to the share option plan, the directors have the authority to 
grant options, options must be exercised no later than 10 years after the date of the grant 
and are subject to vesting provisions unless the directors of the Corporation determine 
otherwise.  Options granted are exercisable in whole or in part, at any time, from the date 
of grant of such options.  The number of shares issuable under the stock option plan is a 
rolling maximum of 10% of shares issued and outstanding (calculated on a non-diluted 
basis) from time to time.  On March 28, 2005, the Corporation issued 6,900,000 options 
under the share option plan.  The options are exercisable at Cdn. $0.40 per share. 

The share bonus plan permits common shares to be issued as a discretionary bonus to 
any director, employee (full-time or part-time), officer or consultant of the Corporation or 
any subsidiary thereof who is designated under the share bonus plan from time to time.  
691,971 shares have been reserved for issuance under the share bonus plan. 
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HMZ METALS INC. 
Notes to the September 30, 2007 Financial Statements 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 
 
1. Basis of presentation: 
 
These unaudited interim financial statements of HMZ Metals Inc. (the “Company”) for the nine months 
ended September 30, 2007 and 2006 have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles (“Canadian GAAP”), except that certain disclosures required for annual financial 
statements have not been included.   
 
Significant Accounting Policies 
 
Change in reporting currency 
 
Effective January 1, 2005, the Company changed its reporting currency to the Canadian dollar. As a 
majority of the Company’s transactions are in Canadian dollars the change is to better reflect the 
Company’s business and to improve investors’ abilities to compare results with other publicly traded 
businesses in the mining industry. Prior to January 1, 2005, the Company reported its financial statements 
in United States dollars. The related financial statements and corresponding notes prior to January 1, 2005 
have been restated to the Canadian dollar for comparison to the 2005 financial results. In making this 
change, the Company has followed recommendations of the Emerging Issues Committee of the Canadian 
Institute of Chartered Accountants, set out in EIC-130, “Translation Method When The Reporting 
Currency Differs From The Measurement Currency or There is a Change in The Reporting Currency”. 
These guidelines require that the financial statements be translated into the reporting currency using the 
current rate method. Under this method, the statement of operations and cash flow items for each year are 
translated into the reporting currency using the average rate in effect for the period, and assets and 
liabilities are translated using the exchange rate at the period end. All resulting exchange differences are 
reported as a separate component of shareholders’ equity titled “Cumulative Translation Adjustment”. 
 
Going concern 
 
These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis in accordance with Canadian 
GAAP. The going concern basis of presentation assumes that the Corporation will continue in operation 
for the foreseeable future and be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities and commitments in 
the normal course of business. The Corporation has accumulated losses amounting to $24,126,936 that 
raise substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern. These financial statements do not 
reflect adjustments that would be necessary if the going concern assumption was not appropriate. If the 
going concern basis was not appropriate for these financial statements, then adjustments would be 
necessary in the carrying value of assets and liabilities, the reported revenue and expenses and the balance 
sheet classifications used. 
 
Measurement uncertainty 
 
The preparation of financial statements, in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting 
principles, requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial  
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HMZ METALS INC. 
Notes to the September 30, 2007 Financial Statements (continued) 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 
statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results 
could differ from those reported. 
 
 
Significant estimates and assumptions in the preparation of these financial statements include, but are not 
limited to the carrying value of investments, stock-based compensation, and other equity instrument 
valuations. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
The consolidated quarterly 2005 comparative financial statements have not been restated to reflect the 
write down from the loss of control of the joint venture interest during the fourth quarter of 2005 or the 
change to Canadian dollar reporting from US dollar as Management concluded that a restatement would 
not provide meaningful comparative information. See the audited financial statements ended December 
31, 2006, note 3. 
 
Accordingly, these interim financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited 
consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2006, except as noted below. The 
interim unaudited consolidated financials statements include all adjustments that are, in the opinion of 
management, necessary for fair presentation. These unaudited interim consolidated financial statements 
have not been reviewed by the Company’s auditors.  
 
The unaudited interim financial statements have been prepared on a basis that is consistent with the 
policies set out in the Company’s consolidated annual financial statements for the year ended December 
31, 2006, except as noted below.  The results of operations and cash flow for the current periods are not 
necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full year.  
 
Share Incentive Plan  
 
On March 28, 2005 the Company implemented a share incentive plan (the “Plan”), consisting of a share 
purchase plan, a share option plan and a share bonus plan, which is administered by the board of directors. 
The Plan provides that eligible persons there under include any director, employee (full time or part-time), 
officer or consultant of the Company or any subsidiary thereof.   
 
The Company accounts for stock-based compensation using the fair value method. Under this method the 
Company records the fair value of the stock-based compensation granted over the vesting period as an 
expense. The offset for these expenses is recorded in contributed surplus until the options are exercised. 
 
2. Related party transactions and balances: 
 
Material transactions with related parties are summarized as follows: 
 
A company controlled by the Chief Executive Officer charged the Company an administrative fee 
amounting to $90,000 for the period ended September 30, 2007 and for comparative purposes the amount 
charged for the same reporting period during 2006 was $90,930.  The Chief Financial Officer charged the 
Company an administrative fee amounting to $72,000 for the period ended September 30, 2007 and for 
comparative purposes the amount charged for the same reporting period during 2006 was $66,000. A 
company controlled by the Secretary charged the Company an administrative fee amounting to $15,000 
for the period ended September 30, 2007 and for comparative purposes the amount charged for the same 
reporting period during 2006 was $15,000. 
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HMZ METALS INC. 
Notes to the September 30, 2007 Financial Statements (continued) 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 
3. Capital stock and Options: 
 
Authorized:  Unlimited common shares with no par value 
 
Issued and outstanding: 
 
As of September 30, 2007 total Common Shares issued totaled 98,697,074 and Options Outstanding of 
1,925,000 with an exercise price of $0.40 expiring March 27, 2010.  For complete details see note 8 of the 
December 31, 2006 Audited Financial Statements. 
 
(a) Share and warrant issue costs: 
 
The Corporation has incurred $nil during the three month period ended September 30, 2007.  
 
(b) Share Incentive Plan: 
 
Share Option Plan: 
 
Pursuant to the share option plan, the directors have the authority to grant options to any director, 
employee (full-time or part-time), officer or consultant of the Corporation or any subsidiary thereof. 
Options must be exercised no later than 10 years after the date of the grant, or such earlier period as 
determined by the directors at the time of the grant and are subject to vesting provisions unless the 
directors of the Corporation determine otherwise. Options granted are exercisable in whole or in part, at 
any time, from the date of grant of such options. The number of shares issuable under the stock option 
plan is a rolling maximum of 10% of shares issued and outstanding (calculated on a non-diluted basis) 
from time to time. 
 
(c) Share Purchase Plan: 
 
The share purchase plan entitles certain employees of the Corporation to contribute up to 10% of their 
annual base salary to purchase common shares. The Corporation matches each participant's contribution. 
At September 30, 2007, 636,000 shares have been reserved for issue under the share purchase plan.  At 
September 30, 2007, no shares had been issued under this plan. 
 
(d) Share Bonus Plan: 
 
The share bonus plan permits common shares to be issued as a discretionary bonus to any director, 
employee (full-time or part-time), officer or consultant of the Corporation or any subsidiary thereof who 
is designated under the share bonus plan from time to time.  At September 30, 2007, 691,971 shares have 
been reserved for issuance under the share bonus plan. At September, 2007, no shares had been issued 
under this plan. 
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Notes to the September 30, 2007 Financial Statements (continued) 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 
4. Changes in non-cash Operating Working Capital as at September 30, 2007. 
 
 

  2007 2006 
(Increase) Decrease in prepaid deposits & taxes 
recovery (10,968) 107,181 

(Decrease) Increase in trade accounts payable 77,255 422,153 

 
 
 
 
 
 
5. Loss per share: 
 
Net loss per share is calculated using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during 
the period.  No effect has been given to the potential exercise of stock options in the calculation of fully 
diluted loss per share as the effect would be anti-dilutive. 
 
6. Income taxes: 
 
At September 30, 2007, the Corporation has available certain non-capital losses of approximately 
$5,314,000 which can be applied against taxable incomes of future years expiring in various years, up to 
and including 2026 and capital losses of $14,600,000 which are available indefinitely against capital 
gains. As a result of the uncertainty that these losses will be utilized, the company has not recognized the 
benefit in the accounts. 
 
7. Commitments and Contingencies: 
 
Commitments 
 
The Company leases office facilities at $10,400 per month expiring November 30, 2012. It is anticipated 
that half the amount payable under the lease will be offset by sub-tenancy agreement(s).  
 
Contingencies 
 
The Company has received notice of a potential claim by its former CEO in the amount of approximately 
$500,000 relating to his ceasing to be an officer and director of HMZ. The Company will vigorously 
defend any action commenced by the former director and officer. 
 
8. Subsequent events: 
 
During 2007, the Corporation raised gross proceeds of $675,000 under two private placements for the 
issuance of 13,500,000 common shares and  7,754,500  share purchase warrants each exercisable at 
prices ranging from $0.05 to $0.15 for a period of 2 years.  In addition, the Corporation raised gross 
proceeds of $105,000 under a private placement for the issuance of 5,600,000 common shares, 
5,600,000 share purchase warrants each exercisable at a price of $0.025 for a period of 2 years, and a 
discounted note payable of $315,000.  The note payable has a term of 2 years, bears interest at 14% 
payable on maturity, is redeemable by the Corporation, and has a maturity value of $420,000.  The 
Corporation also received loans of $27,000 which has been repaid. 
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HMZ METALS INC. 
Notes to the September 30, 2007 Financial Statements (continued) 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 
During 2008, the Corporation issued 4,000,000 common shares at a deemed price of $0.015 per common 
share in lieu of cash. Additionally, the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) de-listed the common shares of 
HMZ Metals Inc. at the close of business on January 18, 2008 for failure to meet continued listing 
requirements of the TSX. Effective the same date, the Company received conditional approval to list its 
common shares on the CNQ Stock Exchange. Trading of the Company’s common shares is subject to the 
prior filing of outstanding interim financial statements and audited annual financial statements, any cease 
trade order or default of a securities commission requirement must be remedied and completion of all 
CNQ Listing Documentation and payment of the Listing Fee. CNQ also reserves the right to amend or 
waive any of the above conditions prior to final approval. 
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HMZ METALS INC. 
Notes to the June 30, 2007 Financial Statements 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 
 
1. Basis of presentation: 
 
These unaudited interim financial statements of HMZ Metals Inc. (the “Company”) for the six months 
ended June 30, 2007 and 2006 have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles (“Canadian GAAP”), except that certain disclosures required for annual financial 
statements have not been included.   
 
Significant Accounting Policies 
 
Change in reporting currency 
 
Effective January 1, 2005, the Company changed its reporting currency to the Canadian dollar. As a 
majority of the Company’s transactions are in Canadian dollars the change is to better reflect the 
Company’s business and to improve investors’ abilities to compare results with other publicly traded 
businesses in the mining industry. Prior to January 1, 2005, the Company reported its financial statements 
in United States dollars. The related financial statements and corresponding notes prior to January 1, 2005 
have been restated to the Canadian dollar for comparison to the 2005 financial results. In making this 
change, the Company has followed recommendations of the Emerging Issues Committee of the Canadian 
Institute of Chartered Accountants, set out in EIC-130, “Translation Method When The Reporting 
Currency Differs From The Measurement Currency or There is a Change in The Reporting Currency”. 
These guidelines require that the financial statements be translated into the reporting currency using the 
current rate method. Under this method, the statement of operations and cash flow items for each year are 
translated into the reporting currency using the average rate in effect for the period, and assets and 
liabilities are translated using the exchange rate at the period end. All resulting exchange differences are 
reported as a separate component of shareholders’ equity titled “Cumulative Translation Adjustment”. 
 
Going concern 
 
These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis in accordance with Canadian 
GAAP. The going concern basis of presentation assumes that the Corporation will continue in operation 
for the foreseeable future and be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities and commitments in 
the normal course of business. The Corporation has accumulated losses amounting to $23,801,813 that 
raise substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern. These financial statements do not 
reflect adjustments that would be necessary if the going concern assumption was not appropriate. If the 
going concern basis was not appropriate for these financial statements, then adjustments would be 
necessary in the carrying value of assets and liabilities, the reported revenue and expenses and the balance 
sheet classifications used. 
 
Measurement uncertainty 
 
The preparation of financial statements, in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting 
principles, requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial  
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HMZ METALS INC. 
Notes to the June 30, 2007 Financial Statements (continued) 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 
statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results 
could differ from those reported. 
 
Significant estimates and assumptions in the preparation of these financial statements include, but are not 
limited to the carrying value of investments, stock-based compensation, and other equity instrument 
valuations. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
The consolidated quarterly 2005 comparative financial statements have not been restated to reflect the 
write down from the loss of control of the joint venture interest during the fourth quarter of 2005 or the 
change to Canadian dollar reporting from US dollar as Management concluded that a restatement would 
not provide meaningful comparative information. See the audited financial statements ended December 
31, 2006, note 3. 
 
Accordingly, these interim financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited 
consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2006, except as noted below. The 
interim unaudited consolidated financials statements include all adjustments that are, in the opinion of 
management, necessary for fair presentation. These unaudited interim consolidated financial statements 
have not been reviewed by the Company’s auditors.  
 
The unaudited interim financial statements have been prepared on a basis that is consistent with the 
policies set out in the Company’s consolidated annual financial statements for the year ended December 
31, 2006, except as noted below.  The results of operations and cash flow for the current periods are not 
necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full year.  
 
Share Incentive Plan  
 
On March 28, 2005 the Company implemented a share incentive plan (the “Plan”), consisting of a share 
purchase plan, a share option plan and a share bonus plan, which is administered by the board of directors. 
The Plan provides that eligible persons there under include any director, employee (full time or part-time), 
officer or consultant of the Company or any subsidiary thereof.   
 
The Company accounts for stock-based compensation using the fair value method. Under this method the 
Company records the fair value of the stock-based compensation granted over the vesting period as an 
expense. The offset for these expenses is recorded in contributed surplus until the options are exercised. 
 
2. Related party transactions and balances: 
 
Material transactions with related parties are summarized as follows: 
 
A company controlled by the Chief Executive Officer charged the Company an administrative fee 
amounting to $67,500 for the period ended June 30, 2007 and for comparative purposes the amount 
charged for the same reporting period during 2006 was $21,686.  The Chief Financial Officer charged the 
Company an administrative fee amounting to $54,000 for the period ended June 30, 2007 and for 
comparative purposes the amount charged for the same reporting period during 2006 was $36,000. A 
company controlled by the Secretary charged the Company an administrative fee amounting to $15,000 
for the period ended June 30, 2007 and for comparative purposes the amount charged for the same 
reporting period during 2006 was $15,000. 
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HMZ METALS INC. 
Notes to the June 30, 2007 Financial Statements (continued) 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 
3. Capital stock and Options: 
 
Authorized:  Unlimited common shares with no par value 
 
Issued and outstanding: 
 
As of June 30, 2007 total Common Shares issued totaled 98,697,074 and Options Outstanding of 
1,925,000 with an exercise price of $0.40 expiring March 27, 2010.  For complete details see note 8 of the 
December 31, 2006 Audited Financial Statements. 
 
(a) Share and warrant issue costs: 
 
The Corporation has incurred $nil during the three month period ended June 30, 2007.  
 
(b) Share Incentive Plan: 
 
Share Option Plan: 
 
Pursuant to the share option plan, the directors have the authority to grant options to any director, 
employee (full-time or part-time), officer or consultant of the Corporation or any subsidiary thereof. 
Options must be exercised no later than 10 years after the date of the grant, or such earlier period as 
determined by the directors at the time of the grant and are subject to vesting provisions unless the 
directors of the Corporation determine otherwise. Options granted are exercisable in whole or in part, at 
any time, from the date of grant of such options. The number of shares issuable under the stock option 
plan is a rolling maximum of 10% of shares issued and outstanding (calculated on a non-diluted basis) 
from time to time. 
 
(c) Share Purchase Plan: 
 
The share purchase plan entitles certain employees of the Corporation to contribute up to 10% of their 
annual base salary to purchase common shares. The Corporation matches each participant's contribution. 
At June 30, 2007, 636,000 shares have been reserved for issue under the share purchase plan.  At June 30, 
2007, no shares had been issued under this plan. 
 
 
(d) Share Bonus Plan: 
 
The share bonus plan permits common shares to be issued as a discretionary bonus to any director, 
employee (full-time or part-time), officer or consultant of the Corporation or any subsidiary thereof who 
is designated under the share bonus plan from time to time.  At June 30, 2007, 691,971 shares have been 
reserved for issuance under the share bonus plan. At June 30, 2007, no shares had been issued under this 
plan. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



HMZ METALS INC. 
Notes to the June 30, 2007 Financial Statements (continued) 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 
4. Changes in non-cash Operating Working Capital as at June 30, 2007. 
 
 

  2007 2006 
(Increase) Decrease in prepaid deposits & taxes 
recovery (10,358) 107,181 

(Decrease) Increase in trade accounts payable 78,804 422,153 

 
 
 
 
 
 
5. Loss per share: 
 
Net loss per share is calculated using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during 
the period.  No effect has been given to the potential exercise of stock options in the calculation of fully 
diluted loss per share as the effect would be anti-dilutive. 
 
6. Income taxes: 
 
At June 30, 2007, the Corporation has available certain non-capital losses of approximately $5,314,000 
which can be applied against taxable incomes of future years expiring in various years, up to and 
including 2026 and capital losses of $14,600,000 which are available indefinitely against capital gains. As 
a result of the uncertainty that these losses will be utilized, the company has not recognized the benefit in 
the accounts. 
 
7. Commitments and Contingencies: 
 
Commitments 
 
The Company leases office facilities at $10,400 per month expiring November 30, 2012. It is anticipated 
that half the amount payable under the lease will be offset by sub-tenancy agreement(s).  
 
Contingencies 
 
The Company has received notice of a potential claim by its former CEO in the amount of approximately 
$500,000 relating to his ceasing to be an officer and director of HMZ. The Company will vigorously 
defend any action commenced by the former director and officer. 
 
8. Subsequent events: 
 
During 2007, the Corporation raised gross proceeds of $675,000 under two private placements for the 
issuance of 13,500,000 common shares and  7,754,500  share purchase warrants each exercisable at 
prices ranging from $0.05 to $0.15 for a period of 2 years.  In addition, the Corporation raised gross 
proceeds of $105,000 under a private placement for the issuance of 5,600,000 common shares, 
5,600,000 share purchase warrants each exercisable at a price of $0.025 for a period of 2 years, and a 
discounted note payable of $315,000.  The note payable has a term of 2 years, bears interest at 14% 
payable on maturity, is redeemable by the Corporation, and has a maturity value of $420,000.  The 
Corporation also received loans of $27,000 which has been repaid. 
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HMZ METALS INC. 
Notes to the June 30, 2007 Financial Statements (continued) 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 
During 2008, the Corporation issued 4 million common shares at a deemed price of $0.015 per common 
share in lieu of cash.  Additionally, the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) de-listed the common shares of 
HMZ Metals Inc. at the close of business on January 18, 2008 for failure to meet continued listing 
requirements of the TSX. Effective the same date, the Company received conditional approval to list its 
common shares on the CNQ Stock Exchange. Trading of the Company’s common shares is subject to the 
prior filing of outstanding interim financial statements and audited annual financial statements, any cease 
trade order or default of a securities commission requirement must be remedied and completion of all 
CNQ Listing Documentation and payment of the Listing Fee. CNQ also reserves the right to amend or 
waive any of the above conditions prior to final approval. 
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HMZ METALS INC. 
Notes to the March 31, 2007 Financial Statements 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 
 
1. Basis of presentation: 
 
These unaudited interim financial statements of HMZ Metals Inc. (the “Company”) for the three months 
ended March 31, 2007 and 2006 have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles (“Canadian GAAP”), except that certain disclosures required for annual financial 
statements have not been included.   
 
Significant Accounting Policies 
 
Change in reporting currency 
 
Effective January 1, 2005, the Company changed its reporting currency to the Canadian dollar. As a 
majority of the Company’s transactions are in Canadian dollars the change is to better reflect the 
Company’s business and to improve investors’ abilities to compare results with other publicly traded 
businesses in the mining industry. Prior to January 1, 2005, the Company reported its financial statements 
in United States dollars. The related financial statements and corresponding notes prior to January 1, 2005 
have been restated to the Canadian dollar for comparison to the 2005 financial results. In making this 
change, the Company has followed recommendations of the Emerging Issues Committee of the Canadian 
Institute of Chartered Accountants, set out in EIC-130, “Translation Method When The Reporting 
Currency Differs From The Measurement Currency or There is a Change in The Reporting Currency”. 
These guidelines require that the financial statements be translated into the reporting currency using the 
current rate method. Under this method, the statement of operations and cash flow items for each year are 
translated into the reporting currency using the average rate in effect for the period, and assets and 
liabilities are translated using the exchange rate at the period end. All resulting exchange differences are 
reported as a separate component of shareholders’ equity titled “Cumulative Translation Adjustment”. 
 
Going concern 
 
These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis in accordance with Canadian 
GAAP. The going concern basis of presentation assumes that the Corporation will continue in operation 
for the foreseeable future and be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities and commitments in 
the normal course of business. The Corporation has accumulated losses amounting to $23,553,040 that 
raise substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern. These financial statements do not 
reflect adjustments that would be necessary if the going concern assumption was not appropriate. If the 
going concern basis was not appropriate for these financial statements, then adjustments would be 
necessary in the carrying value of assets and liabilities, the reported revenue and expenses and the balance 
sheet classifications used. 
 
Measurement uncertainty 
 
The preparation of financial statements, in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting 
principles, requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial  
 
 
 
 
 



 
- 5 -

 
 
HMZ METALS INC. 
Notes to the March 31, 2007 Financial Statements (continued) 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 
statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results 
could differ from those reported. 
 
Significant estimates and assumptions in the preparation of these financial statements include, but are not 
limited to the carrying value of investments, stock-based compensation, and other equity instrument 
valuations. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
The consolidated quarterly 2005 comparative financial statements have not been restated to reflect the 
write down from the loss of control of the joint venture interest during the fourth quarter of 2005 or the 
change to Canadian dollar reporting from US dollar as Management concluded that a restatement would 
not provide meaningful comparative information. See the audited financial statements ended December 
31, 2006, note 3. 
 
Accordingly, these interim financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited 
consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2006, except as noted below. The 
interim unaudited consolidated financials statements include all adjustments that are, in the opinion of 
management, necessary for fair presentation. These unaudited interim consolidated financial statements 
have not been reviewed by the Company’s auditors.  
 
The unaudited interim financial statements have been prepared on a basis that is consistent with the 
policies set out in the Company’s consolidated annual financial statements for the year ended December 
31, 2006, except as noted below.  The results of operations and cash flow for the current periods are not 
necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full year.  
 
Share Incentive Plan  
 
On March 28, 2005 the Company implemented a share incentive plan (the “Plan”), consisting of a share 
purchase plan, a share option plan and a share bonus plan, which is administered by the board of directors. 
The Plan provides that eligible persons there under include any director, employee (full time or part-time), 
officer or consultant of the Company or any subsidiary thereof.   
 
The Company accounts for stock-based compensation using the fair value method. Under this method the 
Company records the fair value of the stock-based compensation granted over the vesting period as an 
expense. The offset for these expenses is recorded in contributed surplus until the options are exercised. 
 
2. Related party transactions and balances: 
 
Material transactions with related parties are summarized as follows: 
 
A company controlled by the Chief Executive Officer charged the Company an administrative fee 
amounting to $67,500 for the period ended March 31, 2007 and for comparative purposes the amount 
charged for the same reporting period during 2006 was $nil.  The Chief Financial Officer charged the 
Company an administrative fee amounting to $54,500 for the period ended March 31, 2007 and for 
comparative purposes the amount charged for the same reporting period during 2006 was $nil. A 
company controlled by the Secretary charged the Company an administrative fee amounting to $15,000 
for the period ended March 31, 2007 and for comparative purposes the amount charged for the same 
reporting period during 2006 was $30,000. 
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HMZ METALS INC. 
Notes to the March 31, 2007 Financial Statements (continued) 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 
3. Capital stock and Options: 
 
Authorized:  Unlimited common shares with no par value 
 
Issued and outstanding: 
 
As of March 31, 2007 total Common Shares issued totaled 98,697,074 and Options Outstanding of 
1,925,000 with an exercise price of $0.40 expiring March 27, 2010.  For complete details see note 8 of the 
December 31, 2006 Audited Financial Statements. 
 
(a) Share and warrant issue costs: 
 
The Corporation has incurred $nil during the three month period ended March 31, 2007.  
 
(b) Share Incentive Plan: 
 
Share Option Plan: 
 
Pursuant to the share option plan, the directors have the authority to grant options to any director, 
employee (full-time or part-time), officer or consultant of the Corporation or any subsidiary thereof. 
Options must be exercised no later than 10 years after the date of the grant, or such earlier period as 
determined by the directors at the time of the grant and are subject to vesting provisions unless the 
directors of the Corporation determine otherwise. Options granted are exercisable in whole or in part, at 
any time, from the date of grant of such options. The number of shares issuable under the stock option 
plan is a rolling maximum of 10% of shares issued and outstanding (calculated on a non-diluted basis) 
from time to time. 
 
(c) Share Purchase Plan: 
 
The share purchase plan entitles certain employees of the Corporation to contribute up to 10% of their 
annual base salary to purchase common shares. The Corporation matches each participant's contribution. 
At March 31, 2007, 636,000 shares have been reserved for issue under the share purchase plan.  At March 
31, 2007, no shares had been issued under this plan. 
 
 
(d) Share Bonus Plan: 
 
The share bonus plan permits common shares to be issued as a discretionary bonus to any director, 
employee (full-time or part-time), officer or consultant of the Corporation or any subsidiary thereof who 
is designated under the share bonus plan from time to time.  At March 31, 2007, 691,971 shares have been 
reserved for issuance under the share bonus plan. At March 31, 2007, no shares had been issued under this 
plan. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



HMZ METALS INC. 
Notes to the March 31, 2007 Financial Statements (continued) 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 
4. Changes in non-cash Operating Working Capital as at March 31, 2007. 
 
 

  2007 2006 
(Increase) Decrease in prepaid deposits & taxes 
recovery (30,502) 107,181 

(Decrease) Increase in trade accounts payable 87,524 422,153 

 
 
 
 
 
 
5. Loss per share: 
 
Net loss per share is calculated using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during 
the period.  No effect has been given to the potential exercise of stock options in the calculation of fully 
diluted loss per share as the effect would be anti-dilutive. 
 
6. Income taxes: 
 
At March 31, 2007, the Corporation has available certain non-capital losses of approximately $5,314,000 
which can be applied against taxable incomes of future years expiring in various years, up to and 
including 2026 and capital losses of $14,600,000 which are available indefinitely against capital gains. As 
a result of the uncertainty that these losses will be utilized, the company has not recognized the benefit in 
the accounts. 
 
7. Commitments and Contingencies: 
 
Commitments 
 
The Company leases office facilities at $10,400 per month expiring November 30, 2012. It is anticipated 
that half the amount payable under the lease will be offset by sub-tenancy agreement(s).  
 
Contingencies 
 
The Company has received notice of a potential claim by its former CEO in the amount of approximately 
$500,000 relating to his ceasing to be an officer and director of HMZ. The Company will vigorously 
defend any action commenced by the former director and officer. 
 
8. Subsequent events: 
 
During 2007, the Corporation raised gross proceeds of $675,000 under two private placements for the 
issuance of 13,500,000 common shares and  7,754,500  share purchase warrants each exercisable at 
prices ranging from $0.05 to $0.15 for a period of 2 years.  In addition, the Corporation raised gross 
proceeds of $105,000 under a private placement for the issuance of 5,600,000 common shares, 
5,600,000 share purchase warrants each exercisable at a price of $0.025 for a period of 2 years, and a 
discounted note payable of $315,000.  The note payable has a term of 2 years, bears interest at 14% 
payable on maturity, is redeemable by the Corporation, and has a maturity value of $420,000.  The 
Corporation also received loans of $27,000 which has been repaid. 
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HMZ METALS INC. 
Notes to the March 31, 2007 Financial Statements (continued) 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 
During 2008, the Corporation issued 4 million common shares at a deemed price of $ 0.015 per common 
share in lieu of cash.  Additionally, the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) de-listed the common shares of 
HMZ Metals Inc. at the close of business on January 18, 2008 for failure to meet continued listing 
requirements of the TSX. Effective the same date, the Company received conditional approval to list its 
common shares on the CNQ Stock Exchange. Trading of the Company’s common shares is subject to the 
prior filing of outstanding interim financial statements and audited annual financial statements, any cease 
trade order or default of a securities commission requirement must be remedied and completion of all 
CNQ Listing Documentation and payment of the Listing Fee. CNQ also reserves the right to amend or 
waive any of the above conditions prior to final approval. 
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